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Key Figures
IFRS

 2009/10  2008/09 2007/08

(if not otherwise stated, all figures in EUR 1,000)

before non-
recurring 

items1)

after non-
recurring 

items1)

before non-
recurring 

items2)

after non-
recurring 

items2)

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Revenues 372,184 449,881 485,744

  thereof produced in Asia 67,1% 61,0% 52,8%

  thereof produced in Europe 32,9% 39,0% 47,2%

EBITDA 54,082 34,480 70,778 52,377 79,809

   EBITDA margin 14,5% 9,3% 15,7% 11,6% 16,4%

EBIT 10,971 (25,562) 26,582 (1,060) 42,115

   EBIT margin 2,9% (6,9%) 5,9% (0,2%) 8,7%

Net income (1,084) (37,617) 24,755 (5,787) 41,290

   ROS (0,3%) (10,1%) 5,5% (1,3%) 8,5%

Shareholders' interest in net income (739) (37,271) 25,166 (5,376) 42,691

Cash earnings 42,372 22,771 69,362 48,060 80,386

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Total assets 483,390 536,815 495,600

Equity 208,793 252,734 226,291

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company 208,304 252,240 225,761

Net debt 147,985 174,379 139,900

   Net gearing 70,9% 69,1% 62,0%

Net working capital 71,906 99,424 82,657

   Net working capital per revenues 19,3% 22,1% 17,0%

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Net cash generated from operating activities (OCF) 47,003 38,733 61,828

CAPEX, net 19,505 58,802 102,882

GENERAL INFORMATION

Payroll (incl. leased personnel), ultimo 5,875 5,610 6,417

Payroll (incl. leased personnel), average 5,616 6,319 6,273

KEY STOCK FIGURES

Earnings per share (EUR) (0.03) (1.60) 1.08 (0.23) 1.83

Cash earnings per share (EUR) 1.82 0.98 2.97 2.06 3.44

Dividend per share (EUR)3)  0.1  0.18  0.34 

   Dividend yield (year end close)3) 1.2% 6.1% 3.3%

Market capitalisation, ultimo  192,411  68,802  239,989 

   Market capitalisation per equity 92.2% 27.2% 106.1%

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 23,322,588 23,322,588 23,384,651

KEY FINANCIAL FIGURES

ROE4) (0.5%) (16.3%) 10.5% (2.3%) 19.1%

ROCE   1.9% (7.5%) 5.5% (1.7%) 10.4%

Equity ratio 43.2% 47.0% 45.6%

1) Non-recurring items particularly cover restructuring at Leoben-Hinterberg plant.
2) Non-recurring items particularly cover restructuring at Leoben-Hinterberg plant and writedowns at AT&S Korea.
3) Proposal for the Annual General Meeting on 7 July 2010
4) Calculation upon average equity
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�� Europe’s�leading�printed�circuit�board�producer�

�� India’s�leading�printed�circuit�board�producer

�� China’s�largest�HDI�printed�circuit�board�plant

�� Significantly�outperforming�the�market�since�1999

�� A�unique�customer�portfolio

�� The�leader�in�technology�
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Highlights 2009/10
AT&S – technology leader in
the printed circuit board
industry AT&S brought a series of 

promising new technologies to
market in the financial year
2009/10. AT&S has already 
scored impressive successes 
with innovative technologies,
including integration of elec-
tronic components inside 
printed circuit boards. Loo-
king forward, the development
pipeline is well stocked for the
next few years. 

Focus on high-end segment of mobiledevices market bearing fruit  AT&S’s Mobile Devices business accountsfor about 60% of sales revenues. Its focuson high-tech solutions puts it securely on track for further growth. In these markets volume growth is expected to remain high,while the segment will continue to experi-ence extremely rapid technological develop-ment. The decision to focus on this end ofthe market was taken in light of AT&S’sstructure and positioning, its wealth of experience in developing and industrialis-ing innovative and complex technologies,and the potential the high-tech segmentoffers for differentiation from AT&S’scompetitors. 

AT&S shrinks cost base significantly 
Restructuring at Leoben-Hinterberg plant 
and other cost reduction measures subs-
tantially reduced the Group’s cost base. 
This and the intensification of sales activi-
ties helped profitability make an impressi-
ve recovery following a first quarter of 
heavy losses. Signs of improvement began 
to emerge in the second quarter, when the 
Group again recorded positive results. The 
second half of 2009/10 was among the most 
profitable in AT&S’s history. 

Andreas Gerstenmayer succeeds Harald Sommerer as CEO 
Andreas Gerstenmayer, born 18 February 1965, was appointed Chairman of the 
AT&S Management Board on 1 February 2010. He succeeds Harald Sommerer who 
left AT&S after more than 12 years with the Group. 

Restructuring and new strategic alignment of

Leoben-Hinterberg plant a success 

AT&S has migrated all of its volume production 

from its Austrian plant in Leoben-Hinterberg to

Asia, reducing the number of staff by around 200 in

the process. At the same time the Austrian plant was

realigned to better meet the requirements of its 

European customers. This highly successful move 

more than doubled the plant’s European sales in a

market that had halved in size. 

Highlights 2009/10
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AT&S at a Glance 
AT&S is by far the largest producer of printed 
circuit boards (PCBs) in Europe and India, and 
also ranks among the top suppliers worldwide. 
The AT&S Group employs more than 5,500 peo-
ple. Founded in 1987, it is based in Leoben, Aus-
tria. The Group was listed on the stock exchange 
in 1999 following a management buy-out in 1994. 
Its financial year runs from 1 April to 31 March. 

Printed circuit boards 
Printed circuit boards are the nerve centres of 
many electronic devices, as they wire active and 
passive components. There are many varieties of 
PCBs, at a range of prices and to match differing 
technological requirements: single-sided, double-
sided, multilayer, HDI (high density interconnec-
tion – multilayer PCBs with ultra-fine structures), 
flexible, rigid-flex, and semi-flexible. 

Printed circuit board technologies have made ex-
tremely rapid progress in recent years. Mobile 
phones are an illustration of how fast things are 
moving. Handsets a decade ago were twice as large 
on average as they are today, and were only intend-
ed for telephoning. Modern phones are multimedia 
devices complete with GPS, camera and television 
functions. The trend towards miniaturisation and 
ever more complex components is central to the 
technical challenges facing PCB manufacturers 
today. 

AT&S’s place in the supply chain 
Our core business is manufacturing printed circuit 
boards tailored to customer specifications. In or-
der to offer its customers a wider range of products 
and services while at the same time strengthen-
ing its market position, AT&S also offers design 
services. Currently under development, AT&S’s 
embedding technology will in future put the Group 
in a position to offer assembly and chip packag-
ing services. 

The printed circuit board market 
Global PCB sales in 2009 amounted to some  
USD 41 billion (bn). Asia accounted for about 60% of 
the total, Japan for 17%, America for 14% and Eu-
rope for 9%. The world market is forecast to grow 
to USD 53bn by 2014. Asia will be the undisputed 
growth driver, while demand is expected to in-
crease only slightly in Europe, Japan and the USA. 

AT&S and the competition 
The printed circuit board market is highly frag-
mented. There are currently around 2,000 manu-
facturers worldwide, with around 290 in Europe. 
In 1997 AT&S was the third-largest manufacturer 
in Europe, and by 2000 it was already the largest. 
Since then we have so far extended our lead that 
we are now larger than our closest four competi-
tors put together. The trend towards market con-
solidation has been unmistakable for years, and it 
gathered momentum as the economic crisis took 
hold. Well-positioned companies such as AT&S 
have benefited. 

AT&S was quick to recognise that mass production 
would migrate to Asia from Europe and America. In 
1999 the Company acquired India’s largest printed 
circuit board manufacturer, and significantly ex-
panded its capacity in the years that followed. To 
keep up with growing customer demand a second 
plant is currently being built next to the existing 
one, to further increase our leadership in the Indi-
an market. The first section of our new production 
facility in Shanghai was commissioned in 2002. 
Additional capacity has been added step by step, 
in response to customer needs. The Shanghai fac-
tory is now not only the largest in the AT&S Group 
but also the largest specialist HDI plant in China. 
AT&S is one of the world’s leading producers in 
this segment; the main competitors are all located 
in Asia (Japan and Taiwan). 

AT&S’s positioning 
AT&S has three sites in Austria (Leoben, Fehring 
and Klagenfurt) and three in Asia (Shanghai in Chi-
na, Nanjangud in India, and Ansan in Korea). Each 
factory specialises in particular technologies. 

The Austrian plants are geared to the European 
market, which is characterised by short produc-

AT&S�is�the�largest�
producer�of�PCBs�in�
Europe�and�India.�
In�China�the�Com-
pany�operates�the�
largest�HDI�printed�
circuit�board�works�

of�the�country.

Backward 
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Forward
Integration
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tion runs, tight production and delivery schedules 
and special applications – closeness to customers 
is vital. The site in India also focuses on serving the 
European market. It specialises in medium-sized 
batch production of double-sided and multilayer 
PCBs. The plant in Korea, acquired in 2006, manu-
factures flexible PCBs for the European market, as 
well as for customers of the Mobile Devices busi-
ness. Shanghai – the largest factory in the AT&S 
Group – concentrates on mass-producing HDI 
products, but is also increasingly specialising in 
applications for the automotive and computer in-
dustries. The research units in Leoben-Hinterberg 
and Shanghai are AT&S Group’s main technology 
drivers. 

AT&S’s key differentiators in the customers’ eyes 
European and international customers value AT&S 
for more than just its technological strengths.

European customers attach especial importance 
to AT&S’s: 
 � market leadership,
 � value-for-money production capacity in Asia,
 � proximity to its customers,
 � financial stability and
 � high quality.

Global customers prize AT&S’s: 
 � extensive experience of HDI technology,
 � high-volume HDI production capacity,
 � portfolio of long-standing, global reference

customers as well as
 � high standards at the Shanghai facility.

AT&S business segments 
AT&S has three core printed circuit board busi-
nesses: Mobile Devices, Automotive and Industri-
al. Mobile Devices (PCBs for mobile telephones, 
digital cameras, portable music players, etc.) is 
our largest business, and contributes 60% of to-
tal revenue. As supplier to eight of the ten largest 
mobile phone manufacturers, AT&S has a unique 
position in this market. Automotive accounts for 
11% of revenues; its customer base includes all 
the major European automotive component sup-
pliers. Industrial contributes 28% of revenues; it 
is geared to the European market, and has over 
500 customers. 

Revenues�by�segment�

Technology leadership 
AT&S is one of the technology leaders in the print-
ed circuit board market. One reason for this is our 
outstanding research and development effort. 
AT&S works with networks of customers, suppli-
ers and research institutions to develop new gen-
erations of innovative technologies. AT&S can also 
draw on long years of in-depth mass production 
experience in industrial large series manufacture. 
It is this that has enabled it to establish itself as 
a partner to the world’s largest and best-known 
manufacturers of electronic equipment. 

Special features of our business 
Mobile Devices is a highly seasonal business, and 
– because it contributes such a high proportion of
AT&S’s revenue – so is the Group as a whole. In
the first and fourth quarters of the financial year
capacity utilisation is generally lower than in the
second and third, when it is very good. In a high
fixed cost business like AT&S, low capacity utilisa-
tion puts pressure on margins.

Exchange rate differences between when the in-
voice is issued and the date of payment or valu-
ation at the end of the quarter (whichever comes 
first) are reflected in other operating income or 
expense, which affects operating performance. 
Changes in exchange rates also affect total assets 
as shown in the balance sheet. Since a large pro-
portion of AT&S’s assets are located in Asia, move-
ments in the relevant exchange rates can have a 
major impact on the Group’s equity. 

AT&S�is�one�of�the�
technology�leaders�in�
the�PCB�market.�One�
reason�for�this�is�our�
outstanding�research�
and�development�effort.

60%
Mobile Devices

28%
Industrial

11%
Automotive

1%
Other
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Revenues�produced�in�Europe�/�Asia�
over�the�last�years

Strategy 
It is AT&S’s strategic goal to become the world’s 
most competitive supplier of interconnection solu-
tions. For us this means being the most competi-
tive in terms of quality, reliability, efficiency and 
service. 

The AT&S strategy is geared towards innovation 
as well as organic, profitable and sustainable 
growth. In doing so, the Group aims to achieve 
undisputed leadership in the markets it serves. 

AT&S share 
AT&S was initially listed on the Neuer Markt of the 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange in July 1999, and then 
formed part of the TecDAX, which was launched 
after the dot.com bubble burst. After dropping out 
of the TecDAX in spring 2008, it was decided to 
switch to the home stock exchange in Vienna. AT&S 
has been quoted in the Vienna Stock Exchange 
Prime Market segment since 20 May 2008. 

The free float comprises 50.8% of the shares, and 
10.0% are held by AT&S, with 21.5% held by the 
Androsch Private Foundation and 17.7% by the 
Dörflinger Private Foundation. Hannes Androsch 
and Willi Dörflinger were two of the three initia-
tors of the 1994 management buy-out. 

Corporate governance 
As a stock exchange listed company, AT&S is ex-
pressly committed to good corporate governance, 
and substantiates this commitment by subscrib-
ing to the Austrian Corporate Governance Code. 

The members of the AT&S Management Board are 
as follows: 

 � Andreas Gerstenmayer, Chairman since Febru-
ary 2010

 � Steen E. Hansen, Chief Financial Officer since
April 2004, and Deputy Chairman since June
2005

 � Heinz Moitzi, Chief Technical Officer since April
2005

Harald Sommerer, Chairman of the Management 
Board since July 2005 stood down on 31 January 
2010. 

The Supervisory Board has nine members, three 
of whom are employee representatives. The Chair-
man of the Supervisory Board is Hannes Androsch, 
and his Deputy Chairman is Willi Dörflinger. 

Corporate social responsibility 
For AT&S, sustainable business practice means 
using the available resources to deliver the best 
possible long-term results for stakeholders. We 
recognise that the “people, planet and profit” di-
mensions of performance need not conflict with 
each other. On the contrary, all three underpin the 
sustainability of a business. The AT&S integrated 
management system (IMS) attaches equal impor-
tance to quality, the environment and people. 

Our Code of Business Ethics, which applies to all 
our staff throughout the world, sets out the rules 
that govern how we do business in an ethical and 
socially responsible manner. 

It�is�AT&S’s�strategic�
goal�to�become�the�

world’s�most�competi-
tive�supplier�of�inter-
connection�solutions.

100%

50%
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Europe Asia

35% 41% 53% 61% 67%

65% 59% 47% 39% 33%
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Letter to our Shareholders 
Dear shareholders, 

AT&S looks back over a challenging financial year 2009/10. The non-recurring costs 
of restructuring the Leoben-Hinterberg plant and negative operating results com-
bined to produce considerable losses in the first quarter. However, thanks to the 
restructuring measures and other cost-saving initiatives, AT&S has significantly 
reduced its cost base. Results were back in the black in the second quarter, and the 
third quarter was one of the most profitable in the Company’s history. The EBIT 
margin was also satisfactory in the fourth quarter, despite the effects of a less than 
optimal product mix, the decline in manufactured value at the Shanghai plant as 
a result of the Chinese New Year holiday, and sharp increases in raw material and 
energy costs. 

Year on year revenues fell 17.3% to EUR 372.2m. Mobile Devices experienced the 
sharpest decline, with a drop of 23%. This was largely the result of the migration of 
volume production from Leoben-Hinterberg to Asia. Equipment in Austria (that it 
was not economical to relocate) was decommissioned, and not fully replaced in Asia, 
so that the AT&S Group as a whole now has lower capacities for volume production. 
This was a constraint on Mobile Devices’ revenue-generating potential. Revenue in 
Industrial was stable, despite the harsh economic climate. This was the result of 
refocusing the Leoben-Hinterberg plant on high-tech small and medium batches 
primarily for the European market, and of winning market share in the region. 

Automotive was also hit by the economic crisis, but successful sales efforts combined with continuing market rationalisation meant 
that revenues held stable. Services’ revenues are project-related, and the 72.6% drop to EUR 3.8m reflects the discontinuation of 
certain service activities. 

Acceptable results of ordinary business activities 
Non-recurring expenses of restructuring and cost saving measures amounting to EUR 36.5m depressed results for the financial 
year 2009/10 as a whole. Our ordinary business activities during the financial year, i.e., excluding one-time effects, produced the 
following results: 

 � Operating result: EUR 11.0m, for an EBIT margin of 2.9% 
 � EBITDA: EUR 54.1m, for an EBITDA margin of 14.5% 
 � Profit before tax: EUR 2.6m 
 � Consolidated net loss:  EUR 1.1m
 � Earnings per share: EUR -0.03 

After a first quarter which brought EBIT of EUR -11.8m, a loss before tax of EUR 14.9m and a consolidated net loss of EUR 13.9m 
(excluding one-time effects in all cases), an ordinary operating profit for the year as a whole was not to be expected. An exceptional 
performance in the second half of the financial year 2009/10 – one of the strongest half-years in the Group‘s history – was however 
ultimately enough to deliver profit at the pre-tax level as well. 

Restructuring and new strategic alignment of Leoben-Hinterberg site 
For many years we have noted and commented on the migration of volume business from Europe to Asia. This trend rapidly gath-
ered pace as the economic crisis began to bite. As recently as November 2008 we believed that downsizing the plant’s large-volume 
capacity would be enough to return manufacturing to profit, and that at least some mass production of HDI printed circuit boards 
could be kept in Austria. However, the deteriorating global economic climate led customers to concentrate even more strongly on 
minimising purchasing prices. The resulting pressure on prices meant that with current cost levels volume production was no 
longer viable in Austria. 
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In response, volume production was transferred in its entirety from Leoben-Hinterberg to Asia, leaving the Leoben plant free to 
concentrate exclusively on manufacturing small and medium sized batches for the European market. Production capacity – meas-
ured in terms of PCB surface area – was cut from roughly 130,000 m2 to 85,000 m2. This reduction in capacity combined with other 
steps taken to increase efficiency in Austria also led to adjustments in staffing levels to reflect expected future requirements. The 
number of staff was cut by around 230. 

Focus on core business and increasing efficiency 
In addition to the changes at Leoben-Hinterberg, processes were streamlined and measures introduced to increase efficiency and 
reduce costs across the Group. Logistics activities in Nörvenich, Germany, were transferred, and consolidated with those in Leoben-
Hinterberg. Nörvenich will continue to operate as a design, service and sales office. In addition, we discontinued our Foundry 
Services activities, due to the inadequate earnings prospects relative to the risks involved. ECAD, the Indian printed circuit board 
designer, was acquired by the Group in July 2005. The original idea was for it to give customers the benefits of its layer composition 
and track layout expertise early in the development process. This did not happen to the extent required, and effectively only design 
hours – which can be easily sourced elsewhere in the market – were being sold. AT&S ultimately sold the Company on 4 July 2009. 
The transaction had no material financial impact on the Group. Our design centre in Nörvenich will continue to work closely with 
customers on the development of innovative solutions. 

In spring 2010 the decision was taken to relocate AT&S headquarters to Leoben-Hinterberg and close the Vienna office at the end of 
2010. This move will reduce administration costs, and further optimise existing processes and structures. At 31 March 2010 about 
50 people were employed at the Vienna headquarters. 

Guidance 
In the financial year 2010/11 we will invest a total of around EUR 80m in the future growth of AT&S Group. The main projects will 
be adding more capacity for volume production of HDI printed circuit boards in Shanghai (China), completing the second plant in 
Nanjangud (India) and developing new technologies and specific applications. As around two thirds of the investment will be made 
in the first half of the year the gearing ratio could rise to a level of 100% during the course of the year. Towards the end of the fi-
nancial year the ratio should stabilise below the target level of 80%, provided exchange rates remain stable. 

We are forecasting buoyant demand in the financial year 2010/11 and expecting revenues in the region of EUR 435m. The EBIT 
margin should exceed 7%; profitability will be much higher in the second half of the financial year, once additional capacity comes 
on line in Asia. Strong overall demand for electronic components at the start of the year led to a jump in material and energy costs. 
As a result, we have no choice but to adjust sales prices to better reflect the new cost base. At the same time we continue to focus 
on increasing the efficiency of existing processes and structures. 

The effective rate of tax is expected to be around 25%. 

As always at the end of a financial year, our thanks go to our customers, suppliers and other business partners, and to the collabo-
rating research and development institutions, for their contribution to our excellent working relationships. A particular debt of 
gratitude is owed to all our staff for their hard work and commitment. And we thank you, our shareholders, for continuing to place 
your trust in us in these troubled times. 

With best regards 

Andreas Gerstenmayer 
Chairman

Steen E. Hansen 
Chief Financial Officer

Heinz Moitzi 
Chief Technical Officer
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Report of the Supervisory Board 
Throughout the financial year from 
1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010, the 
Supervisory Board received written 
and oral reports from the Manage-
ment Board on the company’s poli-
cies and performance, and was closely 
involved in a number of the Group’s 
major issues. 

During the financial year 2009/10 
the Supervisory Board convened four 
times, with the Management Board 

participating. In these meetings the  Management Board pro-
vided the Supervisory Board with detailed reports on the state 
of AT&S Group’s affairs. As part of the Group’s reporting proce-
dures and at all board meetings, the Management Board also gave 
the Supervisory Board comprehensive reports on the Group’s 
operating and financial position, as well as its holdings in other 
companies, its staff situation and its planned investments. Stra-
tegic projects, long-term strategy, new statutory requirements, 
in particular the Austrian Shareholders’ Rights (Amendment) 
Act 2009 (Aktienrechtsänderungsgesetz 2009), measures to cope 
with the economic crisis, and corporate and staff restructuring 
initiatives were discussed and decided on. Outside Supervisory 
Board meetings, the Management Board and the Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board also held ongoing discussions on the Group’s 
strategic focus and the progress of its business activities. 

All members were present at two of the Supervisory Board meet-
ings in the financial year 2009/10, while Erich Schwarzbichler 
and Karl Fink were each excused from one meeting. At the meet-
ing on 10 June 2009 Günther Wölfler replaced Markus Schumy 
as Supervisory Board member delegated by the Works Council. 

The committees established by the Supervisory Board carried out 
detailed analysis of particular issues and reported their findings 
to the Supervisory Board. The Audit Committee met twice during 
the last financial year. The first meeting was chaired by Erich 
Schwarzbichler, who resigned his appointment at the Annual 
General Meeting on 2 July 2009. He was succeeded by Gerhard 
Pichler, who was unanimously elected as new member of the 
Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board then appointed him 
as Chairman of the Audit Committee. In this function Gerhard 
Pichler was regularly involved in the quarterly reporting, and 
reported on these matters to the Audit Committee. 

In the financial year just ended Harald Sommerer, the Chairman 
of the Management Board, decided not to extend his appointment 
when it expired on 30 June 2010. The Nomination and Remunera-
tion Committee met once to initiate the measures required to 

appoint a successor to Harald Sommerer. Andreas Gerstenmayer 
was appointed Chairman of the Management Board for a period 
of three years beginning on 1 February 2010 at the Supervisory 
Board meeting on 16 December 2009. Harald Sommerer left the 
Management Board on 31 January 2010. 

Further information on the activities of the Supervisory Board 
and its committees can be found in the corporate governance 
report. 

The annual financial statements of AT&S AG and the consoli-
dated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2010 
were both audited by PwC Wirtschaftsprüfung GmbH, Vienna, 
who awarded them an unqualified audit report. The manage-
ment report and the Group management report for the financial 
year 2009/10 were consistent with the annual financial state-
ments and the consolidated financial statements. Based on the 
preliminary discussions of the Audit Committee, and after its 
own detailed consideration and review, the Supervisory Board 
approved the annual financial statements for the year ended  
31 March 2010 in accordance with section 96(4) Austrian Compa-
nies Act (Aktiengesetz). On the same basis, the Supervisory Board 
also approved the consolidated financial statements drawn up 
in accordance with section 245a Austrian Business Code (Un-
ternehmensgesetzbuch) and with IFRS, as well as the manage-
ment report, the Group management report and the corporate 
governance report. The Supervisory Board review did not give 
rise to any objections. 

The Supervisory Board adopted the Management Board’s recom-
mendation for the application of profits: the retained earnings 
as at 31 March 2010 amounting to EUR 14,143,889.47 are to be 
distributed in payment of a dividend of EUR 0.10 per share, and 
the remaining amount is to be carried forward. 

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Management 
Board and all of the Group’s staff for their hard work during the 
financial year 2009/10 and for their dedication under extremely 
testing economic conditions. 

On behalf of the Supervisory Board 

Hannes Androsch 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
Leoben-Hinterberg, 8 June 2010 
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Our Mission and 
Strategy for Future Success 

AT&S’s mission 
We are dedicated to ensuring our customers’ suc-
cess, because it is a crucial factor in our own suc-
cess. 

Strategic goal 
The strategic goal of AT&S is to become the world’s 
most competitive supplier of interconnection solu-
tions. For us, this means being the most competi-
tive in terms of 
 � quality,
 � reliability,
 � efficiency and
 � service.

Our strategy 
AT&S Group strategy is geared towards innova-
tion as well as organic, profitable and sustainable 
growth. We aim to achieve undisputed leadership 
in our target markets. The Group also aims to open-
ing up additional market potential by consistently 
continuing and proactively designing technologi-
cal trends. 

This�has�important�implications�for�our�core�
businesses.�

Automotive 
The core competence of AT&S’s Automotive busi-
ness lies in a combination of HDI printed circuit 
board expertise and production know-how for the 
car manufacturing industry. Our goal is therefore 
to secure a share in the growing market for HDI 
printed circuit boards. Automotive will also be 
pushing specialised technologies for areas such 
as thermal management. Intensifying our sales ac-
tivities in France, the UK and Italy, and exploiting 
the weaknesses of our long-established competi-
tors will act as a springboard for stronger growth 
in Europe. We also aim to turn what is primarily a 
European business into a global market. 

Industrial 
In our traditional industrial business we are aim-
ing to optimise our customer base and increase 
revenues and market share in the US market. In 
the computing sector we shall be concentrating on 
HDI printed circuit boards, but we are also look-
ing to raise our standing as an all-round supplier 
by selectively providing also plated-through PCBs. 
We will also continue to expand our industrial 
computers business. In the medical sector AT&S 
consequently enlarges its portfolio to all fields of 
medical technology and also launches projects in 
the therapy and equipment segment to supple-
ment our key activities in diagnosis and imaging 
techniques. 

Mobile Devices 
We will continue to market ourselves as a univer-
sal printed circuit board supplier to customers in 
the high-end segment on which we consequently 
focus on. In addition to mobile telephones (focus 
on smartphones), Mobile Devices also includes a 
range of expanding markets for applications such 
as games consoles, digital cameras and portable 
music players. AT&S is looking to profit from the 
growth in these sectors, and bolstering our posi-
tion there will involve promoting new technolo-
gies such as the integration of components inside 
printed circuit boards.

R&D
AT&S R&D in particular covers development of 
materials, processes, and applications. The gen-
eral trend toward ongoing miniaturisation and 
integration of further functionalities is met – for 
instance – by AT&S’s ECP® technology (Embed-
ded Component Packaging) and solutions such as 
AT&S’s 2.5DTM  technology. 

A further AT&S development project is NucleuS® 
bringing cost advantages and improvements in ef-
ficiency. The technology is used for volume pro-
duction of individual printed circuit boards that 
makes optimal use of the production format and 
only connects them to their frames just before they 
are shipped out to assemblers for assembly.

The�AT&S�strategy�
is�geared�towards�

innovation�as�well�as�
organic,�profitable�and�

sustainable�growth.
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AT&S–aGlobalPlayer

Our Mission and 
Strategy for Future Success AT&S – a Global Player 

Plant�Leoben-Hinterberg
Founded: 1982 
Production: HDI, special products, 

prototypes, express services 
Target region: Europe
Certifications: ISO 9001:2008 

ISO/TS 16949:2002 
ISO 14001:2004 
OHSAS 18001:2007

Plant�Fehring
Founded: 1974
Production: double-sided, flexible and 

rigid-flex PCBs 
Target region: Europe
Certifications: ISO 9001:2008 

ISO/TS 16949:2002 
ISO 14001:2004 
OHSAS 18001:2007

Plant�Klagenfurt
Acquired:  2003
Shareholding: 77.3%
Production: single-sided PCBs,

thermal management
Target region: Europe
Certifications: ISO 9001:2008 

ISO/TS 16949:2002 
ISO 14001:2004
OHSAS 18001:2007

Plant�Shanghai,�China
Founded: 2002
Production: HDI mass production
Target region: Global
Certifications: ISO 9001:2008 

ISO/TS 16949:2002 
ISO 14001:2004 
OHSAS 18001:2007

Plant�Nanjangud,�India
Acquired:  1999
Shareholding: 100%
Production: double-sided and multilayer PCBs
Target region: Europe, India
Certifications: ISO 9001:2008 

ISO/TS 16949:2002 
ISO 14001:2004 
OHSAS 18001:2007

Plant�Ansan,�Korea
Acquired: 2006
Shareholding: 98.8%
Production: flexible PCBs
Target region: Korea, Europe
Certifications: ISO 9001:2008 

ISO/TS 16949:2002
ISO 14001:2004 
OHSAS 18001:2007

Sales Offices
Australia Czech Republic Hungary  Malaysia
Austria   France  India Singapore 
California/USA Germany Ireland/UK South Korea
China Hong Kong Japan Spain

Austrian Production Sites Asian Production Sites
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AComprehensiveProductPortfolio

A Comprehensive 
Product Portfolio
AT&S has six production sites each specialising in a particular technology. This enables us to offer our customers a broad range of 
products, and to ensure efficient, high quality manufacturing. Technological and cost requirements play a major part in selecting 
the right printed circuit board.

3

3

4

4

Single-sided PCBs
Phenolic or epoxy resin materials 
for populating, in industrial and 
automotive applications.

Insulated metallic substrate (IMS)
Printed circuit boards with enhanced 
cooling of components. Application in 
LED technology for the automotive sec-
tor and for lighting in buildings. 

Double-sided
plated-through PCBs

Epoxy resin or special materials 
for high frequency applications. 

Used in all applications and 
industries in electronics.

Multilayer PCBs 
(up to 22 layers) 

Standard to high Tg materials, as 
well as special materials, for high 

frequency applications and all
applications and industries 

in electronics. 
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* The RIM and BlackBerry families of related marks, images and symbols are 
the exclusive properties and trademarks of Research In Motion – used by permission.

Semi-flexible PCBs
Based on thin epoxy resin materi-

als for flex-to-install applications. 
For one-time bending (radius 5 mm), 

mainly in automotive and 
industrial applications.

Flexible PCBs 
For static and dynamic bend/twist 

applications in all industry sectors, 
including space technology. 

Rigid-flex PCBs 
Combine the advantages of 

rigid and flexible printed circuit 
boards, replacing cables and 

plug connections. This increases 
the reliability of applications 

and reduces the number of 
processes in assembly. 

HDI microvias*
Laser-drilled circuit boards with 
up to 5 microvia build-up layers 
per printed circuit board side, or 
with stacked microvias throughout, 
over the whole thickness of the 
circuit board. Main applications in 
handheld devices and increasingly 
in consumer electronics.

Embedded components  
Integration of passive and active 
electronic components in the printed 
circuit board, to make even smaller 
applications practicable. PCB thick-
ness is in the same range as with 
standard printed circuit boards. 
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Sales & Marketing: Successful 
Customers, Successful AT&S 

For us, the success of our customers is the key 
to long-term and lasting business relationships, 
which is why AT&S’s first priority in all its ac-
tivities is an uncompromising focus on customers’ 
needs. One of the ways in which we can differenti-
ate ourselves from our competitors is by working 
closely with our customers and providing ancil-
lary services precisely tailored to their require-
ments. Our objectives are to ensure that product 
quality and supply performance are of the highest 
order, and that we provide an efficient service. 

AT&S as global partner  
With production facilities in Europe and Asia and 
a service and distribution network that spans four 
continents, AT&S has a truly global presence and is 
ideally positioned to respond rapidly and flexibly 
to its customers’ requirements. We currently sup-
ply more than 500 customers in the automotive, 
industrial and mobile devices sectors. 

Revenue�by�segment�
Depending on the sector, our customers range from 
small development enterprises to famous global 
concerns. 

Automotive   
AT&S’s broadly based product 
portfolio has helped it become one 
of the largest printed circuit board 
manufacturers for the European 
automobile market. In contrast 
to many of its competitors, AT&S 

has been able to produce profitably by focusing on 
technologically advanced products such as rigid-
flex solutions, HDI products and high-current ap-
plications. 

Our customers include the leading European au-
tomobile supply companies such as Continental 
and Hella. They set enormously high standards for 
supplier reliability and printed circuit board qual-
ity, and require certification at the highest levels. 
As a result of the economic crisis, a number of 
suppliers of printed circuit boards for the automo-
tive sector were forced to declare insolvency, and 
our customers now attach special importance to 
the financial standing of their suppliers. AT&S’s 
healthy financial position strengthens its reputa-
tion as a reliable long-term partner. 

With�plants�in��
Europe�and�Asia�and�
a�service�and�sales�
network�that�spans�

four�continents,�AT&S�
has�a�truly�global�
presence�and�is�

ideally�positioned�to�
respond�rapidly�and�
flexibly�to�its�custom-

ers’�requirements.

The electronics used in automobiles are becoming 
ever more powerful. This also means that the inte-
grated circuitry is becoming more complex, which 
in turn increases the complexity of the printed cir-
cuit board. Meanwhile chips – in the automobile 
industry as well – have become so small and have 
so many input/output channels that they require 
an HDI printed circuit board in order to connect 
to other components. 

While many established European automobile 
suppliers have so far focused exclusively on stand-
ard printed circuit boards, and many HDI produc-
ers do not have the necessary automotive certifi-
cations, AT&S can demonstrate a leading position 
both as a European automobile industry supplier 
and as a global HDI producer. We must continue 
to use this competitive advantage in the future, so 
as to make sure of additional growth in this sector. 

Industrial 
The Industrial segment includes 
industrial electronics, measure-
ment and control technology, 
medicine, computing, aerospace, 
and white and brown goods. 
Its main markets are Europe 

(primarily Germany, Austria and Switzerland) 
and the USA. AT&S is also one of Europe’s larg-
est printed circuit board manufacturers in the 
industrial sector. In total, we supply around 500 
customers, from small development undertakings 
to global giants. 

In general the business consists of many small or-
ders using the most diverse technologies and pro-
ducing to a variety of specifications. Our experts 
cooperate closely with our customers’ product de-
velopers – often also in the development phases 
– to achieve the optimal solutions for their applica-
tions. In the quick-turnaround business we must
produce and supply within very tight deadlines.
This is particularly important for product devel-
opment, where delays caused by missing PCBs
would lead to enormous costs.

AT&S’s Austrian plants are well placed to meet 
these challenges. The Indian plant is another key 
element in the production network, as it enables us 
to supply industrial customers with competitively 

60%
Mobile Devices

28%
Industrial

11%
Automotive

1%
Other
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AT&S�has�an�out-
standing�reputation�as�
a�technology�partner�
for�the�Automotive,�
Industrial�and�Mo-
bile�Devices�sectors.�
Additional�services�
round�out�the�wide�
product�portfolio.

priced medium-sized batches of double-sided and 
multilayer printed circuit boards. As in the Au-
tomotive sector, chips for notebooks are becom-
ing increasingly complex and powerful. For this 
reason, we are also stepping up our production 
of HDI printed circuit boards for laptops at our 
Shanghai plant.

Mobile Devices
This market segment comprises 
PCBs for mobile phones, digital 
cameras, portable music and video 
players, gaming consoles, etc. In 
the Mobile Devices sector AT&S’s 
customers are global players – 

our customers include eight of the world’s ten larg-
est mobile phone manufacturers. Although these 
concerns are usually serviced by several printed 
circuit board suppliers, the breadth of AT&S’s cus-
tomer portfolio is unique. We are increasingly fo-
cusing on the rapidly growing smartphone market, 
where complex HDI printed circuit boards with a 
large number of layers are needed. Producing in 
large quantities and without making concessions 
on quality are the key differentiators that set us 
apart from the competition. 

The Mobile Devices business is a seasonal indus-
try – in the first and fourth quarters of the financial 
year capacity utilisation is generally lower and 
product mixes are less profitable, while capacity 
utilisation in the second and third quarters is as 
a rule extremely good. The large share contributed 
by this business segment to AT&S’s total revenues 
means that the Group’s performance as a whole is 
also subject to seasonal fluctuations. 

Seasonality�within�Mobile�Devices�business�

The end products into which AT&S’s PCBs are 
incorporated have shown a clear trend towards 
increased miniaturisation and more extensive ca-
pabilities in recent years. As a consequence, the 
technological requirements for the printed circuit 
boards used have also become more advanced, and 
with them the demands for capacity per PCB. In 
addition, mobile phone sales between 2000 and 
2008 increased by an annual average of 24%, so 
that more than four billion devices were in use 
worldwide. In 2009 mobile phone sales slipped by 
around 7%. However the smartphone segment re-
corded a surge in growth of 19%. In response, AT&S 
is establishing additional capacities in Shanghai 
to be able to offer mass produced extremely com-
plex printed circuit boards (HDI technology) in 
sufficient quantities and at competitive prices. 
The consistently high quality of our production 
is a significant factor in our success. In addition, 
we provide worldwide logistics services for our 
customers, including shipping and inventory man-
agement. 

The Mobile Devices business is certainly one of the 
most technologically challenging and innovative 
sectors, and our research and development team is 
working intensively on novel concepts which will 
bolster AT&S’s leading position.
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Leading Edge 
Research and Development (R&D) 

Since its foundation in 1987, AT&S has established 
itself as the largest printed circuit board manu-
facturer in Europe and India. We are also among 
the leading international suppliers of high-tech 
HDI microvia printed circuit boards worldwide, 
and are constantly extending our presence in this 
market. 

One reason for this success is undoubtedly our 
ongoing development of the technologies in use, 
which has allowed us to achieve technological 
leadership in high-end printed circuit board man-
ufacturing. Our research also focuses on potential 
new customer segments. Last financial year some 
6% of revenues were invested in applied research 
and technology evaluation. Our goal for the future 
must be to further differentiate ourselves from our 
competitors. The importance of internal technolo-
gy development to the Group is also demonstrated 
by the fact that in the past financial year – despite 
the economic difficulties – more was spent on re-
search and development than ever before.

R&D structure 
AT&S has a two-part innovation process: our 
technology headquarters in Leoben-Hinterberg is 
responsible for development of materials, proc-
esses and applications, and Shanghai carries out 
the systematic, ongoing development and optimi-
sation of HDI technology.

Research network 
AT&S’s R&D activities frequently involve a number 
of our business partners. Customers generally in-
form us of their requirements and their ideas for 
future products, but we also devise new techniques 
based on future applications we foresee, such as 
the embedding of components inside printed cir-
cuit boards. In addition to our own resources, we 
use collaborative agreements with research insti-
tutions and suppliers wherever practicable and 
necessary. This network of expertise enables us 
to master the most complex challenges extremely 
effectively and efficiently. 

R&D areas and selected research projects 
Our R&D activities can be grouped into four gen-
eral project areas. 

High-end-HDI�
AT&S is pursuing a number of approaches to fur-
ther development of the high-tech HDI printed 
circuit board business. Further miniaturisation 
requires a special focus on finer track layouts. 
Parallel efforts involve the development of new 
production processes, which are necessary both 
for manufacturing the new products and replacing 
existing processes with newer, more cost-effective 
ones. For example, during the last financial year 
the first products were successfully produced us-
ing the innovative NucleuS® production technol-
ogy, which offers the customer a completely novel 
production-optimised design process. 

Made�in�Austria
This area includes a number of projects for the de-
velopment and implementation of new production 
technologies to make printed circuit board produc-
tion both more flexible and more effective. The 
aim is also to find ways for the Austrian plants to 
produce smaller volumes and more complex prod-
ucts more simply and more profitably.

 � 2.5DTM  technology research project
This technology focuses on incorporating struc-
tural recesses (cavities) into and onto printed
circuit boards. This facilitates deeper embed-
ding of electronic components, and makes thin-
ner PCBs possible. It also makes it possible to
produce rigid-flex PCBs for flex-to-install ap-
plications.

The enormous simplification of processes means 
that 2.5DTM technology offers the prospect of 
cost effective, flexible and high-value solutions 
in a wide range of applications.

Permanent�evolution�
of�the�technologies�
applied�is�one�of�the�

cornerstones�of�AT&S�
being�one�of�the�lead-

ing�PCB�suppliers�
within�the�high-end�
segment�worldwide.
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Leading Edge 
Research and Development (R&D) 

 � Thermal management research project
In high-performance electronics, there is an in-
creasing need for PCBs to discharge the thermal
energy they generate. High-output assemblies
give off heat, considerably reducing both their
own performance and service life, and that of
other components. Printed circuit boards need
to be able to discharge up to several hundred
watts of thermal output.

 � Inkjet printing research project
Unlike the standard screen printing currently
in use in the high-tech segment, this process
is extremely flexible and can be simply and ef-
ficiently adapted for smaller batch sizes with
different designs. With this technology it is also
relatively simple to affix additional functional
layers.

ECP® technology

Embedded Component Packaging technology is 
used to integrate active and passive electronic 
components (such as resistors, capacitors and 
chips) on the inside of printed circuit boards. This 
combines two steps in the current value chain – 
production and population of the printed circuit 
boards. This not only reduces costs, but also has 
the advantages of saving space on the surface of 
the PCB and enormously increasing reliability as 
a result of the direct embedding. 

 � Hermes research project
The Hermes project is being managed by AT&S
and supported by the EU. We are working with
ten other prominent companies from different
stages of the value chain to develop an industry
standard for volume production of printed cir-
cuit boards with embedded chips.

Photovoltaics 
In the Photovoltaics project, the aim is to exploit 
synergies in the production processes for printed 
circuit boards and photovoltaic panels to create 
a novel technology product. We are focusing on 
the development and production of more energy-
efficient, back-contacted photovoltaic panels. The 
goal is to reduce the cost of modules while simul-
taneously increasing their efficiency by industri-
alising an innovative technology.

Patent strategy 
AT&S’s increased focus on research and develop-
ment has also led to extended legal safeguards for 
its core technologies. In the past financial year 13 
new patent applications were filed, so that AT&S 
now has 53 patents and patents applied for. This 
continuing growth in the patent portfolio contrib-
utes to the Group’s reputation as a technologically 
advanced supplier of printed circuit boards and 
provides longer-term evidence of its investment 
in development. 

New�patents�applied�for�

The�importance�of�
internal�technology�
development�to�the�
Group�is�also�dem-
onstrated�by�the�
fact�that�in�the�past�
financial�year�–�
despite�the�economic�
difficulties�–�more�was�
spent�on�research�
and�development�
than�ever�before.
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Outstanding Performance in Supply 
Chain Management & Procurement 

Top�priority�is�given�
to�supplier�reliabil-

ity�and�quality.

Supply chain management involves integrating 
all of the logistical requirements of suppliers, 
internal departments and customers in a single 
process. This includes activities such as capacity 
planning, resource planning, storage allocation, 
logistics and invoicing. 

Supply chain management –  
a key success factor for AT&S 
AT&S supplies around 15,000 different products 
each year. Reliability and quality of supply are 
vital to our customers. In an extremely volatile 
market such as the printed circuit board industry, 
where product diversity is high and order times 
short, just-in-time production (where goods or 
components are not ordered until they are needed, 
so as to keep inventories down) requires excep-
tional supply chain management. The goal is to 
constantly improve the balance between global 
demand and capacity, to reduce the total costs of 
final products as far as possible, and increasingly 
to offer customers one-stop shopping and vendor-
managed inventory solutions. We handle logistics 
and inventory management for almost 500 differ-
ent products at over 60 storage facilities around 
the world and ensure that stocks are maintained 
between specified minimum and maximum levels.  

Global network of customers and suppliers 
Close cooperation between the participants all 
along the value chain is a basic requirement for 
successful supply chain management. AT&S’s 
global network comprises around 500 customers 
and 800 suppliers (including 35 key suppliers). On 
average, 300 shipments and 270 different parts 
numbers are dispatched every day – an increase 
of about 60% on last year.

Effective planning tools ensure customer loyalty 
and cost efficiencies 
High-quality software applications are used to 
ensure reliable end-to-end management of all 
product and information flows between suppliers, 
internal Group processes and customers. Thanks 
to the combination of SAP’s Advanced Planning 
and Optimising Tool (APO) and global availability 
controls, we have deployed an integrated plan-
ning system in all of our Austrian facilities. This 
enables us to match detailed production plans to 
production capacities and to check the feasibility 
of each individual order. As a result, the system 

generates considerable cost savings and also helps 
us to further improve the customer service rate. 
And this has boosted our reliability of supply from 
almost 90% to 93% over the last two years. In other 
words, just under 60,000 orders were supplied ex-
actly on the delivery date specified and in the ex-
act quantity ordered by the customer. If an order 
is missing only one item or is delivered past the 
deadline, this represents target achievement of 0%. 

Supplier cooperation enhances competitiveness 
Our suppliers’ moves towards standardisation, 
improvements in efficiency, and a stronger em-
phasis on AT&S’s technical and commercial re-
quirements play a significant part in keeping the 
Group competitive. This requires strict selection 
and ongoing management of our supplier portfo-
lio. Last year each supplier again concentrated pri-
marily on value contribution. Besides resulting in 
highly competitive costs, this also highlights the 
supplier’s market position and a commitment to 
promoting innovation with AT&S. 

The squeeze on prices in the electronics industry, 
which AT&S is also feeling, is passed on to our sup-
pliers. We expect our strategic suppliers to handle 
such pressure through increased productivity and 
efficiency – by improving internal mechanisms, for 
example – without sacrificing quality and innova-
tion. 

Key purchasing indicators

2009/10 2008/09 2007/08

Electricity (GWh) 202.5 234.4 219.5

Laminates (million m²) 8.5 7.5 8.6

Copper foil (million m²) 5.5 5.3 5.2

Copper clippings (t) 1,598 1,733 1,872

Gold (kg) 885 896 880

Chemicals (t) 35,809 38,675 38,216

Cartons ('000) 6,046 5,684 5,116
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It’s People 
That Make the Difference 

AT&S�increases�
the�qualification�of�
its�more�than�5800�

employees�by�offering�
profound�personnel�
development�meas-
ures�and�advanced�

trainings�–�even�on�an�
international�basis.

AT&S is a global business with production facili-
ties in Europe and Asia, and sales offices on four 
continents. The key to success in the face of stiff 
competition is having skilled and motivated pro-
fessionals throughout the organisation who un-
derstand our business, work hard, and are deter-
mined to perform under the most exacting market 
conditions. Customer focus, a constant readiness 
to respond to new challenges, a passion for de-
livering outstanding performance, and the quest 
for perfection in everything we do are essential 
factors for success.

Training and development – 
a vital ingredient for success
Training initiatives aimed at specific groups of 
employees were a major factor in seeing out the 
economic crisis. Despite our insistence on cut-
ting back costs, we carried on our training pro-
grammes for high potentials and future executives 
because we appreciate that staff development is 
an essential investment in future success. We also 
continued our training of apprentices in Austria 
and a similar programme organised by the Indian 
government, both of which are laying the founda-
tions for strong Group performance in the future.

Entry-level training for new recruits
New employees receive comprehensive basic 
training at all AT&S sites. Recruits learn about 
the overall production process for printed circuit 
boards, the Group’s structure and administration, 
and our social values. 

Encouraging the next generation – 
safeguarding future success 
Supporting up-and-coming employees is essential 
if AT&S is to retain a sufficiently large base of 
suitably qualified staff. In Austria we currently 
have around 31 trainees in six different profes-
sions (mechatronics technician, chemistry labo-
ratory technician, physics laboratory technician, 

mechanical engineering technician, electrical 
technician, production technician). 

In India we are participating in a development 
programme specifically designed for industrial 
workers. Every year it prepares and certifies a 
large number of trainees for work in international 
industrial enterprises. As of 31 March 2010, the 
programme had 75 participants.

International training and development 
It is vital that our high-potential managers around 
the globe develop the relevant skills for their work, 
and also grow as individuals by improving their 
leadership abilities. AT&S therefore decided to 
introduce a series of management training and 
development programmes. Several of these were 
completed last year. The results were excellent, 
and some of the participants moved directly to 
new, high-level positions within the Group. 

Large number of leased personnel in China
In many countries leased staff are primarily em-
ployed to cover capacity peaks, but in China hiring 
employees with basic qualifications from external 
employment agencies is common practice.

Global presence requires close international 
cooperation
AT&S’s global structure and international per-
spective require a constant exchange of skills and 
expertise and the close integration of different 
cultures in order to realise the Group’s full po-
tential. Annual meetings of our managers from all 
around the world are just one way of achieving 
this objective.

Broad-based career opportunities 
Our in-house job advertisement system ensures 
that all vacancies to which the rules apply are 
initially published internally, and where the can-
didates are equally well qualified, we give prefer-

(as of 31.3.) 2009/10 2008/09 +/-

Austria 44 51 -7

China 2623 2340 283

India 22 17 5

Korea 17 9 8

Others 0 0 0

2706 2417 289

(as of 31.3.) 2009/10 2008/09 +/-

Austria 1280 1439 -159

China 3380 3077 303

India 942 761 181

Korea 227 274 -47

Others 46 59 -13

5875 5610 265

Staff�number�(incl.�leased�personnel) Leased�personnel
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ence to our own staff over external applicants. Last 
year all of the positions advertised in India and 
Korea were filled internally. In Austria internal 
recruits were found for ten out of 13 posts, and 
for seven out of ten Group functions. 

Our global presence offers staff a wide variety of 
international career opportunities. The targeted 
employment of international experts continues to 
be one of the most effective methods of encourag-
ing qualitative improvements and quantitative ex-
pansion at the company’s Asian sites. The ongoing 
transfer of skills and expertise to China and India, 
where capacities are being significantly expanded, 
is a major priority in this regard.

Professional mobility and assignments to differ-
ent Group facilities are expressly encouraged and 
supported by our mobility policy.

International�managers�by�country

Staff restructuring and the impact 
of the economic crisis  
The economic crisis during the last financial year 
meant that every plant, office and department was 
required to contribute to cost reductions and im-
provement of the Group’s performance. Some or-
ganisational units were obliged to bridge month-
long periods of under-capacity operation, and to 
save money in every conceivable way. Despite our 
best efforts, it was not possible to save all the jobs 
at each of our locations. At the end of the finan-
cial year 2009/10, AT&S employed 5875 people 
(2008/09: 5610), while the average figure for the 
year was 5616 (2008/09: 6319). 

The Austrian plant in Leoben-Hinterberg saw a 
large number of redundancies, due to the reloca-
tion of volume production to Asia. At the same 
time strategic measures to refocus the facilities on 
meeting the requirements of the European market 

were also introduced. In addition, there were also 
groupwide initiatives to streamline processes, 
boost efficiency and reduce costs. Overall, this in-
volved the loss of 229 jobs (47% women, 53% men). 

In spring 2010 it was decided to relocate the 
Group’s headquarters to Leoben-Hinterberg and 
to close the Vienna office with effect from 31 De-
cember 2010. The move is designed to further re-
duce administration costs and improve efficiency. 
Around 50 people were employed in Vienna as of 
31 March 2010.

Employee inventions  
Last year we intensified our efforts to position the 
company as a technology leader by strengthening 
our focus on expanding the Group’s portfolio of 
intellectual property rights and patents. We also 
drew up a policy for employee inventions, which 
will be applied at all sites around the world. Em-
ployees who come up with ideas for innovations in 
the course of their work will receive appropriate 
compensation in line with international rules. As 
a result staff are assured of receiving their share 
of the long-term financial benefits of their inven-
tions. 

Personnel�expenditure�
(excl.�non-recurring�expenses)
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Staff costs/revenue

(as of 31.3.) 2009/10 2008/09 +/-

White-collar 1264 1363 -99

Blue-collar & 
leased staff 4161 4040 121

Apprentices & 
trainees 450 207 243

5875 5610 265

31 March 2010 31 March 2009

India 0 2

Korea 2 2

China 30 32

Others 5 6

37 42
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Protecting Stakeholder Value with 
Sustainable Management Policies 
AT&S�attaches�equal�
importance�to�qual-
ity,�the�environment�

and�people.�By�doing�
so�it�is�stressed�that�
the�“people,�planet�
and�profit”�dimen-

sions�of�performance�
need�not�conflict�
with�each�other.

AT&S is an international electronics company with 
competitors around the world, especially in Asia. 
As a global corporate citizen AT&S is committed 
to combining an entrepreneurial approach with 
social and environmental responsibility. 

At AT&S sustainable management means using 
the available resources to deliver the best pos-
sible long-term results for our stakeholders. We 
recognise that the “people, planet and profit” di-
mensions of performance need not conflict with 
each other. On the contrary, all three underpin the 
sustainability of a business. 

Integrated management system 
The AT&S integrated management system (IMS) 
attaches equal importance to quality, the envi-
ronment and people. The system is based on the 
ISO 9001 and ISO/TS 16949 (quality management 
for automotive production) quality standards, the 
ISO 14001 environmental management standard 
and the OHSAS 18001 standard for occupational 
health and safety. Regular internal audits and 
reviews by independent auditors have confirmed 
that the management system meets the compliance 
requirements for the financial year 2009/10.

Health and safety at work  
Employee health, safety and fitness are major 
priorities at AT&S. Keeping detailed records of 
all accidents, environmental and transport inci-
dents, damages and near-accidents has helped to 
identify potential weaknesses and systematically 
minimise risks over the years. The OHSAS 18001 
health and safety standard regulates our activities 
in these areas. 

A number of programmes and measures aimed 
at raising awareness of safety issues have been 
developed and implemented both locally and glo-
bally. The 66% drop in the number of working days 
lost to accidents reflects the success of these ini-
tiatives. The number of accidents resulting in more 
than one lost working day dropped by 30% year on 
year. Reduced absence rates and steadily declining 
numbers of accidents result in a win-win situation 
for AT&S and its staff. 

In response to the positive attitudes of our em-
ployees, an occupational health programme was 
also drawn up for the financial year 2009/10 and 
rolled out at our Austrian plants. The aim was to 

encourage and enhance staff performance and 
commitment. One of the larger projects focused 
on ergonomics in the workplace – it involved an 
analysis using the key indicator method, train-
ing, and developing and introducing appropriate 
exercises in cooperation with an external trainer. 
Other activities during the year included a skin 
monitoring initiative and a campaign that focused 
on preventing falls (including a “3S check” of fac-
tors that influence sensorimotor control, symme-
try and stability).

Mutual Aid Response Scheme 
In the financial year 2009/10 AT&S India joined 
forces with three other well-known companies in 
the Nanjangud industrial area to develop an action 
plan that will enable them to respond effectively to 
industrial accidents. Pooling equipment and res-
cue teams will ensure the best possible support in 
the event of an emergency. A joint manual was pre-
pared to maximise the effectiveness of the scheme. 
It includes details of the partner companies and 
guidelines on storing chemicals, gases and oils.

Environmental protection  
During the financial year 1996/97 AT&S became 
one of the first PCB manufacturers to introduce 
environmental management standards in compli-
ance with ISO 14001. All of our sites are now certi-
fied to this standard. Our in-house standards go 
well beyond the statutory minimum requirements, 
so that the Group is often seen by certification bod-
ies and authorities as a pioneer on environmental 
issues. For example, AT&S China was recognised 
as a Long-term Partnership Enterprise in Promot-
ing Environmental Protection by the Shanghai 
Environmental Protection Bureau for its role in 
supporting a host of environmental education ini-
tiatives. But this does not mean we intend to rest 
on our laurels: we will continue to set ourselves 
new targets, introduce new measures and moni-
tor compliance with them. We see environmental 
protection as a continuous improvement process. 

Reducing resources and materials consumption 
and maximising resource efficiency are part of 
our management policy. As a result we are con-
stantly looking to improve our environmental per-
formance. We will continue to focus on reducing 
or improving specific consumption of resources, 
and a number of projects are being implemented 
to achieve this.
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Protecting Stakeholder Value with 
Sustainable Management Policies 

Fulfilling�its�responsi-
bilities�as�a�corporate�
citizen�is�central�to�
AT&S’s�way�of�think-
ing.�This�means�going�
beyond�simple�com-
pliance�with�minimum�
legal�requirements�
for�socially�respon-
sible�behaviour.

Reducing�energy�consumption�in�etching�facilities�
New insulation of etching equipment at the Leoben-
Hinterberg plant reduced cooling requirements by 
5 kW and heat consumption by 15 kW per facility. 

Wastewater�treatment�
The expansion of the Nanjangud facility included 
installation of innovative wastewater purification 
equipment based on reverse osmosis. As a result, 
80% of the water treated there can now be reused.  

Etchant�recycling�
The copper recovery systems at the Nanjangud 
plant in India have been improved to include a 
recycling process for acid etchant – the first of 
its kind in the printed circuit board industry. The 
initiative earned AT&S India an Environment 
Management Systems award from Elcina-Dun & 
Bradstreet.

Recycling�waste�from�PCB�production�
Disposal of waste from the manufacture of printed 
circuit boards at our two largest sites – Shanghai 
and Leoben-Hinterberg – is handled externally. 
Valuable metals such as copper, nickel and gold 
are separated from the board and recycled. Around 
30% of a printed circuit board can be reused.  

Reducing�CO2�emissions
Although the CO

2
 emissions generated by printed 

circuit board production are relatively low, AT&S 
is also committed to playing its part in reducing 
greenhouse gases. A number of measures will be 
implemented at all of our plants during the finan-
cial year 2010/11 to provide detailed information 
on energy saving and raise employee awareness 
of the issue. We anticipate a 5% reduction in CO

2 

emissions in the current financial year, and emis-
sions will also be included as a key environmental 
performance indicator. As a result of our energy-
saving initiatives we aim to cut emissions by 
around 7% per year. 

Our exemplary environmental management sys-
tem has also won plaudits from our customers: the 
Shanghai plant has won the title of Canon Green 
Partner, while Leoben, Fehring and Shanghai are 
all certified Sony Green Partners. 

The AT&S Environmental Report provides full de-
tails of our environmental performance indicators 
and is available for download from our website at 
www.ats.net.

Social responsibility 
Fulfilling its responsibilities as a corporate citizen 
is central to AT&S’s way of thinking. This means 
going beyond simple compliance with minimum 
legal requirements for socially responsible be-
haviour. We aim to make a significant contribu-
tion to the welfare of people living in the catch-
ment areas of our plants around the world by 
supporting health care and education projects. 

Last year we supported the construction of a fully 
equipped medical centre and a kindergarten in In-
dia. In early 2010 we also funded a multimedia 
room for a Down syndrome competence centre in 
Leoben-Hinterberg, the only one of its kind in Eu-
rope. The new room meets all of the educational 
needs of children and young people with trisomy 
21, and also enables parents to gain an insight into 
the latest discoveries in modern brain research. 
Our support for a range of social projects close 
to our plants has benefited countless people and 
organisations. But sustainability is not just an in-
tegral part of our corporate philosophy; it is also a 
guiding principle for every employee. For example, 
AT&S India staff donated one day’s salary to help 
the victims of severe flooding in their region fol-
lowing heavy rainfall in September 2009. The em-
ployees’ donation was matched by the Company.



28

MarketEnvironment–fromCrisistoBoom

Over�the�next�five�
years,�i.e.�until�the�

end�of�2014,�volumes�
in�the�printed�circuit�
board�market�are�
expected�to�reach�

USD�52.5bn�per�year,�
an�annual�growth�rate�

(CAGR)�of�5.3%.

Growth�of�printed�circuit�board�market�

The financial year 2009/10 was overshadowed by 
the impacts of the economic crisis. Compared with 
the previous year, global production of printed cir-
cuit boards dropped by 15.8% to USD 40.6bn. No re-
gion escaped the effects: production in Europe fell 
by 45.7%, in the USA by 23.5%, in Japan by 18.8%, 
and in Asia (excluding Japan) by 10.6%. Individual 
technologies also suffered considerable declines: 
hardest hit were single-sided and double-sided 
printed circuit boards, with a drop of 19.0%. Al-
most as badly affected were multilayers, which 
fell 16.9% and HDI printed circuit boards, which 
were down 15.1%. Flexible printed circuit boards 
escaped with the least damage, losing only 10.9%. 

AT&S put the crisis to good use by repositioning 
itself in the marketplace, optimising its activi-
ties and driving vital research and development 
projects forward. For many of our weaker com-
petitors, however, the collapse of the markets 
either spelt the death knell or forced them to 
massively downsize their businesses. This thor-
oughly healthy market rationalisation reduced the 
number of printed circuit board manufacturers 
around the world to about 2000. 

There are only 289 printed circuit board manufac-
turers left in Europe, down from 307 a year ago. 
The number of small businesses with revenues of 
up to EUR 2m increased by 11 to 131, while there 
was a sharp decline in numbers of larger com-
panies. There are now only three manufacturers 
with revenues exceeding EUR 50m, compared with 
seven a year ago, and 39 with sales of between EUR 
10m and EUR 50m, down from 50 in the previous fi-
nancial year. The five largest printed circuit board 
producers account for some 22% of total European 
production volumes. The 20 largest manufactur-
ers have a 47% market share. Germany remained 
the largest European producer of printed circuit 
boards – the country’s 72 manufacturers generated 
just under 42% of total European output.

Vigorous growth of 9.2% is predicted for 2010, and 
the improvement will also affect all regions. Ac-
cording to the analysts, Asia (not including Japan) 
will notch up the highest growth rate, with 11.5%, 
followed by the USA with 5.2% and Japan with 
4.8%. The weakest growth rate is forecast for Eu-
rope – only 3.2%. From the point of view of technol-
ogies, flexible printed circuit boards are expected 
to show the strongest growth, with 11.9%. Produc-
tion of multilayers will increase by 10%, and that 
of HDI printed circuit boards by 7.3%. For single 
and double-sided printed circuit boards, growth 
rates of 4.9% are expected. 

Over the next five years, i.e. until the end of 2014, 
volumes in the printed circuit board market are 
expected to reach USD 52.5bn per year, an annual 
growth rate (CAGR) of 5.3%. This will be largely 
attributable to production in China, which is ex-
pected to grow by 9.3% yearly. Production levels in 
America, Europe and Japan are expected to remain 
constant. While sales of single-sided and double-
sided printed circuit boards are expected to grow 
by an average of 2.7%, growth rates for all other 
technologies are expected to be substantially in 
excess of 5%.

Market Environment – 
from Crisis to Boom
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Development of end markets 
Automotive
According to VDA (the German Association of the 
Automotive Industry), world automobile produc-
tion fell by around 13% in 2009. Production in Eu-
rope was down by about 22%, and in the USA by as 
much as 34%. Only China registered growth – an im-
pressive 48%. Printed circuit board sales to the au-
tomotive sector in the last financial year slumped 
by more than 20%. For 2010, analysts are predict-
ing a growth rate of more than 7%, and average an-
nual growth until 2014 is expected to be nearly 6%.   

Industrial
The Industrial market suffered massively in last 
year’s economic climate; production of printed cir-
cuit boards collapsed by around 19% worldwide. 
For 2010, analysts are assuming strong growth 
in the region of 11%. In the industrial sector, the 
market for printed circuit boards is expected to 
increase in value by an average of 5% annually 
until at least 2014. 

Mobile�Devices
After years of at times tumultuous increases, sales 
of mobile telephones fell by around 7% in 2009. 
Only the smartphone segment continued its rapid 
growth, putting on a good 19%. 

The market for mobile telephones can increasingly 
be divided into a low-cost segment and a high tech-
nology, high-end segment (e.g., smartphones). In 
the low-cost segment the aim is to reduce produc-
tion costs as far as possible and to use printed 
circuit boards produced with the simplest and 
least expensive technologies. The high-end seg-
ment, in contrast, employs increasingly complex 
applications – the desire for ever thinner, smaller 
devices means that extremely rapid technological 
development can still be expected. 

In crisis-ridden 2009, sales of other mobile devices 
fell by some 3%, but for 2010 analysts are forecast-
ing growth of more than 7%.

Printed�circuit�board�market�by�technology�

Development�of�mobile�telephone�sales:�number�of�units�
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Award-winning 
Investor Relations 

IR�at�AT&S�voted�
No.�2�in�Austria�by�

public�acclaim

The goal we pursue in our investor relations activi-
ties is to provide all capital market participants 
with up-to-date corporate information – transpar-
ently and simultaneously. This is the one sure way 
to retain and extend the trust of shareholders and 
the financial community in the AT&S Group.  

Because of the turbulent economic times and the 
restructuring measures necessary, the financial 
year 2009/10 was especially challenging. By com-
municating clearly, comprehensively and logically 
what we were doing and how our figures looked, 
we were successful in achieving an increase in in-
vestors’ and analysts’ trust. The proof of this is the 
very positive performance of AT&S’s share price.   

Direct contact with investors and analysts 
At the start of the financial year there was very 
little interest on the part of investors in AT&S 
roadshows. Given the market environment, many 
of our existing and potential investors preferred 
to concentrate on highly capitalised companies, 
or raised the minimum threshold for permitted 
investments. AT&S was no longer a qualifying 
investment. During this time, making telephone 
contact with existing and also potential investors 
proved to be a useful strategy. 

Stock market interest began to revive again in the 
autumn, and AT&S then made presentations at a 
number of investor roadshows. During the finan-
cial year 2009/10 AT&S was also represented at 
two important investor conferences, and used the 
opportunities for numerous one-on-one discus-
sions.

The annual Capital Markets Day took place on  
26 November 2009. The day began with a review 
of the events of the past 12 months. Other ma-
jor topics included expected developments in the 
printed circuit board market, the overall AT&S 
Group strategy, and the strategies of the individ-
ual business segments. A review of the financial 
position and an overview of the latest technologi-
cal achievements and projects, which are designed 
to further strengthen AT&S’s position as a technol-
ogy leader in its sector, brought the day to a close.

Share price 
The market price of AT&S stock at the start of the 
financial year was EUR 3.05. After a sharp rise 
culminating in an intraday high of EUR 4.76 the 
price fell back significantly, first as a result of the 
announcement of the annual results for 2009/10, 
and then when the second set of restructuring 
measures for Leoben-Hinterberg was announced. 
Afterwards, investors’ confidence returned, and 
the share price climbed to an intraday high of 
EUR 7.40 on 30 September 2009. Following the very 
rapid increase in share price in the second quar-
ter of AT&S’s financial year, the stock lost ground 
as compared with the ATX Prime in the follow-
ing weeks. However the information made public 
during the Capital Markets Day on 26 November 
2009 gave the market price a renewed boost. From 
then on we successfully intensified our investor 
relations activities, with positive effects on the 
share price, which continued to put on value. At 
the beginning of March the price broke through the  
EUR 8.00 barrier to close the financial year at  
EUR 8.25. The stock had climbed 270% in the  
course of the financial year 2009/10, while the 
ATX rose 161% over the same period. 

AT&S against the ATX Prime
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Basic�information��
AT&S�share�

AT&S share performance overview

The positive performance of its stock considerably 
improved AT&S’s standing in the Vienna Stock Ex-
change’s ATX watchlist over the course of the year. 
In terms of market capitalisation, AT&S improved 
its position from 29th at the outset to 25th, and in 
terms of trading volumes from 34th to 29th.

Dividends 
AT&S continues to adhere to its long-standing, con-
servative dividend policy of distributing roughly 
10% of the annual cash earnings to the sharehold-
ers. In line with this policy, at the Annual General 
Meeting on 7 July 2010 AT&S’s Management Board 
will propose a dividend of EUR 0.10 per share for 
the financial year 2009/10.

Share buy-back programme
A resolution of the 14th Annual General Meeting 
of 3 July 2008 authorises the repurchase of up to 
10% of the issued share capital within 30 months. 
At 31 March 2010 AT&S held 2,577,412 shares, rep-
resenting 9.95% of the issued share capital. About 
51% of the shares are in the free float. 

In the financial year 2009/10 no further shares 
were repurchased under the stock repurchase 
programme.

Research Coverage
In the year under review the number of analysts 
covering AT&S fell significantly. This is attribut-
able to cost cutting, capacity reductions and/or 
restructuring in the banks, and AT&S’s relatively 
low market capitalisation (seen in an international 
context). 

in EUR 2009/10 2008/09** 2007/08*

High 8.37 13.56 20.44

Low 2.99 2.60 9.00
Year end close 
(31 March) 8.25 2.95 10.29

The following analysts currently publish research 
reports on AT&S:
 � Deutsche Bank:

Uwe Schupp
 � Erste Bank:

Thomas Unger/Daniel Lion
 � Landesbank Baden-Württemberg:

Stephan Wittwer
 � Raiffeisen Centrobank:

Daniel Damaska

Shareholdings

Financial calendar 

Investor Relations 
MartinTheyer
Tel: +43 (0) 3842 200-5909
E-mail: ir@ats.net
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* Listing on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange
**  Figures reflect listing from 20 May 2008 on the 

Vienna Stock Exchange

16th Annual General Meeting 7 July 2010 

Quarter 1 2010/11 22 July 2010 

Dividend payment day and 
ex-dividend date 28 July 2010 

Quarter 2 2010/11 21 October 2010 

Quarter 3 2010/11 25 January 2011 

Annual results 2010/11 12 May 2011 

Security ID 
number 969985 
ISIN code AT0000969985 
Symbol ATS 
Reuters RIC ATSV.VI 
Bloomberg ATS AV 
Listing Vienna Stock 

Exchange 
Indexes ATX Prime, WBI 
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Healthy Financing 
The�Management�

currently�sees�
AT&S’s�financial�
position�as�very�

healthy.�There�are�
sufficient�written�and�
orally�agreed�lines�
of�credit�available.

Financing policy 
Subject to any local regulations, AT&S adopts a 
centralised treasury approach to finances, with 
external borrowing predominantly carried out 
by AT&S AG. A detailed summary of the various 
sources of finance, including the respective matu-
rities, is given in Note 17 in the Notes to Financial 
Statements (page 85ff).

Net debt 
Cost-saving measures and the significantly 
lower capital investments reduced net debt by  
EUR 26.4m to EUR 148.0m in the financial year 
2009/10. In the first half of the financial year,  
equity fell from EUR 252.7m to EUR 173.5m, and 
net gearing rose to 95.4%, principally as a result 
of the consolidated loss in the first quarter and 
adverse currency effects amounting to EUR 25.1m. 
In the second half AT&S’s consolidated results 
improved considerably and currency movements 
were favourable. As a result, at 31 March 2010  
equity totalled EUR 208.8m and net gearing stood 
at 70.9%.

Sources of finance 
Total borrowings as at 31 March 2010 amounted to 
EUR 175.7m: 79% of borrowings with maturities of 
more than one year were at fixed interest rates, and 
21% at variable rates (but hedged with interest rate 
swaps). Of the total debt, 99% was euro-denomi-
nated, and 1% denominated in other currencies. 
Outstanding loans of EUR 35.4m were subject to 
financial covenants; AT&S was in compliance with 
all of these.  In the course of the financial year AT&S 
further improved the term profile of borrowings.

Financing�maturities�

Bond 
The EUR 80m bond issued in May 2008 matures on 
27 May 2013. The coupon is fixed at 5.5% p.a. The 
bond (ISIN: AT0000A09S02) is listed on the Vienna 
Stock Exchange Third Market.

Export loans from  
the Oesterreichische Kontrollbank (OeKB) 
OeKB finances exports of goods and services if 
these directly or indirectly benefit the Austrian 
balance of payments. The bank provides short-
term revolving loan facilities for large companies 
up to a maximum of 15% of total export revenue. 

Status and outlook 
We currently see AT&S’s financial position as 
very healthy: we have sufficient written and orally 
agreed lines of credit available. In the light of our 
customers’ strongly growing needs for additional 
capacity, capital investments of some EUR 80m 
are planned. Assuming exchange rates remain un-
changed, this could mean that the gearing ratio 
will rise to as much as 100%. We are expecting 
the additional capacity to generate considerable 
growth and a significant increase in cash flows, 
which in turn will have a positive effect on net 
gearing. 

Net�debt�2009/10�and�2008/09�
in EUR m 31 March 2010 31 March 2009 

Current financial liabilities  70.5  98.5

+ Non-current financial liabilities  105.2  97.1

- Cash and cash equivalents (13.4) (7.0)

- Current financial assets (14.2) (14.0)

- Non-current financial assets (0.1) (0.1)

Netdebt 148.0 174.4

in EUR m 
< 1 

year 
1-2

years
2-3

years
3-4

years Total

Bonds 3.7 79.7 83.4

Export loans 36.0 36.0
Loans for state 
authorities 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.5
Bank 
borrowings 29.2 9.3 6.2 9.3 54.0
Derivatives & 
other 1.4 0.4 1.8

Total 70.5 9.5 6.3 89.4 175.7
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Business Developments 
Profitability 
Income�statement�

Revenues�fell�sharply�
in�the�first�quarter�

of�the�financial�year�
2009/10,�owing�

to�the�challenging�
economic�climate.�
However,�demand�

rose�rapidly�starting�in�
mid-August,�and�from�
September�onwards,�
all�plants�were�once�

again�working�at�
close�to�full�capacity.

(inEURm) 2009/10
as%oftotal
revenues 2008/09

as%oftotal
revenues Change

Revenues 372.2 100.0% 449.9 100.0% (17.3%)

Cost of sales (327.3) (87.9%) (383.5) (85.3%) 14.7%
Gross profit 44.9 12.1% 66.4 14.7% (32.4%)
Selling costs (18.8) (5.1%) (22.4) (5.0%) 16.1%

General and administrative costs (17.7) (4.8%) (21.2) (4.7%) 16.5%

Other operating result 2.6 0.7% 3.9 0.9% (32.0%)
Non-recurring items (36.5) (9.8%) (27.6) (6.1%) (32.2%)

Operating result (25.6) (6.9%) (1.1) (0.2%) (2,312.2%)

Financial result (8.4) (2.2%) 1.3 0.3% (760.5%)
Profit before tax (33.9) (9.1%) 0.2 0.0% (16,593.5%)

Income tax expense (3.7) (1.0%) (6.0) (1.3%) 38.3%

Profitfortheyear (37.6) (10.1%) (5.8) (1.3%) (550.0%)

thereof minority interest (0.3) (0.1%) (0.4) (0.1%) 15.9%
thereof equity holders of the company (37.3) (10.0%) (5.4) (1.2%) (593.3%)

Earnings per share (in EUR) (1.6) (0.2)

Revenues 
Revenues fell sharply in the first quarter of the 
financial year 2009/10, owing to the challenging 
economic climate. However, demand rose rapidly 
starting in mid-August, and in September all sites 
were once again working at close to full capacity. 
Revenues reached around EUR 100m in both the 
third and fourth quarter. 

Volume production was relocated from the Leoben-
Hinterberg plant to Asia in summer 2009. This re-
sulted in a reduction in volume production capac-
ity, as the new capacity created in Asia was smaller 
than that which was decommissioned in Austria. 
Consequently Mobile Devices saw its contribution 
to total revenues fall from 64% in the financial year 
2008/09 to 59% in 2009/10. The Leoben-Hinterberg 
plant is now fully focused on the requirements of 
the European market. Combined with successful 
sales activities, this new focus has helped to im-
prove the revenue contribution of the Industrial 
business from 24% to 28%. The market rationali-
sation brought about by the economic crisis had 
a major impact on some of AT&S’s best-known 
competitors, especially in the Automotive sector. 

Despite the difficult operating conditions, AT&S’s 
Automotive business posted a 2 percentage points  
year-on-year increase in revenue contribution to 
11%.

2009/10

Mobile Devices Industrial Automotive Other
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inEURm 2009/10

as%of
total

revenues
EBIT (25.5) (6.9%)

+ restructuring Leoben-

Hinterberg/cost-
   cutting programme

 � impairments 16.9

 � other expenses 19.6
EBIT  

excl. non-recurring items 11.0 2.9%
Financial result (8.4)

Profit before tax 2.6 0.7%

Income tax expense (3.7)

Profitfortheyear
excl.one-timeexpenses (1.1) (0.3%)

Earnings per share (in EUR) (0.03)

Revenues�produced�in�Europe�and�Asia�
over�the�last�years

100%

50%

0%

2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10

Europe Asia

35% 41% 53% 61% 67%

65% 59% 47% 39% 33%

The breakdown by countries shows that 47% of 
revenues were generated in Europe. The largest 
markets in the region were Germany (EUR 88.3m), 
Hungary (EUR 39.8m) and Austria (EUR 18.0m). 
Asia accounted for 34% of revenues, while the USA 
and Canada contributed 17% to the total. Around 
2% was attributable to other countries.

Earnings 
As with revenues, AT&S’s profitability was severe-
ly impacted by the economic downturn. Capacity 
utilisation was extremely weak at all sites in the 
first quarter. In an industry like printed circuit 
board manufacturing where fixed costs are high, 
capacity under-utilisation puts significant pres-
sure on margins. Minimising purchase prices was 
also a higher priority for our customers. This had a 
particularly harsh effect on earnings from volume 
production at Leoben-Hinterberg and operating 
results turned negative by EUR 11.8m. Since vol-
ume production at the Leoben-Hinterberg site was 
no longer economical, it was moved to Asia, and 
operations at the Austrian facility were realigned. 

Expenses in the past financial year for the reloca-
tion of capacity and other cost reduction measures 
totalled EUR 36.5m. We began to see the effective-
ness of these measures in the second quarter, when 
earnings again turned positive. The third quarter 
was one of the most profitable in the Group’s his-
tory, thanks to the reduced cost base and strong 
capacity utilisation across all of our plants. The 
EBIT margin came out at 6.2% in spite of the less 
attractive product mix in the fourth quarter, the 
decline in manufactured value at the Shanghai 
plant as a result of the Chinese New Year holiday, 
and sharp increases in raw material and energy 
costs. In the preceding year the EBIT margin still 
stood at -1.5%. 

Earnings�excl.�non-recurring�items�

Dividends 
AT&S remains committed to its conservative divi-
dend policy – the distribution of around 10% of 
cash earnings. In line with this policy, the Manage-
ment Board will propose a dividend of EUR 0.10 at 
the Annual General Meeting on 7 July 2010. 

The�Management�
Board�will�propose��
a�dividend�of��
EUR�0.10�at�the��
Annual�General��
Meeting�on��
7�July�2010.

Our Asian facilities accounted for 67% of total rev-
enues in the period under review, up from 61% a 
year earlier (before the relocation of volume pro-
duction from Austria to Asia). Asia’s contribution 
to revenue will continue to grow as the planned 
expansion in capacity there is implemented.
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Financial standing 
Balance�sheet�(summary)�

inEURm 31March2010 Structure 31March2009 Structure Change
Non-current assets 326.0 67.4% 365.2 68.0% (10.7%)

Current assets 157.4 32.6% 171.6 32.0% (8.3%)

TOTALASSETS 483.4 536.8

Equity 208.8 43.2% 252.7 47.1% (17.4%)

Non-current liabilities 135.6 28.1% 126.2 23.5% 7.5%
Current liabilities 139.0 28.8% 157.9 29.4% (12.0%)

TOTALEQUITYAND
LIABILITIES 483.4 536.8

Total assets amounted to EUR 483.4m at 31 March 
2010, of which non-current assets accounted for 
67.4%. The value of property, plant and equipment 
declined by EUR 41.3m during the period under re-
view due to scheduled depreciation for the period 
and impairments connected with the restructuring 
of the Leoben-Hinterberg plant. The EUR 14.2m 
fall in current assets was mainly due to a reduction 
in inventories and receivables. 

Equity at the balance sheet date totalled  
EUR 208.8m. This represented a year-on-year de-
crease of EUR 43.9m and was the result of significant 
non-recurring expenses and the dividend payment. 
The equity ratio remained strong at 43.2%, despite 
slipping by about 3.8 percentage points. In the fi-
nancial year 2009/10 no further shares were repur-
chased under the share buy-back programme. As at  
31 March 2010 AT&S held 2,577,412 treasury 
shares, or 9.95% of the issued share capital, with 
a total acquisition cost of EUR 46.6m. 

Optimising the maturities of financial liabilities 
was a major priority during the financial year 
2009/10. In consequence, long-term borrowings 
increased by EUR 9.5m at the balance sheet date, 
while short-term borrowings were reduced by EUR 
19.0m. During the financial year 2009/10, total 

borrowings fell by EUR 9.5m, and net debt dropped 
by EUR 26.4m to EUR 148m. The resulting gearing 
ratio was 70.9% – virtually unchanged from the 
69.1% recorded at the end of the previous financial 
year, despite the reduction in equity. More detailed 
information on the Group’s sources of funds can 
be found under Financing in this report.

Cash flow 
Although consolidated net income turned negative 
as a result of non-recurring expenses, the net cash 
generated from operating activities improved by 
21% on the previous year to EUR 47.0m. This was 
chiefly attributable to the EUR 27.5m fall in net 
working capital. 

Net capital expenditure for property, plant and 
equipment, and in particular for investments in 
maintenance, fell sharply by 66.8% to EUR 19.5m. 
As a result capital expenditure amounted to 5.2% 
of revenues. 

Net cash generated from financing activities 
came to EUR 22.8m in the financial year 2009/10. 
Financial liabilities had risen by EUR 20.7m in 
the preceding financial year, but in the financial 
year 2009/10 liabilities were reduced by a total of  
EUR 19.5m. 

Although�consolidated�
net�income�turned�

negative�as�a�result�of�
non-recurring�ex-

penses,�the�net�cash�
inflow�from�operating�
activities�improved�by�
21%�on�the�previous�
year�to�EUR�47.0m.�
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Looking Forward to Growth 
Markets growing again 
Analysts are forecasting annual growth of about 
9% for the printed circuit board industry in 2010. 
Asian markets are tipped to return the steepest 
rise, with increases in output of about 11.5%, and 
growth in demand of around 14.4%. European mar-
kets are forecast to remain stable.  

Capacity expansion in Shanghai 
AT&S’s Mobile Devices business specialises in 
the high-end segment of the market, i.e., techno-
logically advanced smartphones. According to the 
analysts, sales of these types of handset will grow 
by an average of 20% p.a. over the next few years. 
We are also noting increased demand for highly 
complex printed circuit boards for use in other 
mobile devices (digital cameras, games consoles, 
mobile music players), automotive applications 
and notebooks. In addition to greater volumes of 
the already popular HDI printed circuit boards, 
the demand is for increasingly complex PCBs with 
greater numbers of layers. Overall, this points to-
wards snowballing demand for HDI capacities. We 
have therefore decided to install additional capac-
ity for HDI printed circuit boards at our Shanghai 
plant, which specialises in volume production of 
this technology. Around EUR 55m will be invested 
in China in the financial year 2009/10.

New plant in India 
In the year under review we registered a large jump 
in demand for medium series runs of double-sided 
and multi-layered printed circuit boards. In re-
sponse we have accelerated work on completing 
the second plant in Nanjangud. Around EUR 10m 
has been earmarked for investment during the cur-
rent financial year, and production is scheduled to 
begin in autumn 2010.

Strategic realignment for Leoben-Hinterberg 
With completion of the transfer of volume pro-
duction from Leoben-Hinterberg to Asia in the fi-
nancial year 2009/10, the focus of activities in the 
current financial year will shift to realigning the 
Austrian plant to meet European demand (smaller 
volumes, prototypes, special products) and build-
ing up the site’s role as AT&S’s technology centre. 
As demand for printed circuit boards produced 
in India currently outstrips our capacity there 

by a considerable margin, during the first half of 
2010/11 orders will temporarily be produced by 
Leoben-Hinterberg. This will mean lower avail-
able capacity for high-margin European business 
– the product mix will be less favourable, and prof-
itability will be down in the first six months of
the financial year. With the ramp-up of the second
plant, India will take back the outsourced orders,
ensuring high capacity utilisation from the start.

Technology leader 
AT&S see itself as a technology leader for the print-
ed circuit board industry, a position that it will 
continue to strengthen and extend in future. To 
maintain its lead, around EUR 10m will be invested 
in new technologies in the financial year 2010/11. 
A further EUR 5m will be spent on maintenance of 
existing plant and machinery. 

Investment in profitable growth 
In the financial year 2010/11 a total of about  
EUR 80m will be invested in growing the AT&S 
Group, with around two thirds of this amount 
scheduled for the first half of the financial year. 
This could see the gearing ratio rise as high as 100% 
during the year – assuming exchange rates remain 
unchanged. The additional capacity is expected to 
generate a healthy increase in revenues, to roughly 
EUR 435m in the current financial year, with an 
EBIT margin of over 7%. The unfavourable product 
mix at Leoben-Hinterberg will continue to depress 
Group profitability during the first half of the fi-
nancial year 2010/11. Since the tax credits gen-
erated by the construction of the Shanghai plant 
were exhausted in 2009, AT&S Group can expect 
the effective tax rate to be in the region of 25%.

Guidance FY 2010/11
Revenues:� ca.�EUR�435m�

EBIT�margin: >�7%

Effective��
tax�rate:� ca.�25%

CAPEX:� ca.�EUR�80m
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Principles & 
Corporate Governance Declaration 
AT&S Austria Technologie & Systemtechnik AG (AT&S) declares 
its voluntary adherence to the Austrian Code of Corporate Gov-
ernance (ÖCGK) in the version of January 2010. 

Code of Corporate Governance 
In Austria the Corporate Governance Code drawn up by the Work-
ing Group for Corporate Governance under the guidance of the 
Special Government Authorities Responsible for the Capital Mar-
ket has been in force since 1 October 2002. Since then it has been 
reviewed annually and where necessary amended, most recently 
with effect from 1 January 2010. The Code contains all the rules 
essential to good corporate governance, divided into the follow-
ing categories: 

 � L Rules (legal requirement): rules referring to mandatory legal
requirements

 � C Rules (comply or explain): rules from which any deviation
must be explained and reasons stated

 � R Rules (recommendation): rules in the nature of recommenda-
tions, where non-compliance requires neither disclosure nor
explanation.

The German version of the ÖCGK currently in force can be down-
loaded from the Working Group’s website, www.corporate govern-
ance.at. An English translation and interpretations of the Code 
prepared by the Working Group are also available on the website. 

AT&S has for many years followed a strategy designed to further 
long-term, sustainable growth in the Group’s value. Since May 
2008 AT&S’s stock has been listed on the Vienna Stock Exchange, 
and since that date the Company has explicitly committed it-
self to the Austrian Code of Corporate Governance (ÖCGK). An 
undertaking to comply with the ÖCGK is also a requirement for 
Austrian companies looking to be listed on the Vienna Exchange’s 
Prime Market. Management in accordance with the principles of 
good corporate governance involves open discussion between the 
Management and Supervisory Boards, and within these bodies. 

With the following, AT&S complies as of 31 March 2010 with all 
the required provisions of the ÖCGK in the version of January 
2010:

C�Rules�27�–�28a�and�all�other�passages�referring�to�them��
These Rules were revised in the most recent amended version of 
the ÖCGK in December 2009. Andreas Gerstenmayer was appoint-
ed Chairman of the Management Board of AT&S in the middle of 
December; given the closeness in time of the appointment to the 
revision of the rules, the new provisions were not incorporated 
into the contract of appointment signed by Mr Gerstenmayer in 
January 2010.

Bodies of a Stock Company (Aktiengesellschaft)
The Management Board is responsible for managing the affairs 
of the company so as to further the wellbeing of the company 
and the interests of shareholders, the employees and the general 
public. Members of the Management Board are appointed by the 
Supervisory Board. 

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the man-
agement of the company and must meet at least once a quarter. 
Members of the Supervisory Board are appointed by the General 
Meeting. In addition, the employee representatives are entitled to 
delegate a Supervisory Board member from their midst for every 
two Supervisory Board members elected by the General Meeting. 

The General Meeting is the primary forum for shareholders to 
exercise their participatory decision-making rights as provided 
under statute and the company’s articles of incorporation. 
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The Management Board is collectively responsi-
ble for the management of the Company. Without 
prejudice to their collective responsibility, each 
member of the Management Board is responsible 
for specific areas of the business. Management 
Board members must keep each other informed of 
all important business events and transactions. 
Fundamental issues of business policy and major 
decisions require the joint decision of all the mem-
bers of the Management Board. If the decisions are 
not unanimous, the Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board must be informed without delay. The Super-
visory Board must also be informed of all proposed 
decisions with far-reaching consequences. 

The rules and procedures of AT&S’s Management 
Board require the Board to meet at least once a 
month. In the past financial year there were a total 
of 30 Board meetings. Written minutes of all Board 
meetings and decisions must be taken. 

At 31 March 2010 the members of the Management 
Board were Andreas Gerstenmayer (Chairman) 
Steen Ejlskov Hansen (Deputy Chairman and CFO) 
and Heinz Moitzi (CTO). 

Harald Sommerer resigned from the Management 
Board with effect from 31 January 2010.  

Andreas Gerstenmayer – Chairman  
From�1�February�2010,�appointed�until�
31�January�2013�
Andreas Gerstenmayer, born on 18 February 1965, 
is a German national and a graduate in mechani-
cal engineering from University of Applied Sciences 
Rosenheim. He joined the Siemens Group in Ger-
many in 1990, beginning his career in the light-
ing technology department. Subsequently, he held 
various managerial positions in the Siemens Group. 
In 2003 he became Managing Director of Siemens 
Transportation Systems GmbH Austria and CEO of 
the Suspension Systems Business Unit Graz (World 
Headquarters). Since 1 January 2009 Andreas Ger-
stenmayer has been principal shareholder in FO-
CUSON Business Consulting GmbH. On taking up 
his appointment as Chairman of the AT&S Man-
agement Board he ceased to be involved in day-to-
day consulting operations. Andreas Gerstenmayer 
holds no appointments on the Supervisory Boards 
of other stock exchange listed companies. 

His specific managerial responsibilities are for 

AT&S AG Management Board
sales and marketing, human resources, investor 
relations / public relations / internal communica-
tions, and business development and strategy. As 
Chairman of the Management Board he is responsi-
ble for implementing the decisions and resolutions 
of the Management Board, the Supervisory Board 
and the shareholders’ General Meeting, and for see-
ing that they are carried out. 

Steen Ejlskov Hansen – Chief Financial Officer 
From�1�April�2004,�appointed�until�31�March�2014�
Steen Hansen, born on 28 Oktober 1958, is a Danish 
citizen. He studied in Copenhagen and South Africa, 
where he graduated with a business degree from the 
University of South Africa. Between 1979 and 1994 
he worked for The East Asiatic Company, where he 
exercised a wide range of management responsi-
bilities in Scandinavia, Australia, Great Britain and 
Germany. He was Finance Director with Rasmussen 
& Schlötz GmbH in Germany from 1994 to 1996, 
before moving to the ACO Group as CFO in 1999. 
Between 1999 and 2003 Steen Hansen was Manag-
ing Director of Roto Frank AG. 

Since 8 June 2005 he has also been Deputy Chair-
man of the Management Board. His specific mana-
gerial responsibilities are for finance and account-
ing, management controlling, internal audit, legal 
and insurance, IT and organisation, supply chain 
management, and procurement.

Heinz Moitzi – Chief Technical Officer 
From�1�April�2005,�appointed�until�31�March�2013�
Heinz Moitzi, born on 5 July 1956, learned electri-
cal installation between 1971 and 1975 with Stadt-
werke Judenburg (municipal utilities). From 1976 
to 1981 he attended the higher technical college of 
electrical engineering (HTBL), where he completed 
his adult education certificate. In 1981 he worked 
as a measurement engineer at the Leoben Univer-
sity of Mining and Metallurgy. Heinz Moitzi has 
been working at AT&S since 1981, first as head 
of mechanics and electroplating, then as produc-
tion and plant manager at Leoben-Hinterberg. He 
was project manager and COO at AT&S Shanghai 
from 2001 to 2004. After his return he became Vice 
President of Production. 

Heinz Moitzi’s specific managerial responsibili-
ties are for production, research & development, 
quality, the environment, safety, maintenance, 
supply, and waste disposal.

Andreas Gerstenmayer
CEO�and�Chairman

Steen E. Hansen
Chief�Financial�Officer

Heinz Moitzi
Chief�Technical�Officer
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AT&S AG Supervisory Board 

Name


Dateofbirth

Dateof
firstappointment

Endof
currentappointment

Hannes Androsch 18.04.1938 30.09.1995* 16. oHV 2010

Willibald Dörflinger 20.05.1950 05.07.2005 16. oHV 2010
Erich Schwarzbichler 09.06.1947 30.09.1995* **
Gerhard Pichler 30.05.1948 02.07.2009 20. oHV 2014

Georg Riedl 30.10.1959 28.05.1999 17. oHV 2011

Karl Fink 22.08.1945 05.07.2005 16. oHV 2010
Albert Hochleitner 04.07.1940 05.07.2005 16. oHV 2010

Wolfgang Fleck  15.06.1962 03.09.2008***

Johann Fuchs  16.12.1959 20.11.1996***
Markus Schumy  14.08.1970 04.10.2001*** ****

Günther Wölfler 21.10.1960 10.06.2009***

* AT&S was originally a private limited company (GmbH). The shareholders’ meeting of 23 June 1995 passed a resolution changing the Company into a stock company (AG), and 
appointed Hannes Androsch and Erich Schwarzbichler to the Supervisory Board. The AG was registered in the Register of Companies on 30 September 1995.

** Erich Schwarzbichler resigned his appointment as a member of AT&S’s Supervisory Board at the Annual General Meeting on 2 July 2009. In consideration of the criterion for inde-
pendence established by the Supervisory Board that specifies that no member of the Supervisory Board may be a member of that body for more than 15 years, he wished to resign 
his appointment already in 2009 to make way for a new external financial expert. 

*** Delegated by the Works Council; date of first appointment corresponds to date of first participation in a Supervisory Board meeting. 

**** Markus Schumy left the Supervisory Board. From the meeting on 10 June 2009 Günther Wölfler was delegeted as successor,  

The Supervisory Board is responsible for decisions that involve 
subjects of fundamental importance or the strategic direction 
of the Company. 

In the financial year 2009/10 the Supervisory Board met four 
times, with the Management Board participating. In these meet-
ings the Management Board provided the Supervisory Board with 
full reports on the state of the AT&S Group’s affairs. Strategic 
projects, long-term strategy and measures to cope with the eco-
nomic crisis were discussed and decided on, together with struc-
tural and personnel changes. Additionally and outside Supervi-
sory Board meetings, the Management Board and the Chairman 
of the Supervisory Board were engaged in ongoing discussions 
on the Group’s strategic focus and the progress of its business 
activities. 

Structure 
Hannes�Androsch is Chairman of the Supervisory Board. With a 
doctorate in economics, he is a non-practising certified account-
ant and tax adviser. From 1970 to 1981 he was Austrian Federal 
Minister of Finance, and between 1976 and 1981 also served as 
Vice Chancellor. From July 1981 until 1988 he was Managing 
Director of Creditanstalt-Bankverein (now part of UniCredit 
Group). In 1994 he and Willibald Dörflinger and Helmut Zoidl 
joined in the management buy-out of AT&S. Hannes Androsch 
has interests in a number of well-known Austrian businesses. 

Hannes Androsch’s other Supervisory Board appointments in 
stock exchange listed companies are with bwin.com Interactive 
Entertainment AG, where he is chairman, and with HTI High 
Tech Industries AG. 

Willibald�Dörflinger�is Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board. 
He began his professional career in 1972 with M. Schmid & 
Söhne, moving to Honesta, Holz- und Kunststoffwarenindustrie 
in 1974. In 1978 he became head of technical procurement at 
EUMIG Elektrizitäts- und Metallwaren Industrie GesmbH, and 
from 1980 was head of the department for circuit boards and 
surface technology. Between 1986 and 1990 he was Managing 
Director. From 1990 to 1994 Willibald Dörflinger was a member 
of the AT&S Management Board as well as Managing Director 
of EUMIG Fohnsdorf Industrie GmbH. In 1994 he and Hannes 
Androsch and Helmut Zoidl joined in the management buy-out of 
AT&S, and in the period up until 2005 he was at first Managing 
Director, then a member of the Management Board and finally 
Chairman of the Management Board. In 2005 he moved to AT&S’s 
Supervisory Board. 

Willibald Dörflinger’s other Supervisory Board appointments in 
stock exchange listed companies are with HTI High Tech Indus-
tries AG and HWA AG. 

Erich�Schwarzbichler�was a member of AT&S’s Supervisory Board 
until 2 July 2009. In1970 he gained his doctorate in law. From 
1971 he worked for a major international firm of accountants 
and auditors. In 1980 he joined Österreichische Länderbank 
(subsequently Bank Austria, and now UniCredit). Between 1988 
and 2007 he was responsible for mergers & acquisitions, risk 
management, and project, investment and corporate financing 
as Director of Lending at Bank Austria (now UniCredit). Since 
July 2007 he has been living on private income. 
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Gerhard�Pichler has been a member of AT&S’s Supervisory Board 
since 2 July 2009. He studied business administration at Vienna 
University of Economics and Business. He is a certified account-
ant and tax adviser. From 1986 he was general manager of CON-
SULTATIO Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft m.b.H., and since 
1995 has been partner and Managing Director.

Karl�Fink graduated in 1971 from the University of World Trade in 
Vienna in business studies (Diplomkaufmann). From 1971 to 1975 
he worked for Marubeni Corporation in international commodi-
ties trading, before moving to Wiener Städtische Wechselseitige 
Versicherungsanstalt in Vienna. Between 1979 and 1987 he was 
Chairman of the Management Board of Interrisk – Internationale 
Versicherungs-Aktiengesellschaft. In 1987 he became a member 
of the Management Board of Wiener Städtische Allgemeine Ver-
sicherungs AG and in July 2004 Deputy Managing Director. In 
October 2007 he was appointed Managing Director of Wiener 
Städtische Versicherung AG, Vienna Insurance Group. Karl Fink’s 
active career as a member of the Management Board of Vienna 
Insurance Group came to an end on 30 September 2009. 

Karl Fink’s other Supervisory Board appointment in a stock ex-
change listed company is with Wienerberger AG.

Albert�Hochleitner�completed his studies in engineering physics 
at Vienna University of Technology in 1965. In the same year 
he joined the Siemens Group’s low voltage works in Vienna. In 
1984 he was appointed Chairman of the Management Board of 
Uher AG. In 1988 he moved to Siemens AG, where he was head of 
the electric motors business in the automotive technology sec-
tor based in Würzburg. In October 1992 he was appointed to the 
Management Board of Siemens AG Austria, becoming Chairman 
in February 1994. In 2005 he moved to the Supervisory Board of 
Siemens AG Austria. 

Georg�Riedl�acquired his doctorate in law in 1984 from the Univer-
sity of Vienna. In 1991 he set up in independent practice as Riedl 
& Ringhofer. He specialises in business, commercial, corporate 
and tax law, mergers and acquisitions, and contract law. 

Georg Riedl’s other Supervisory Board appointments in stock 
exchange listed companies are with bwin.com Interactive Enter-
tainment AG and Porr Allgemeine Baugesellschaft – A. Porr AG. 

Employees’ participation in Supervisory Boards and their com-
mittees is mandated by law, and forms part of the Austrian cor-
porate governance system. Employee representatives are entitled 
to delegate a Supervisory Board member from their midst for 
every two Supervisory Board members elected by the General 
Meeting. If the number of shareholders’ representatives is odd, 
the number of employee representatives is rounded up. This one-
third representation applies also to all Supervisory Board com-
mittees, with the exception of meetings and votes concerning the 
relationship between the company and its Management Board 
members. Resolutions appointing or dismissing a Management 
Board member and the granting of stock options in the company 
are also excepted. 

Wolfgang Fleck, Johann Fuchs and Günther Wölfler (from 10 
June 2009, as successor to Markus Schumy) were delegated to 
the Supervisory Board by the Works Council. 
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Independence of 
Supervisory Board Members 
The ÖCGK provides for the majority of Supervisory Board mem-
bers representing the shareholders to be independent. In accord-
ance with C Rule 53, the Supervisory Board has established the 
following criteria to be used in determining the independence 
of its members. 

Supervisory Board members are to be regarded as independent 
if they have no business or personal relationships with the Com-
pany or its Management Board which could be cause for material 
conflicts of interest and therefore liable to influence the behav-
iour of the member in question. The following criteria are applied 
in determining the independence of Supervisory Board members:

 � The Supervisory Board member was in the past five years nei-
ther a member of the Management Board nor a senior manager
of the Company or one of its subsidiaries.

 � The Supervisory Board member neither had during the last
financial year nor currently has a business relationship with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries of material significance
to that member. This applies also to business relationships
between AT&S Group and enterprises in which the Supervisory
Board member has a significant economic interest.

 � The Supervisory Board member was during the last three years
neither a statutory auditor of the Company, nor a person with
an interest in the audit firm, nor an employee of any such firm.

 � The Supervisory Board member is not a member of a manage-
ment board of another company where a member of AT&S’s
Management Board is a member of that company’s supervisory
board.

 � The Supervisory Board member has not been a member of the
Supervisory Board for longer than 15 years. This does not ap-
ply to Supervisory Board members who are shareholders with
entrepreneurial interests in the Company, or who represent
the interests of such shareholders.

 � The Supervisory Board member is not a close family relative
(direct descendant, spouse, lifetime partner, parent, uncle,
aunt, sibling, nephew or niece) of a Management Board member
or of any person in a position described in the foregoing points.

In the Supervisory Board meeting of 16 December 2008, all Su-
pervisory Board members representing shareholders declared 
whether for the purposes of these provisions they were independ-
ent. In the light of the consultancy agreement between AIC An-
drosch International Management Consulting GmbH and AT&S 
(see also below, under Agreements requiring approval) Hannes 
Androsch declared himself as not independent. Willibald Dör-
flinger was Chairman of the AT&S Management Board until  
30 June 2005, and for this reason also declared himself as not 
independent. All the other members of the Supervisory Board 
elected by the General Meeting declared themselves as independ-
ent. 

C Rule 54 provides that for companies with a free float in ex-
cess of 50%, at least two Supervisory Board members who are 
independent should also not be shareholders with interests in 
excess of 10%, or representatives of such interests. Messrs Fink 
and Hochleitner satisfy this requirement. 

Contracts and agreements requiring approval 
In connection with various acquisitions and projects, AT&S 
Group has received consultancy services from AIC Androsch In-
ternational Management Consulting GmbH, which is headed by 
the Chairman of AT&S’s Supervisory Board. In the financial year 
2009/10 fees for such services amounted to EUR 365,000. 
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Committees 
In the interests of enhancing the effectiveness of its supervisory 
activities and its dealings with complex technical details, the 
Supervisory Board has also established two committees to deal 
with specialised issues and report to the Supervisory Board on 
those matters. 

Audit Committee    
This committee is composed of the following members:
 � Gerhard Pichler (Chairman and financial expert)
 � Georg Riedl
 � Wolfgang Fleck

The Audit Committee concerns itself with monitoring the ac-
counting process and the work of the statutory auditor, with 
monitoring and reviewing the statutory auditor’s independence, 
with reviewing and preparing the conclusions on the annual 
financial statements, and with reviewing the proposed distri-
bution of profits, the management report and with effect from 
the financial year 2009/10 the corporate governance report. The 
Committee is responsible for reporting on the results of its re-
views to the Supervisory Board. 

The Audit Committee also does the preparatory work for the 
Supervisory Board on all issues in connection with the audit of 
the consolidated financial statements and consolidated manage-
ment report and the consolidation accounting process. 

It also prepares a proposal for the selection of the auditor for 
the financial statements and reports on this matter to the Su-
pervisory Board. 

The Audit Committee is also responsible for monitoring the ef-
fectiveness of the Group-wide internal control system and where 
appropriate the Company’s internal audit and risk management 
systems. 

In the financial year 2009/10 the Audit Committee met twice. 
Its activities concentrated on the preparation and review of the 
annual financial statements and the consolidated financial state-
ments for the year ending 31 March 2009, on the planning and 
preparation of the annual and consolidated financial statements 
for the financial year 2009/10, and on risk management activities, 
the internal control system and internal audit. The Chairman of 
the Audit Committee as a committee member is also involved in 
the quarterly reporting process and reports on that issue to the 
Audit Committee. 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
This committee is composed of the following members:
 � Hannes Androsch (Chairman)
 � Karl Fink
 � Albert Hochleitner
 � Wolfgang Fleck
 � Johann Fuchs

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee submits propos-
als to the Supervisory Board for appointments to fill vacancies 
arising on the Management Board. It concerns itself with issues 
of succession planning, with the remuneration of Management 
Board members and the details of their contracts of appointment. 
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is authorised to 
make decisions in cases of urgency. As former Chairmen of Man-
agement Boards and Managing Directors, all Supervisory Board 
members representing shareholders have specialised knowledge 
and experience of remuneration policies. 

In the past financial year, the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee met once, in order to initiate the necessary measures 
to appoint a successor to Harald Sommerer, as retiring Chairman 
of the Management Board. 
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Remuneration Report 
The following report presents the remuneration of members of AT&S’s Management and Supervisory Boards. It should be read in 
conjunction with the explanations in the notes to the annual and consolidated financial statements 2009/10. 

Management Board remuneration 
Total�remuneration�of�Management�Board�members�

The stock options held by members of the Management Board were as follows: 

* The variable remuneration of the Management Board consisted of contractual termination payments and indemnification for other entitlements in connection with the premature 
termination of the Management Board appointment.

Financial year 2009/10 Financial year 2008/09

(in EUR 1,000) Fixed Variable* Total Fixed Variable Total
Andreas Gerstenmayer 58 – 58 n.a. n.a. n.a.
Harald Sommerer       457 423 880 457 – 457
Steen E. Hansen       365 – 365 366 – 366
Heinz Moitzi       314 – 314 316 – 316

1,617 1,139

Options allotted as of 1 April 

2006 2007 2008 2009 Total
Harald Sommerer 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 160,000
Steen E. Hansen 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 120,000
Heinz Moitzi 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 120,000

Exercise price (EUR) 17.99 22.57 15.67 3.86

The current option-based remuneration of the Management 
Board is based on the AT&S Stock Option Scheme 2009–2012, 
which runs from 1 April 2009 until 1 April 2012. The options 
granted can be exercised in tranches: up to 20% after two years, 
up to 30% after three years, and up to 50% after four years fol-
lowing allotment. Stock options may be exercised in whole or in 
part after completion of the vesting period, although not during a 
restricted period. Allotted options not exercised within five years 
of the date of grant expire without compensation. 

Until the financial year 2009/10, the variable remuneration of 
the Management Board not consisting of stock options and of all 
employees whose remuneration included variable elements de-
pended on the achievement of two performance measures defined 
in the budget: economic value added (EVA) and return on capital 
employed (ROCE). The maximum bonus payable was 200%. 

Management Board members are entitled to termination ben-
efits in accordance with the Salaried Employees Act (AngG) if 
their appointments are terminated. In the event of premature 
termination of a Management Board member’s appointment for 
reasonable cause or where the function disappears for legal rea-
sons, remuneration is payable until the end of the appointment 
contract. Where a Management Board member resigns the ap-

pointment or is removed from office for severe breach of duty, 
and in case of death, payment of salary ceases at the end of the 
relevant month.

Management Board pension entitlements are defined-benefit or 
defined-contribution plans agreed individually. Messrs Hansen 
and Moitzi’s pension entitlement is 1.2% of final salary for each 
eligible year of service, with a maximum of 40%. For Andreas 
Gerstenmayer a contribution of 10% of monthly gross salary is 
paid into a pension fund. 

Retirement of Harald Sommerer from the Management Board 
As of 31 January 2010 Harald Sommerer’s Management Board ap-
pointment was ended by mutual agreement. In accordance with 
the provisions of the Stock Options Scheme, all stock options al-
lotted to him at that point became exercisable forthwith, and may 
be exercised until 31 January 2011. Any options not exercised 
by that date expire without further compensation. Harald Som-
merer received the contractually agreed termination benefits of 
four-twelfths of annual remuneration, together with lump-sum 
indemnification of other entitlements under the Management 
Board agreement, amounting to EUR 280,000 gross in total. His 
pension entitlement is vested, and it is inflation-proofed until 
payable under the terms of the agreement.  
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Supervisory Board remuneration 
Total�remuneration�and�personal�services�by�members�of�the�Supervisory�Board:�

Financial year ended 
31 March 2010 

Financial year ended 
31 March 2009 

(inEUR1,000) Fixed Variable Total Fixed Variable Total
Hannes Androsch       16 – 16       18 – 18
Willibald Dörflinger         9 – 9         9 – 9
Erich Schwarzbichler       2 – 2       11 – 11
Gerhard Pichler 9 – 9 n.a. n.a. n.a.
Georg Riedl       11 – 11 11 – 11
Albert Hochleitner       11 – 11 10 – 10
Karl Fink       10 – 10 11 – 11

68 – 68 70 – 70

The employee representatives receive no remuneration for their 
work on the Supervisory Board. 

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board receives fixed remunera-
tion of EUR 11,000 per financial year, the other elected members 
EUR 7,300. Chairmanship of a Committee is remunerated with 
a fixed amount of EUR 3,000 per financial year, membership of 
a Committee with EUR 2,000. The variable element of Super-
visory Board remuneration consists of attendance fees and a 
bonus based on AT&S achieving the level of EVA established in 
the budget. The attendance fee is generally EUR 400 per Supervi-
sory Board meeting. In addition, the Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board receives an EVA-based bonus of EUR 10,000 per financial 
year if the budgeted level is fully achieved, other members of 
the Board EUR 5,000. Members of the Supervisory Board do not 
receive stock options in the Company. 

Directors and officers liability insurance (D&O) 
The D&O insurance at AT&S covers all past, present and fu-
ture members of the managing and supervisory bodies of the 
Company and its subsidiaries. The insurance covers court and 
all other costs of defence against unwarranted claims, together 
with the satisfaction of warranted claims for pure financial loss 
arising from breaches of duty by the insured in their managerial 
or supervisory activities. The insurance is valid worldwide. The 
annual premium is paid by AT&S. 
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Directors’ Holdings & Dealings 

Other Codes of Conduct 
AT&S code of business ethics and conduct 
In addition to the ÖCGK, AT&S has established its own code of 
business ethics and conduct, which describes how AT&S con-
ducts its business in an ethical and socially responsible way. 
The guidelines apply to all AT&S’s activities worldwide, and all 
AT&S employees without exception are expected to abide by the 
Code in the exercise of their business and professional activities 
and their daily work. Stricter or more detailed guidelines may be 
established for specific regions, countries or functions, but they 
must be consistent with this corporate policy. It is a core feature 
of the code that AT&S tolerates no discrimination on the grounds, 
e.g., of race, religion, political affiliation or gender in appoint-
ments, remuneration or promotion – it is personal performance

that counts. For this reason AT&S has established no general 
provisions for the advancement of women in Management and 
Supervisory Boards and senior management positions. 

AT&S Compliance Code
We attach great importance to equal treatment of all investors 
and provision of comprehensive information. The Group has 
adopted a Compliance Code (“Extended Group Guidelines on the 
Prevention of Misuse of Insider Information”) which implements 
the provisions of the Issuers Compliance Regulation of the Aus-
trian Financial Market Authority. Compliance is monitored on 
an ongoing basis by the compliance officer. 

Shares Options under Stock Option Scheme 

(in EUR 1,000)

Holdings 
31 March 

2009 Change

Holdings 
31 March 

2010 % capital 

Holdings 
31 March 

2009 Change

Holdings 
31 March

2010 

Average 
strike price 

(EUR) 

Steen Hansen 2,000 0 2,000 0.01% 120,000 0 120,000 15.02
Heinz Moitzi 1,672 0 1,672 0.01% 120,000 0 120,000 15.02
Hannes Androsch 445,853 0 445,853 1.72%

Androsch Private Foundation 5,570,666 0 5,570,666 21.51%

Dörflinger Private Foundation 4,574,688 0 4,574,688 17.66%
Gerhard Pichler 1) 19,118 0.07%
Georg Riedl 9,290 0 9,290 0.04%

Johann Fuchs 4 500 504 0.00%

Directors retiring 
during FY 2009/10 171,878 n.a. n.a. n.a. 160,000 0 160,000 15.02

Total directors‘ holdings and
dealings 10,776,051 0 10,623,791 41.02% 400,000 0 400,000
Own shares  2) 3) 2,577,412 0 2,577,412 9.95%

Other shares in issue 12,546,537 12,698,797 49.03%

Total 25,900,000 25,900,000 100.00% 400,000 400,000

1) At 31 March 2009 not yet a member of AT&S AG Supervisory Board.
2) The nominal value of treasury stock at 31 March 2010 was EUR 2,835,153.
3) Treasury stock can be utilised for the purpose of meeting obligations under employee participation and stock options schemes, and for possible acquisitions. 

TheManagementBoard

Andreas Gerstenmayer m.p. Steen Ejlskov Hansen m.p. Heinz Moitzi m.p.
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Consolidated Income Statement 

Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income

Financial year ended 31 March

(in EUR 1,000) Note 2010 2009

Revenues 1 372,184 449,881

  Cost of sales 2 (327,301) (383,528)

Gross Profit 44,883 66,353

   Selling costs 2 (18,819) (22,427)

   General and administrative costs 2 (17,739) (21,236)

   Other operating result 4 2,646 3,892

   Non-recurring items 5 (36,533) (27,642)

Operating result (25,562) (1,060)

   Financial income 6 2,956 15,795

   Financial expense 6 (11,313) (14,530)

Financial result (8,357) 1,265

Profit before tax (33,919) 205

   Income tax expense 7 (3,698) (5,992)

Profit/(loss)fortheyear (37,617) (5,787)

thereof equity holders of the parent company (37,271) (5,376)

thereof minority interests (346) (411)

Earnings per share for profit attributable to equity holders of the parent company 
(in EUR per share): 25

- basic (1.60) (0.23)
- diluted (1.59) (0.23)

Financial year ended 31 March

(in EUR 1,000)       2010 2009

Profit/(loss)fortheyear (37,617) (5,787)

Currency translation differences (1,841) 40,292

Fair value gains/(losses) of available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax 19 (17)

Fair value gains/(losses) of cash flow hedges, net of tax (299) –   

Othercomprehensiveincomefortheyear (2,121) 40,275

Totalcomprehensiveincomefortheyear (39,738) 34,488

thereof equity holders of the parent company (39,392) 34,891

thereof minority interests (346) (403)
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Consolidated Income Statement Consolidated Balance Sheet
31 March

(in EUR 1,000) Note 2010 2009

ASSETS

Non-current assets

   Property, plant and equipment 8 308,527 349,853

   Intangible assets 9 2,037 2,238

   Financial assets 13 99 122

   Overfunded retirement benefits 18 620 46

   Deferred tax assets 7 11,124 9,962

   Other non-current assets 10 3,622 3,066

326,029 365,287

Current assets

   Inventories 11 38,700 46,998

   Trade and other receivables 12 90,976 101,013

   Financial assets 13 14,214 14,013

   Non-current assets held for sale 14 – 2,151

   Current income tax receivables 117 322

   Cash and cash equivalents 15 13,354 7,031

157,361 171,528

Totalassets 483,390 536,815

EQUITY

   Share capital 23 45,680 45,680

   Other reserves 24 (1,560) 561

   Retained earnings 164,184 205,999

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company 208,304 252,240

   Minority interests 489 494

Totalequity 208,793 252,734

LIABILITIES 

Non-current liabilities

   Financial liabilities 17 105,197 97,060

   Provisions for employee benefits 18 11,369 9,751

   Other provisions 19 12,769 7,322

   Deferred tax liabilities 7 4,664 9,845

   Other liabilities 16 1,618 2,172

135,617 126,150

Current liabilities

   Trade and other payables 16 60,436 53,022

   Financial liabilities 17 70,455 98,485

   Current income tax payables 2,611 3,449

   Other provisions 19 5,478 2,975

138,980 157,931

Totalliabilities 274,597 284,081

Totalequityandliabilities 483,390 536,815
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
Financial year ended 31 March

(in EUR 1,000) 2010 2009

Cashflowsfromoperatingactivities

Profit/(loss) of the year (37,617) (5,787)

Adjustments to reconcile profit for the year to cash generated from operations:
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment less reversal of impairment 
of fixed assets and assets held for sale  60,042  53,436
Changes in non-current provisions  5,447  6,528

Income tax expense  3,698  5,992

Financial expense/(income)  8,357 (1,265)

(Gains)/losses from the sale of fixed assets  391  88

Release from government grants (1,695) (1,105)

Other non-cash expense/(income), net (1,012)  1,303

Changes in working capital:

- Inventories  8,361  8,210

- Trade and other receivables  10,149 (4,357)

- Trade and other payables  5,652 (18,459)

- Other provisions  2,255  1,251

Cash generated from operations  64,028  45,835

  Interest paid (7,453) (5,243)

  Interest and dividends received  728  966

  Income tax paid (10,300) (2,825)

Netcashgeneratedfromoperatingactivities 47,003 38,733

Cashflowsfrominvestingactivities

Capital expenditure for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (19,742) (59,058)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 237 256

Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed 174 –

Purchases of financial assets (2,329) (3)

Proceeds from sale of financial assets 3,406 3,085

Netcashusedininvestingactivities (18,254) (55,720)

Cashflowsfromfinancingactivities

Proceeds from borrowings  44,183  118,546

Repayments of borrowings (63,675) (97,888)

Proceeds from government grants  899  1,645

Dividends paid (4,198) (7,930)

Netcashgeneratedfrom/(usedin)financingactivities (22,791) 14,373

Netincrease/(decrease)incashandcashequivalents 5,958 (2,614)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  7,031  9,364

Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and cash equivalents  365  281

Cashandcashequivalentsatendoftheyear 13,354 7,031
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Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Equity

(in EUR 1,000) 
Share 

capital 
Other  

reserves
Retained  
earnings 

Equity
attributableto
equityholders
oftheparent
company

Minority  
interests

Total
equity

31March2008 45,658 (39,714) 219,817 225,761 530 226,291

Total comprehensive income for the year – 40,275 (5,376) 34,899 (403) 34,496

Stock option plan:

   - Value of employee services 22 – – 22 – 22

Dividend relating to 2007/08 – – (7,930) (7,930) – (7,930)
Minority interests through reclassifications 
of losses attributable to minority interests – – (512) (512) 367 (145)
31March2009 45,680 561 205,999 252,240 494 252,734

Total comprehensive income for the year – (2,121) (37,271) (39,392) (346) (39,738)

Dividend relating to 2008/09 – – (4,198) (4,198)            –   (4,198)
Minority interests through reclassifications 
of losses attributable to minority interests – – (346) (346) 346 –

Changes in consolidated Group – – – – (5) (5)

31March2010 45,680 (1,560) 164,184 208,304 489 208,793
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Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements
I. General Information
A. General
AT&S Austria Technologie & Systemtechnik Aktiengesellschaft
(hereinafter referred to as “the Company”, and with its subsidi-
aries referred to as “the Group”) is incorporated in Austria. The
Company is headquartered in Austria, Fabriksgasse 13, A-8700
Leoben-Hinterberg.

The Group manufactures and sells printed circuit boards and 
provides related services primarily to the telecommunication, 
automotive and electronics industries. The products are dis-
tributed in the European and Asian market directly to original 
equipment manufacturers (OEM) as well as to contract electronic 
manufacturers (CEM).

Since 20 May 2008 the Company has been listed in the Prime 
Market segment of the Vienna, Austria, Stock Exchange and, af-
ter a period of double listing on the previous Stock Exchange in 
Frankfurt am Main, has been traded exclusively at the Vienna 
Stock Exchange since 15 September 2008. Prior to the change 
in Stock Exchange, the Company had been listed in the Prime 
Standard segment of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, Germany, 
since 16 July 1999.

According to § 245a of the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB) the 
consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS and 
IAS) and interpretations (IFRIC and SIC) as adopted by the Euro-
pean Union (EU), set by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB).

B. Summary of significant accounting policies
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost principle, except for securities and derivative
financial instruments, which are measured at their fair values.

a. Consolidation principles
The balance sheet date for all consolidated companies is
31 March 2010 with the following exception: Due to the legal
situation in China the reporting year of AT&S (China) Company
Limited corresponds to the calendar year (31 December 2009), its
consolidation was performed on the basis of the interim financial
statements as of 31 March 2010.

The consolidated financial statements have been approved for 
issue by the Board of Directors on 10 May 2010. The separate 
financial statements of the Company, which are included in the 
consolidation after reconciliation to the applicable accounting 
policies, will be presented for approval to the Supervisory Board 
on 8 June 2010. The separate financial statements of the Com-
pany can be modified by the Supervisory Board and – in case of 
presentation to the Annual General Meeting – by the Company’s 
equity holders. This could also affect the presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements.

Subsidiaries
In addition to the Company itself, the consolidated financial 
statements comprise the following fully consolidated subsidi-
aries as of that date the Company had the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of the subsidiary, regularly ac-
companied by a voting interest of more than 50%:

 � AT&S India Private Limited, India (hereinafter referred to as
AT&S India, share 100%),

 � AT&S Verwaltungs GmbH & Co KG, Germany (share 100%),
 � AT&S Deutschland GmbH, Germany (share 100%),
 � C2C Technologie für Leiterplatten GmbH, Austria (share 100%),
 � AT&S (China) Company Limited, China (hereinafter referred to

as AT&S China, share 100%),
 � DCC - Development Circuits & Components GmbH, Austria

(share 100%),
 � AT & S Klagenfurt Leiterplatten GmbH, Austria (share 77.32%),
 � AT&S Asia Pacific Limited, Hong Kong (hereinafter referred to

as AT&S Asia Pacific, share 100%),
 � AT&S Japan K.K., Japan (share 100%),
 � AT&S Korea Co., Ltd., South Korea (hereinafter referred to as

AT&S Korea, share 98.76%),
 � AT&S Americas LLC, USA (hereinafter referred to as

AT&S Americas, share 100%).



The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the ac-
quisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition is measured 
as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued 
and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of transaction, 
plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed 
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair 
values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any 
minority interests. The excess of the cost of acquisition over 
the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets 
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less 
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, 
the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

Changes�in�consolidated�Group
AT&S ECAD Technologies Private Limited, India, and its subsidi-
ary AT&S ECAD Technologies Inc., USA were deconsolidated as 
of the beginning of June 2009. 

Consolidation�policies
All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have 
been eliminated so that the consolidated financial statements 
present the accounting information of the Group as if it were 
one single company.

Investments in subsidiaries are consolidated in accordance with 
IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”, Inter-
company accounts receivable and payable as well as expenses 
and income are eliminated. Unless immaterial, intercompany 
results in non-current assets and inventories are eliminated. 
Uniform accounting and valuation methods are applied to all 
consolidated subsidiaries.

The Group considers transactions with minorities as transac-
tions with equity holders of the Group. When minority interests 
are acquired, the difference between the purchase price and the 
attributable share of net assets acquired in the subsidiary is de-
ducted from equity. Gains or losses on the sale of minorities are 
also recognised in equity. When sales are made to minorities, the 
difference between the purchase price and the attributable share 
in net assets of the subsidiary sold is also recognised in equity.

b. Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages
in business activities and whose operating results are reviewed
regularly by the entity’s chief operating decision maker. Busi-
ness activities involve earning revenue and incurring expenses,
and these may also relate to business transactions with other
operating segments of the entity. Discrete financial information
is available for the individual operating segments.

According to the internal reporting by regional production sites, 
a distinction has to be made between the two operating segments, 
Europe and Asia. The Europe operating segment includes the ac-
tivities of the production sites in Austria, and the Asia operating 
segment the activities of the production sites in China, India and 
South Korea. The operating segments also include the distribu-
tion activities attributable to the respective production sites.

c. Foreign currencies
The Group’s presentation currency is the euro (EUR). The func-
tional currency of the foreign subsidiaries is the respective local
currency.

Foreign�subsidiaries
With the exception of equity positions (historical exchange rate), 
the balance sheets of AT&S India, AT&S China, AT&S Asia Pacific, 
AT&S Japan K.K., AT&S Korea and AT&S Americas are translated 
at the exchange rates on the balance sheet date. The income state-
ments are translated at the average exchange rates of the report-
ing period. Translation adjustments are recognised in equity and 
not taken through profit or loss.

Foreign�currency�transactions
In the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities foreign 
currency items are translated at the exchange rates prevailing 
on the day of the transaction. Monetary items are translated at 
the respective exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date; 
non-monetary items which were recognised according to the his-
torical cost principle are carried at the rate of their initial recog-
nition. Translation adjustments from monetary items, with the 
exception of “securities available for sale”, are taken through 
profit or loss. Translation differences from “securities available 
for sale” are recognised directly in equity and not in the income 
statement.
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d. Revenue recognition
Net�sales
Net sales are recognised, net of sales taxes and discounts, ac-
cording to the applicable Incoterms, when the title passes to the
customer. Costs associated with product shipment and handling
are classified as selling costs.

Interest�income
Interest income is recognised on a pro rata temporis basis, taking 
into account the effective interest rate of the asset.

e. Income taxes
The income tax burden is based on the profit before income tax
and accounts for deferred taxes.  The Group provides for income
taxes using the liability method on temporary differences aris-
ing between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their car-
rying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date.

Temporary differences arise from the measurement of specific 
assets and liabilities, as well as tax loss carryforwards and am-
ortisations of goodwill.

Deferred taxes on not yet realised profits/losses of available-
for-sale securities and on profits/losses from cash flow hedging 
instruments that are recognised in equity are also recognised in 
equity. In accordance with IFRS, deferred tax assets on loss car-
ryforwards have to be recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that they will be utilised against future taxable profits.

Deferred taxes arising on temporary differences relating to par-
ticipating interests in subsidiaries are recognised unless the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

f. Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at his-
torical cost. Expenditure directly attributable to the acquisition
and subsequent expenditure are capitalised, repairs and mainte-
nance costs, however, are expensed as incurred. Borrowing costs
directly attributable to the construction of an asset are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, con-
struction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised as 
part of the acquisition or production costs of this asset. In these 
consolidated financial statements, no such borrowing costs have 
been capitalised.

From the time of their availability for use, the assets are depre-
ciated on a straightline basis over their expected useful lives. 
Depreciation is charged on a pro rata temporis basis. Land is 
not subject to depreciation.

The depreciation method is uniform for the Group and based on 
the following useful lives:

    Plants and buildings  15-50 years
    Machinery and technical equipment 5-15 years
    Tools, fixtures, furniture and 
    office equipment 3-10 years

Depreciation periods and methods are reviewed annually at the 
end of the financial year.

Expected costs for dismantling and removing assets are capital-
ised as part of acquisition costs and accounted for by a provision, 
provided that there is a legal or factual obligation against third 
parties and that a reasonable estimate can be made.

According to IAS 17 “Leases”, leased assets for which the Group 
bears substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
capitalised at their fair value or the lower present value of the 
minimum lease payments. Depreciation is effected over the use-
ful life of the asset. If at the beginning of the lease it is not suf-
ficiently certain that the title will pass to the lessee, the leased 
asset will be depreciated over the shorter of the two periods, the 
lease term or useful life. Financial obligations resulting from fu-
ture lease payments are discounted and carried as liability. Cur-
rent lease payments are split into repayment and financing costs.

Leased assets under all other lease agreements are classified as 
operating leases and attributed to the lessor. Lease payments are 
recognised as an expense.

Profits or losses resulting from the closure or retirement of non-
current assets, which arise from the difference between the re-
coverable and the carrying amounts, are credited or charged to 
the income statement.
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g. Intangible assets
Patents,�trademarks�and�licenses
Expenditures on acquired patents, trademarks and licenses are
capitalised at cost, including incidental acquisition expenses,
and amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives, gen-
erally between 4 and 10 years. Amortisation terms and methods
are reviewed annually at the end of the financial year.

Goodwill
Goodwill, which represents the excess of the cost of an acquisi-
tion over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired sub-
sidiary at the date of acquisition, is included in intangible assets.

Research�and�development�costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred and charged to cost of 
sales. Development expenditure is also expensed as incurred. An 
intangible asset arising from development shall be recognised 
if, and only if, an entity can demonstrate all of the following: 
 � the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so

that it will be available for use or sale.
 � its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it.
 � its ability to use or sell the intangible asset.
 � how the intangible asset will generate probable future eco-

nomic benefits.
 � the availability of adequate technical, financial and other re-

sources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset.

 � its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its development.

No capitalised development costs have been considered in these 
consolidated financial statements.

h. Impairment losses and reversals of impairment losses of
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and non-
current assets held for sale

The Group regularly reviews the carrying amounts of its prop-
erty, plant and equipment and intangible assets for possible 
impairment. If the recoverable amount of an asset is below its 
carrying amount, an impairment loss amounting to the differ-
ence is recognised. The recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. The value 
in use corresponds to the estimated future cash flows expected 
from the continued use of the asset and its disposal at the end 
of its useful life.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. If events during the 
financial year or changes in circumstances indicate that good-
will might be impaired, an impairment test will be carried out 
immediately. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for 
the purpose of impairment testing. 

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale and measured 
at the lower of their carrying amounts or fair values less costs 
to sell, if their carrying amount will be recovered by sale rather 
than by continuing use in the business. 

If the reason for the impairment recognised in the past no longer 
exists, with the exception of goodwill, a reversal of impairment 
up to amortised cost is made.

i. Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less variable costs necessary to make the
sale. Cost is determined by the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw
materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related produc-
tion overheads, but excludes interest expense.

j. Trade and other receivables
Receivables are reported at nominal values, less any allow-
ances for doubtful accounts. Foreign currency receivables are
translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet
date. Risk management provides for all recognisable credit and
country-specific risks.

k. Financial assets
The purchase or sale of financial assets shall be recognised and
derecognised, as applicable, using trade date accounting or set-
tlement date accounting. The fair values recognised in the bal-
ance sheet generally correspond to market prices of financial
assets. Except for financial assets “at fair value through profit
or loss” they are recognised initially including transaction costs.

Financial assets are divided into categories explained below. The 
classification depends on the respective purpose of the financial 
asset and is reviewed annually.
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Financial�assets�at�fair�value�through�profit�or�loss
Financial instruments acquired primarily for the purpose of 
earning a profit from short-term fluctuations of prices or trader 
margins are classified as financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss. At the time of their acquisition they are stated 
at cost, excluding transaction costs, in subsequent periods at 
their respective fair values. Realised and unrealised profits and 
losses are credited or charged to the income statement under 
“Financial result”. This relates primarily to securities held for 
trading. Derivative financial instruments also fall into this cat-
egory, unless hedge accounting is applied (refer to l. Derivative 
financial instruments).

Securities�held�to�maturity
Securities held to maturity are recognised at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method. Any impairment is recognised 
in profit or loss.

Loans�and�receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active 
market. In the balance sheet the respective assets are recognised 
under the item “trade and other receivables”.

Financial�assets�available�for�sale
Financial assets available for sale, on the one hand, relate to 
securities available for sale. Securities available for sale are in-
struments which management intends to sell as a reaction to or 
due to expected liquidity requirements or expected changes in 
interest rates, exchange rates or share prices. Their classifica-
tion as non-current or current assets depends on the expected 
time to be held.

At the time of acquisition they are stated at cost, including trans-
action costs, in subsequent periods at their respective fair val-
ues. Unrealised profits and losses, net of tax, are recognised in 
equity and not taken through profit or loss until they are sold or 
considered as impaired.

Interest income and dividends from securities available for sale 
are included in the income statement under “Financial result”.

When a security available for sale is sold, the accumulated unre-
alised profit or loss recognised in equity is included in “Financial 
result” in the reporting period.

When a security available for sale is considered impaired, the 
accumulated unrealised loss recognised in equity is charged to 
the income statement under “Financial result”. An asset is im-
paired, if there are indications that the fair value is below its 
carrying amount. In particular, this is the case, if the decrease in 
fair value is of such extent that the acquisition cost is unlikely to 
be recovered in the foreseeable future. Recoverability is reviewed 
annually at the balance sheet date.

Furthermore, those financial assets are recognised under availa-
ble-for-sale financial assets that have not been allocated to any 
of the other categories described. If the current fair value for 
listed equity instruments cannot be determined reliably, these 
financial assets will be measured at cost. Impairment losses, if 
any, are recognised in the income statement, and the respective 
impairment losses shall not be reversed.

l. Derivative financial instruments
The Group enters into derivative financial instruments to hedge
against foreign currency fluctuations related to transactions in
foreign currencies – in particular the US dollar. These instru-
ments mainly include forward contracts, foreign currency op-
tions and foreign exchange swap contracts and are entered into
in order to protect the Group against exchange rate fluctuations
– by fixing future exchange rates for foreign currency assets
and liabilities.

Further the Group manages its interest rate risk by using inter-
est rate swaps.

Value fluctuations of the hedged positions are compensated by 
corresponding value fluctuations of the derivatives. The Group 
does not hold any financial instruments for speculative purposes.

The first-time recognition at the conclusion of the contract and 
the subsequent measurement of derivative financial instruments 
is made at their fair values. “Hedge accounting” in accordance 
with IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measure-
ment”, according to which changes in fair values of hedging in-
struments are recognised in equity, is applied when there is an 
effective hedging relationship pursuant to IAS 39 for cash flow 
hedging instruments. When “hedge accounting” in equity is not 
applicable, unrealised gains/losses from derivative financial 
instruments are recognised in the income statement in the fi-
nancial result.
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m. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, time deposits, depos-
its held at call with banks and short-term, highly liquid invest-
ments with an original maturity of up to three months or less 
(commercial papers and money market funds).

n. Minority interests
Minority interests include the following:

 � 22.68% in AT & S Klagenfurt Leiterplatten GmbH,
 � 1.24% in AT&S Korea.

Losses from minority interests can exceed the share in equity 
of these companies attributable to these interests. The exceed-
ing amount and any additional losses attributable to minority 
interests are offset against the majority interest in total equity, 
with the exception of the amount for which the minorities have 
a binding obligation to compensate for the losses.

o. Provisions 
Provisions are recognised, if the Group has a legal or construc-
tive obligation to third parties, which is based on past events, 
if it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle this obligation and if the amount can be estimated reliably. 
The provisions are remeasured at each balance sheet date and 
adjusted accordingly.

Non-current provisions are reported at the discounted amount to 
be paid at each balance sheet date, if the interest effect resulting 
from the discounting is material.

p. Employee benefits
Retirement�benefit�obligations
The Group operates various defined contribution and defined 
benefit pension schemes.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the 
Group pays fixed contributions into an earmarked entity (fund). 
These contributions are charged to personnel expenses. No pro-
vision has to be set up, as there are no additional obligations 
beyond the fixed amounts.

For members of the Management Board and certain executive 
employees the Group has a defined benefit plan, under which 
the pension obligations are valued by qualified and independent 
actuaries at each balance sheet date. The Group’s obligation is to 
fulfil the benefits committed to current and former members of 
the Board and executive employees as well as their dependents. 
The pension obligation calculated according to the projected unit 
credit method is reduced by the plan assets of the fund in case 
of a funded pension scheme. The present value of the pension 
liability is determined on the basis of years of service, expected 
compensations and pension adjustments.

To the extent that the plan assets do not cover the obligation, 
the net liability is accrued under retirement provisions. If the 
net assets exceed the pension obligation, the exceeding amount 
is reported under “Overfunded retirement benefits”.

Personnel expenses reported in the respective financial year are 
based on expected values and include the acquired claims, the 
interest expense, the actuarial gains or losses using the corridor 
method as well as the investment results of the assets provided 
for coverage.

At each balance sheet date, due to the change in actuarial as-
sumptions (turnover rate, current market interest rate of blue 
chip fixed-income corporate bonds, compensation level and actu-
al returns on plan assets) adjustments in value result, referred to 
as actuarial gains or losses. These actuarial results are reported 
in accordance with IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” using the corridor 
method. Actuarial gains or losses exceeding the corridor (10% of 
the present value of the obligation or the fair value of plan as-
sets) are charged or credited to income over the expected average 
remaining working lives of the employees covered by the plan; 
those not exceeding the corridor are not recognised.

Termination�benefits
Provisions for termination benefits have to be paid primarily on 
termination of employment by the employer or on the retirement 
of an employee according to labour regulations. At each balance 
sheet date the liabilities are remeasured by qualified and inde-
pendent actuaries.
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For employees who joined Austrian companies up to and includ-
ing 2002 direct obligations of the company exist, which account 
for the major part of the Group’s termination benefit obligations. 
In accordance with IAS 19 these liabilities are calculated using 
the projected unit credit method, taking into consideration the 
corridor method and represent termination benefit obligations 
not covered by plan assets. Actuarial gains or losses exceeding 
the corridor are charged or credited to income over the expected 
average remaining working lives of the employees covered by 
the plan. For employees who joined as of 1 January 2003 the ter-
mination benefit obligation is fulfilled by regular contributions 
to a staff provision fund (“Mitarbeitervorsorgekasse”). These 
contributions are included in personnel expenses. The Group 
has no further payment obligations once the contributions have 
been paid. 

For employees of the companies in India obligations for termina-
tion benefits are covered by life insurances. Furthermore, termi-
nation benefit obligations exist for employees in South Korea.

Staff costs recognised in the respective financial year are based 
on expected values and include entitlements acquired, interest 
expense and the actuarial results using the corridor method.

Other�employee�benefits
Other employee benefits include provisions for anniversary bo-
nuses and relate to employees in Austria and China.

Anniversary bonuses are special lump-sum payments stipulated 
in the Collective Agreement which are dependent on compensa-
tion and years of service. Eligibility is determined by a certain 
uninterrupted number of service years. The respective liability 
is calculated in accordance with the projected unit credit method 
based on the same parameters used for termination benefits, 
however, without taking into consideration the corridor method. 
Staff costs recognised in the respective financial year include 
entitlements acquired, interest expense and the actuarial results. 
At each balance sheet date the liabilities are remeasured by quali-
fied and independent actuaries.

q. Share-based payments
The Group operates a stock option plan which is settled by the
issue of treasury shares, as well as a stock option plan which is
settled alternatively in cash or in treasury shares. These stock
option plans are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2 “Share-
based Payment”.

The fair value of the work performed by employees in return for 
the stock options granted to them is recognised as expense. The 
Group accounts for a corresponding increase in equity, if the 
work performed is compensated by the issue of treasury shares. 
Reference is made to Note 23 “Share capital”. The Group accounts 
for an increase in liability, if it is settled alternatively in cash 
or in treasury shares. Reference is made to Note 16 “Trade and 
other payables”.

r. Liabilities
At their initial recognition liabilities are measured at fair value
less transaction cost and in subsequent periods at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method. Foreign currency
liabilities are translated at the middle exchange rate prevailing
at the balance sheet date.

s. Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
the group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in 
the income statement over the period necessary to match them with 
the costs that they are intended to compensate. Government grants 
relating to assets are included in liabilities as deferred government 
grants; they are credited to the income statement on a straight-
line basis over the expected lives of the related assets. Government 
grants relating to costs and property, plant and equipment are re-
cognised in the income statement in the other operating result.

t. Contingent liabilities, contingent assets and other financial
obligations
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet,
but disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. They are
not disclosed, if an outflow of resources with economic benefit
is unlikely.

A contingent receivable is not recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements, but disclosed, if the inflow of an economic 
benefit is likely.

62

ConsolidatedFinancialStatementsasof31March2010



u. New accounting regulations
The IFRS already mandatory at the balance sheet date were
adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments. At the last balance sheet date, the IASB had already is-
sued amendments to existing standards as well as new standards
and interpretations, which are mandatory as of 2009/10. These
regulations also have to be applied in the EU and relate to the
following standards:
 � IFRS 8 “Operating segments” replaces IAS 14 “Segment report-

ing” (application of the “management approach”, under which
segment information is presented on the same basis as that
used for internal reporting purposes)

 � IFRIC 13 “Customer loyalty programmes”
 � IFRIC 14 “IAS 19 – The limit on a defined benefit asset, mini-

mum funding requirements and their interaction”
 � IFRS 1 “First time adoption of IFRS” and IAS 27 “Consolidated

and separate financial statements” (Amendment: recognition
of the carrying amounts of investments in subsidiaries in the
separate IFRS financial statements of the parent company)

 � IAS 1 “Presentation of financial statements” and “IAS 1 (2007)”
replace the existing IAS 1

 � IFRS 2 “Share-based payment” (Amendment: vesting condi-
tions and cancellations)

 � IAS 23 “Borrowing costs” (Amendment: mandatory capitalisa-
tion of borrowing costs for a qualifying asset)

 � IAS 32 “Financial instruments: Presentation” and IAS 1 “Presen-
tation of financial statements” (Amendment: Puttable financial
instruments and obligations arising on liquidation)

Furthermore, under the annual improvements project of the IASB, 
a total of 20 standards were amended in May 2008, which were 
also adopted by the EU, but were not yet mandatory in the fi-
nancial year 2008/09. These include the following amendments:
 � IFRS 5 “Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued

operations” and consequential amendment to IFRS 1 “First-
time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”
(Amendment: Plan to sell shares in a subsidiary that results
in loss of control)

 � IAS 23 “Borrowing costs” (Amendment: Components of bor-
rowing costs)

 � IAS 16 “Property, plant and equipment” (Amendment: Sale of
assets held for rental and recoverable amount)

 � IAS 19 “Employee benefits” (Amendment: Contingent liabili-
ties)

 � IAS 20 “Accounting for government grants and disclosure of
government assistance” (Amendment: Accounting for below-
market rate government loans)

 � IAS 27 “Consolidated and separate financial statements”
(Amendment: Measurement of subsidiaries held for sale in the
separate financial statements of the parent company)

 � IAS 28 “Investments in associates” (Amendment: Prohibition of
reversal of impairment and goodwill as well as disclosures on
investments in associates and joint ventures)

 � IAS 29 “Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies”
(Amendment: Description of the measurement basis in finan-
cial statements)

 � IAS 36 “Impairment of assets” (Amendment: Disclosures in the
notes on the determination of the recoverable amount based
on the fair value less cost to sell)

 � IAS 38 “Intangible assets” (Amendment: Advertising and sales
promotion as well as amortization method to be used)

 � IAS 39 “Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement”
(Amendments: Reclassification of financial instruments, ad-
justment of the effective interest rate as well as hedging rela-
tionship and segment reporting)

 � IAS 40 “Investment property” (Amendments: Property that is
under construction or development for future use as invest-
ment property and the fair value cannot be measured reliably)

 � IAS 41 “Agriculture” (Amendments: Calculation of the fair
value and market interest rate in the discounting of future
cash flows)

The amendments are mandatory for accounting periods begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2009, with the exception of the amend-
ment of IFRS 5 and IFRS 1 (mandatory for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2009). Therefore, the Group applies 
these new regulations as of the financial year 2009/10, and will 
apply the amendments of IFRS 5 and IFRS 1 as of the financial 
year 2010/11.

The following amendments to standards under the IASB’s annual 
improvements project of May 2008 relate to changes in wording 
or editing, which have no or only insignificant effects on account-
ing. The Group applies these amendments and new regulations 
as of the financial year 2009/10:
 � IFRS 7 “Financial instruments: Disclosures” (Amendment:

Presentation of the financial result)
 � IAS 8 “Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates

and errors” (Amendment: guidelines)
 � IAS 10 “Events after the reporting period” (Amendment: Divi-

dends approved after the balance sheet date, but before the
financial statements were authorized for publication)

 � IAS 18 “Revenue” (Amendment: Cost of floating a loan)
 � IAS 20 “Accounting for government grants and disclosure of

government assistance”
(Amendment: Adjustment of terminology)

 � IAS 29 “Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies”
(Amendment: Adjustment of terminology)

 � IAS 34 “Interim financial reporting”
(Amendment: Earnings per share)
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 � IAS 40 “Investment property” (Amendment: Adjustment of ter-
minology)

 � IAS 41 “Agriculture” (Amendment: Adjustment of terminology;
modification of an example)

The amendments of the regulations to be applied as of the finan-
cial year 2009/10 did not have a material impact on the financial 
position and financial performance of the Group.

Particularly affected by the amendments is the presentation of 
the financial statements, which was adjusted according to the 
amended regulations of IAS 1 “Presentation of financial state-
ments” and IFRS 8 “Operating segments”. In particular, the com-
ponents of other comprehensive income, which previously was 
broken down in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, 
is now presented in the additional consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. Furthermore, the amended regulations 
of IAS 1 require the separate disclosure of tax effects and the 
transfer made to the profit for the year relating to each compo-
nent of other comprehensive income.

The first-time application of IFRS 8 “Operating segments” did 
not result in a change in segments, since the previously used 
primary segment reporting format was already based on the in-
ternal reporting.

The amendments of IFRS 7 “Financial instruments: Disclosures” 
require additional disclosures of financial instruments meas-
ured at fair value according to measurement hierarchies, ad-
ditional disclosures on the liquidity risk and on net results of 
each category of financial instruments. The exemption to dis-
close prior year figures is used. 

All other new regulations which are mandatory for the first time 
in the financial year 2009/10 had no or no significant impact on 
the consolidated financial statements.

The IASB issued additional standards and amendments to stand-
ards and interpretations that are not yet mandatory in the finan-
cial year 2009/10. The following standards and interpretations 
had been adopted by the EU by the time the consolidated financial 
statements were prepared and published in the official journal:
 � IFRS 3 “Business combinations” and IAS 27 “Consolidated and

separate financial statements” (Amendments: Recognition of
costs of a business combination, option full goodwill method;
clarifications on step-by-step acquisition and other revision)

The amendments are mandatory for reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 July 2009. Therefore, the Group will apply these new 
regulations as of the financial year 2010/11.

A number of additional amendments to standards, as well as 
new and amended interpretations were published and adopted 
by the European Union. The effects of these regulations on the 
consolidated financial statements are not material and therefore 
not presented in detail.

Furthermore, amendments to standards, new standards and new 
and amended interpretations were published, but at the time 
the consolidated financial statements were prepared had not yet 
been adopted by the European Union. The effects of these regula-
tions on the consolidated financial statements of the Company 
are not material and therefore not presented in detail.
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C. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group uses estimates and assumptions to determine the re-
ported amounts of assets, liabilities, net sales and expenses, as
well as the disclosure of commitments and contingent assets
and liabilities. All estimates and assumptions are reviewed on
a regular basis and are based on past experiences and addi-
tional factors, including expectations regarding future events
that seem reasonable under given circumstances. In the future
actual results may differ from these estimates, Management be-
lieves that the estimates are reasonable.

Projected�benefit�obligations
The present value of non-current employee benefits depends on 
various factors that are based on actuarial assumptions (refer to 
I.B.p. “Employee benefits”). On 31 March 2010 a reduction of the
discount rate (actuarial parameter) for the Austrian subsidiaries
by 0.5% from 5.0% to 4.5% would affect the projected retirement
and termination benefit obligations as follows:

An increase in the interest rate (actuarial parameter) for the 
Austrian subsidiaries by 0.5% from 5.0% to 5.5% would have the 
following effects on the present value of retirement and termina-
tion benefits entitlements at 31 March 2010:

Reference is made to Note 18 “Provisions for employee benefits”.

Measurement�of�deferred�taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities shall be measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the bal-
ance sheet date. A future change in tax rates would also have an 
impact on the deferred tax assets recognised at the balance sheet 
date. Moreover, a different interpretation of tax laws by fiscal 
authorities could also lead to a change in income tax liabilities.

Deferred tax assets in the amount of EUR 39.0 million were not 
recognised for tax loss carry-forwards in the Group. The ma-
jor part of these non-capitalised tax loss carryforwards may be 
carried forward for an unlimited period of time. If they were 
subsequently expected to be realised, these deferred tax assets 
would have to be recognised. Reference is made to Note 7 “In-
come taxes”.

Other�estimates�and�assumptions
Further estimates relate to impairments of non-current as-
sets, the measurement of derivative financial instruments, the 
restructuring of the Leoben-Hinterberg plant, allowances for 
doubtful accounts and measurements of inventory, Reference 
is made to Note 4 “Other operating result”, Note 5 “Non-recur-
ring items”, Note 8 “Property, plant and equipment” and Note 19 
“Other provisions”.

(in EUR 1,000)
Retirement 

benefits
Termination 

benefits
Increase of present va-
lue of obligation 777 636

(in EUR 1,000)
Retirement 

benefits
Termination 

benefits
Reduction present value 
of obligation 690 578
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II. Risk Report
Financial risks
Risk management of financial risks is carried out by a central 
treasury department (Group Treasury) under policies approved 
by the Management Board. Responsibilities, authorisations and 
limits are governed by internal guidelines. Group Treasury iden-
tifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close cooperation 
with the Group’s operative units. The Board provides written 
principles for overall risk management, as well as written poli-
cies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, inter-
est rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments 
and non-derivative financial instruments, and investing excess 
liquidity.

The risk management of financial risks is incorporated in the 
group-wide risk management and thus part of the timely risk 
reporting to executive employees, Management and Supervisory 
Board.

Liquidity risk
At the balance sheet date, the Group has liquidity reserves in 
the amount of EUR 87.3 million, EUR 27.5 million of which is 
accounted for by cash (equivalents) and securities held for trad-
ing and available-for-sale securities, and EUR 59.8 million by 
available unused credit facilities. Thus, the liquidity reserves 
increased by EUR 20.4 million year-on-year. In the past finan-
cial year, the secured credit lines in particular were raised from  
EUR 143.0 million to EUR 167.7 million, and thus the unused 
committed credit lines amount to EUR 37.3 million.

The Company is authorized, subject to the approval of the Su-
pervisory Board, to issue up to 11,300,000 new shares from au-
thorized capital, as well as convertible bonds in a total nominal 
amount of up to TEUR 100,000, and to sell treasury shares (at the 
balance sheet date the Group holds 2,577,412 treasury shares). 
With respect to a detailed explanation of the options regarding 
capital measures, reference is made to Note 23 “Share capital”.

The Group has a clearly positive operating cash flow. The net 
cash flow from operating activities for the financial year 2009/10 
amounts to EUR 47.0 million (2008/09: EUR 38.7 million). In the 
past financial year, the free cash flow (balance of net cash gen-
erated from operating activities and investing activities) was 
also positive.

With regard to liquidity risks, reference is also made to the de-
tailed disclosures in Note 17 “Financial liabilities”.

Market risks
Detailed information on market risks and derivative financial in-
struments is contained in Note I.B.l. “Summary of significant ac-
counting policies: Derivative financial instruments” and in Note 
20 “Derivative financial instruments”. The Group uses derivative 
financial instruments, such as forward contracts, options and 
swaps, exclusively for hedging purposes.

Interest�rate�risk
Minor interest rate risks on the assets side of the balance sheet 
relate to investments in securities. Most of the other liquid re-
sources are invested short-term and all securities are available 
for sale, Reference is made to Note 13 “Financial assets” and Note 
15 “Cash and cash equivalents”.

On the liabilities side, 79% of the borrowings are subject to fixed 
interest rates, taking into account interest rate hedging instru-
ments, and most of the remaining variable interest rate loans 
(21%) have maturities of less than one year. Reference is made 
to Note 17 “Financial liabilities”.

Currency�risk
Transaction, translation and economic risk are constantly moni-
tored to guard against currency risk. Transaction risk is mostly 
internally managed by closing positions (netting), in some cases 
derivative financial instruments are used to hedge open posi-
tions.

Due to its Asian subsidiaries the Group is exposed to local cur-
rency risks. As a result of legal restrictions and the illiquidity of 
the currencies in question, local hedging transaction are possible 
only to a limited extent. Wherever required, the risk is transferred 
to Europe and hedged there.

Evaluation�of�Market�Risks�by�VAR�and�sensitivity�analyses
The Group applies the value at risk concept (VAR) to quantify 
the interest rate and currency risks. VAR is a measure for the 
market price risk and shows the highest possible loss that can 
occur over a certain period of time, taking into account the cor-
relations between different risk elements.

In addition, by a socalled GAP analysis the potential loss result-
ing from a 1% change in price (currency rate or interest rate) 
with regard to the foreign currency or interest net position is 
determined. Correlations between different risk elements are not 
accounted for in this analysis.
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If the interest rates at the balance sheet date had been 100 basis 
points higher (or lower, respectively), based on the financing 
structure at the balance sheet date the annual result of the Group 
would have been EUR 0.3 million (2008/09: EUR 0.5 million) 
lower (or higher, respectively), provided all other variables had 
remained constant. This would have mainly been due to higher 
(or lower, respectively) interest expenses for variable interest 
financial liabilities. Further components of equity would not 
be directly affected. The impact of this interest rate sensitivity 
analysis is based on the assumption that the interest rates would 
deviate during the entire financial year by 100 basis points.

If the exchange rate of the euro against all other currencies had 
risen (or fallen, respectively) by 1% at the balance sheet date, 
the annual result of the Group would have been EUR 0.5 mil-
lion (2008/09: EUR 0.6 million) lower (or higher, respectively), 
provided all other variables had remained constant. This would 
have mainly been due to the measurement of trade receivables 
denominated in US dollars and derivative financial instruments 
at fair value. Further components of equity would not be directly 
affected in the sense of this exchange rate sensitivity analysis.

If the exchange rate of the US dollar against all other curren-
cies had risen (or fallen, respectively) by 1% at the balance sheet 
date, the annual result of the Group would have been EUR 2.0 
million (2008/09: EUR 1.7 million) higher (or lower, respectively), 
provided all other variables had remained constant. This would 
have mainly been due to the measurement of trade receivables 
denominated in US dollars, as well as trade payables and deriva-
tive financial instruments at fair value. Further components of 
equity would not be directly affected in the sense of this exchange 
rate sensitivity analysis.

In the exchange rate sensitivity analysis the respective impact 
on the result is calculated on the basis of foreign currency net 
positions at the balance sheet date and the development of net 
cash flows expected according to budget for the next 12 months, 
taking into account derivative financial instruments. Thus, the 
disclosures of the effect on the consolidated profit for the year 
also include the effects on the result of the net cash flows for 
the next 12 months. Funding within the Group between group 
companies and exchange rate related differences from the trans-
lation of financial statements into the group currency are not 
accounted for.

Credit risk 
In the context of its strong growth in the past few years, the 
Group has established strong and long-term relations with key 
customers, resulting in a certain concentration on the customer 
side. In order to guard against this potential risk, the Group 
encourages the further diversification in the customer, industry 
and product mix and, apart from the Mobile Devices segment, 
increasingly focuses on the areas Industrial and Automotive. In 
order to further increase the existing customer portfolio, the fo-
cus is on the acquisition of new customers and on the develop-
ment of the distribution network to better correspond to market 
requirements. The anticipation and occurrence of the elimination 
of weak competitors in the manufacture of printed circuit boards 
in Europe even in the crisis provides the Group with opportuni-
ties to gain new customers in addition to market shares. With 
plants in Europe and Asia and a service and distribution network 
spanning four continents, the Group is able to react to customer 
demands as well as to current customer developments in a swift 
and flexible manner.

In the financial year 2009/10, a significant portion of the Group’s 
revenue was accounted for indirectly by two multinational 
groups operating in the mobile devices segment. The receiva-
bles from these customers as of 31 March 2010 account for only 
2% of total trade receivables (31 March 2009: 35%). As the Group 
primarily supplies to contract electronic manufacturers (CEM) of 
indirect customers, the receivables relate to a fairly large number 
of customers. So the highest portion of receivables of a direct 
contract partner amounts to 17% of total trade receivables.

The monitoring of the credit risk is generally based on regular 
credit assessments and on taking out credit insurances for cus-
tomers in the Group.

Reference is further made to the detailed disclosures in Note 12 
“Trade and other receivables”.
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Technology risks
In the high-technology segment of HDI-Microvia printed circuit 
boards, the Group is one of the leading suppliers worldwide and 
is continuously strengthening this position. In order to prevent a 
possible displacement from the leading edge of technology, the 
Group places great emphasis on innovation and thus an intensive 
research and development. In the past, economically difficult 
financial year, the Group invested even more in research and 
development than in the previous years. In addition to a number 
of advancements in the high-technology segment of HDI printed 
circuit boards, numerous projects are pursued to develop and 
implement new production technologies in order to make the 
manufacture of printed circuit board more flexible and effec-
tive. Apart from that, research was also conducted with regard 
to new customer segments and new products, for instance in the 
area of photovoltaic. The research and development activities 
of the Group are often conducted by drawing on external part-
ners. In addition to the consideration of customer requirements 
and ideas, cooperations are entered into on a project basis with 
research institutions, suppliers or other technology companies. 
The research project Hermes in the area of Embedded Component 
Packaging Technology has to be noted in this context. Due to 
the active research and development work, the Group is able to 
identify technological developments early, make an impact and 
swiftly ensure the marketability of the products.

Capital risk management
The objectives of the Group with respect to capital management, 
on the one hand, include securing the going concern in order to be 
able to provide the equity holders with dividends and the other 
stakeholders with appropriate services, and on the other hand, 
maintaining an appropriate capital structure in order to optimise 
capital costs. To that end, the Group, as required, adjusts the 
dividend payments to equity holders, makes capital repayments 
to equity holders (redemption of treasury shares), issues new 
shares or changes its portfolio of assets.

As is customary in the industry, the Group monitors its capital 
based on net gearing, calculated from the ratio of net financial 
liabilities to equity. Net financial liabilities are calculated from 
financial liabilities less cash and cash equivalents as well as 
financial assets. The individual amounts for calculating the net 
financial liabilities and equity have to be taken directly from the 
consolidated balance sheet.

Unchanged on the prior year, basically the Group pursues the 
strategy of maintaining a net gearing of up to 80% in order to be 
able to borrow at reasonable cost, Net gearing as of 31 March 
2010 amounted to 71% (31 March 2009: 69%). 

Risk management system
In the risk catalogue defined at the group level, the company-wide 
risk and opportunity management system contains additional 
risk categories, which most notably relate to strategic risks, mar-
ket and supply risks, environmental risks and operating as well 
as organizational risks. The risk catalogue, which represents a 
guideline for the corporate segments in the identification of risks, 
is dynamically adjusted to the changing situation of the Group. 
Main objective of the group-wide risk and opportunity manage-
ment is the optimization of the overall risk position, while at the 
same time making use of opportunities arising. Regular reporting 
is made to the Executive and Supervisory Board of the Group.
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III. Segment Reporting
The segment information is presented in the following according to the internal reporting by regional production locations in 
Europe and Asia. Thus, the segment reporting is consistent with the previously primary segment reporting format of geographic 
segmentation.

Transfers and transactions between the segments are performed under market conditions, as they would be applied to transactions 
with independent third parties.

Financial year 2009/10:

With regard to significant effects on the segment result, reference is made to Note 5 “Non-recurring items”.

(in EUR 1,000) Europe Asia
Not allocated and 

consolidation Group

   External sales       264,247     107,937 – 372,184

   Intercompany sales 20     141,895 (141,915 ) –

Total revenues       264,267     249,832 (141,915 )        372,184 

Non-recurring items (36,533) – – (36,533)

Segment result/Operating result (42,405) 22,445 (5,602) (25,562)

Financial result (8,357)

Profit before income tax (33,919)

Income tax expense (3,698)

Profit/(loss)fortheyear (37,617)

Total assets 111,611 374,069 (2,290) 483,390

Liabilities 69,758 46,265 158,574 274,597

Capital expenditures 2,255 19,050 (559) 20,746

Depreciation/amortisation of property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets 22,069 36,638 1,335 60,042
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Financial year 2008/09: 

With regard to significant effects on the segment result, reference is made to Note 5 “Non-recurring items”.

Additional information
As additional information on segment reporting, a presentation is given to which industries and to which consumer countries the 
revenue is attributable.

Revenue broken down by industries is as follows: Revenue broken down by country is as follows:

The other segment mainly relates to the service segment (design, 
assembly and trading).

(in EUR 1,000) Europe Asia
Not allocated

and consolidation Group

   External sales 335,299 114,582 – 449,881

   Intercompany sales – 159,938 (159,938) –

Total revenues 335,299 274,520 (159,938) 449,881

Non-recurring items (21,996) (5,646) – (27,642)

Segment result/Operating result (28,645) 42,844 (15,259) (1,060)

Financial result 1,265

Profit before income tax 205

Income tax expense (5,992)

Profitfortheyear (5,787)

Total assets 134,333 391,862 10,620 536,815

Liabilities 60,253 34,199 189,629 284,081

Capital expenditures 9,191 39,375 725 49,291
Depreciation/amortisation of property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets 13,563 38,747 1,126 53,436

Financial year

(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09

Mobile Devices 221,346 287,538

Industrial 105,153 107,001

Automotive 41,841 41,298

Other 3,844 14,044

372,184 449,881

Financial year

(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09

Austria 17,983 20,038

Germany 88,315 92,169

Hungary 39,752 52,149

Other EU 29,917 34,113

Asia 125,432 175,060

Canada, USA 64,809 70,476

Other 5,976 5,876

372,184 449,881
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IV. Notes to the
Consolidated Income Statement
1. Revenue

2. Types of expenses
The expense types of cost of sales, selling expenses and general
and administrative costs are as follows:

In the financial years 2009/10 and 2008/09, the item “other” 
mainly relates to insurance expenses, legal and consulting fees, 
IT service costs as well as travel expenses.  

3. Research and development costs
The Group incurred research and development costs in the
amount of TEUR 20,681 and TEUR 8,590 in the financial years
2009/10 and 2008/09, respectively. The above amounts represent
only costs which can be directly allocated and which are recog-
nised as expenses in cost of sales. In addition to the expansion
of related activities, the increase over the prior year is mainly
due to a more detailed and thus more comprehensive separate
recognition of development activities.

4. Other operating result

*) The government grants for costs relate to export compensations as well as research 
and development awards.

**)  Reference is made to Note 8 “Property, plant and equipment”. 
***) The start-up losses in 2009/10 and 2008/09 are due to the construction of the 

second plant in India.

In the financial years 2009/10 und 2008/09, the item “miscel-
laneous other income” mainly relates to subsequent incoming 
receivables and the derecognition of other liabilities written off.

5. Non-recurring items
Non-recurring items include the following:

Financial year

(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09

Main revenue 371,950 449,666

Incidental revenue 234 215

372,184 449,881

Financial year

(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09

Cost of materials 144,594 172,571

Personnel expenses 84,715 105,839

Depreciation/amortisation 43,011 44,192

Energy 22,126 21,813

Purchased services incl. leased personnel 21,902 24,489

Maintenance (incl. spare parts) 18,879 22,072

Transportation costs 6,891 7,689

Change in inventories 5,094 7,395

Rental and leasing expenses 4,861 6,221

Other 11,786 14,910

363,859 427,191

Financial year

(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09

Impairments of goodwill – (5,426)

Impairments of other intangible assets (193) (108)

Impairments of property, plant 
and equipment (16,738) (3,706)

Losses from the disposal of assets – (13)

Personnel expenses (11,852) (8,866)
Net costs arising from 
other contractual obligations (7,750) (9,605)

Income from the reversal 
of provisions for restructuring – 82

(36,533) (27,642)

Financial year

(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09

Income from the reversal of 
government grants 758 843

Government grants for costs*) 1,844 992

Expenses/income from foreign 
exchange differences (104) 1,639

Losses from the sale of 
non-current assets (391) (89)
Impairments/reversals of impairments of 
property, plant and equipment**) (95) 1

Start-up losses***) (295) (380)

Miscellaneous other income 929 886

2,646 3,892
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Impairments�of�goodwill
Impairments of goodwill in the previous financial year 2008/09 
relate to the write-off of the goodwill of AT&S Korea. Reference 
is made to Note 9 “Intangible assets”.

Restructuring�Leoben-Hinterberg
In connection with the restructurings of the production loca-
tion in Leoben-Hinterberg, Austria, non-recurring expenses in 
the amount of TEUR 33,255 and TEUR 20,971 arose for the finan-
cial years 2009/10 and 2008/09, respectively. The related expense 
items are as follows:

The restructuring of the Leoben-Hinterberg location in the fi-
nancial year 2009/10 results from comprehensive measures to 
increase the efficiency of the Austrian plants, which were decided 
at the end of the first quarter of the financial year. The volume 
production of the Leoben-Hinterberg location was completely 
shifted to Shanghai and the production capacities were adjusted 
according to the current and future utilization of the plant. In 
particular, production machines no longer required were written 
down, with some machines being transferred to Asian production 
sites. Personnel expenses result from an agreed social plan. Net 
costs from other contractual obligations mainly relate to already 

incurred and, most notably, future vacancy costs for additional 
unused building spaces based on the non-cancellable property 
lease obligations, as well as other contractual obligations to be 
recognised as expenses. Reference is also made to Note 8 “Prop-
erty, plant and equipment”, Note 9 “Intangible assets” and Note 
19 “Other provisions”.

The restructuring of the Leoben-Hinterberg location in the pre-
vious financial year 2008/09 included the adjustment of pro-
duction capacities to the expected utilization of the plant from 
the perspective at the time. The impairments of property, plant 
and equipment related to the production machines that were 
no longer required. Personnel expenses resulted from the social 
plan agreed in the financial year 2008/09. Net costs from other 
contractual obligations mainly related to vacancy costs based on 
the non-cancellable property lease obligations, as well as other 
contractual obligations to be recognised in the income statement. 
Reference is made also to Note 8 “Property, plant and equipment”, 
Note 9 “Intangible assets” and Note 19 “Other provisions”.

Other�non-recurring�expenses
Other non-recurring personnel expenses in the amount of  
TEUR 3,278 and TEUR 1,078 in the financial years 2009/10 and 
2008/09, respectively, result from cost cutting programs carried 
out across the Group and the related reduction in the number of 
staff, particularly in the area of overhead costs. In the previous 
financial year 2008/09, non-current assets were also affected by 
the cost cutting program. Reference is made to Note 8 “Property, 
plant and equipment” and Note 9 “Intangible assets”.

Financial year

(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09

Impairments of intangible assets (193) (12)
Impairments of property, plant 
and equipment (16,738) (3,582)

Personnel expenses (8,574) (7,788)
Net costs arising from 
other contractual obligations (7,750) (9,589)

(33,255) (20,971)
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6. Financial result

The difference between the Group’s actual tax expense and the 
theoretical amount that would arise using the Austrian statutory 
tax rate is as follows:

7. Income taxes
The income tax expense is broken down as follows:Financial year

(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09

Interest income from financial assets at fair 
value and available-for-sale securities 600 706

Other interest income 128 260

Gains from the sale of cash equivalents 3 8
Realised gains from derivative financial 
instruments, net 1,056 –

Gains from the measurement of derivative 
financial instruments at fair value, net 1,111 –
Gains from foreign exchange differences, 
net – 14,764

Other financial income 58 57

Financialincome 2,956 15,795

Interest expense on borrowings (7,960) (8,764)

Interest expense from finance leases  – (76)

Realised income from derivative financial 
instruments, net – 2,755
Losses from the measurement of derivative 
financial instruments at fair value, net – (8,029)

Foreign exchange losses, net (3,243) –

Other financial expenses (110) (416)

Financialexpenses (11,313) (14,530)

Financialresult (8,357) 1,265

Financial year

(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09

Expected tax expense at standard  
Austrian rate (5,064) 51

Effect of different tax rates in foreign 
countries (824) (11,527)

Non-creditable foreign withholding taxes 2,989 4,292

Effect of change in previously unrecog-
nised tax losses and temporary differen-
ces 8,031 16,475

Effect of the change in tax rate (1,107) (1,268)

Effect of permanent differences (435) (1,821)

Effect of taxes from prior periods 114 (235)

Other tax effects, net (6) 25

Totaltaxexpense 3,698 5,992

Financial year

(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09

Current income taxes 9,798 3,367

Deferred taxes (6,100) 2,625

Totaltaxexpense 3,698 5,992
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted, if a legally enforce-
able right exists to set off the actual tax credits against the actual 
tax liabilities and if they are levied by the same tax authority. 
The offset amounts are as follows:

At 31 March 2010 the Group has tax loss carryforwards and 
taxable goodwill amounting to a total of TEUR 168,645 (at  
31 March 2009 TEUR 135,308). For loss carryforwards amount-
ing to TEUR 159,080 (at 31 March 2009 TEUR 120,673) there-
of no deferred tax assets were recognised in the amount of  
TEUR 39,019 (at 31 March 2009 TEUR 29,588), since it is unlikely 
that they could be realised in the foreseeable future. TEUR 6,104 
(at 31 March 2009 TEUR 9,519 of which accounts for the meas-
urement of treasury shares, which would result in the need to 
recognise deferred taxes in consolidated equity, not affecting 
net income.

Deferred taxes (net) changed as follows:

31 March

(in EUR 1,000) 2010 2009

Deferred Tax Assets

Tax loss carryforwards including taxable 
goodwill 2,342 3,459

Non-current assets 6,565 5,625

Inventories 1,168 1,264

Trade receivables 137 129

Retirement, termination benefit and other 
employee benefit obligations 731 972

Other non-current liabilities 906 48

Temporary differences arising from shares 
in subsidiaries – 1,705
Losses not yet realised from cash flow 
hedging instruments, recognised in equity 100 –

Other 227 12

Deferredtaxassets 12,176 13,214

Deferred Tax Liabilities

Non-current assets (703) (2,662)
Unrealised gains from securities availa-
ble for sale, recognised in equity and not 
taken through profit or loss (19) (8)

Provisions for termination benefits – (692)

Foreign currency valuation – (2,364)

Temporary differences arising from shares 
in subsidiaries (4,490) (4,589)

Other taxable temporary differences – (2,725)

Other (504) (57)

Deferredtaxliabilities (5,716) (13,097)

Deferredtaxassets,net 6,460 117

31 March

(in EUR 1,000) 2010 2009

Deferred tax assets:

- non-current 8,237 7,876

- current 2,887 2,086

11,124 9,962

Deferred tax liabilities:

- non-current (904) (6,740)

- current (3,760) (3,105)

(4,664) (9,845)

Deferredtaxassets,net 6,460 117

Financial year

(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09

Carrying amount at the beginning 
of the financial year 117 2,111

Currency translation differences 153 622

Income/(expense) recognised 
in the income statement 6,100 (2,625)

Income taxes recognised in equity 90 9

Carryingamountattheend
ofthefinancialyear 6,460 117

Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following:
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Income taxes in connection with the components of the other comprehensive income are as follows:

Financial year

2009/10 2008/09

(in EUR 1,000)                                                              

Income/ 
(expense) 

before taxes

Tax 
income/
(expense)

Income/ 
(expense) 

after taxes

Income/ 
(expense) 

before taxes

Tax 
income/
(expense)

Income/ 
(expense) 

after taxes

Currency translation differences (1,841) – (1,841)  40,292 –  40,292

Fair value gains/(losses) 
of available-for-sale financial assets  29 (10)  19 (26)  9 (17)

Fair value gains/(losses)  
of cash flow hedges (399)  100 (299) – – –

Othercomprehensiveincome (2,211) 90 (2,121) 40,266 9 40,275
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V. Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet
8. Property, plant and equipment

(in EUR 1,000)
Land, plants and 

buildings

Machinery and 
technical 

equipment

Tools, fixtures, 
furniture and 

office equipment

Prepayments and 
construction 
in progress Total

Net carrying amount 
31 March 2009  51,651  276,910  5,708  15,584  349,853

Changes in the consolidated group – –  6 –  6

Exchange differences (4) (3,737)  29 (58) (3,770)

Additions  883  4,425  515  14,261 20,084

Disposals – (604) (24) – (628)

Transfers  4,448  16,252  410 (18,959)  2,151

Impairment (91) (16,169) (573) – (16,833)

Depreciation, current (2,834) (37,734) (1,768) – (42,336)

Netcarryingamount31March2010 54,053 239,343 4,303 10,828 308,527

At 31 March 2010

Gross carrying amount  71,042  573,515  20,416  10,828  675,801

Accumulated depreciation (16,989) (334,172) (16,113) – (367,274)

Netcarryingamount 54,053 239,343 4,303 10,828 308,527

(in EUR 1,000)
Land, plants and 

buildings

Machinery and 
technical 

equipment

Tools, fixtures, 
furniture and 

office equipment

Prepayments and 
construction 
in progress Total

Net carrying amount 
31 March 2008  45,002  225,630  5,685  21,433  297,750

Exchange differences  8,097  38,970  320  3,552  50,939

Additions  1,247  13,184  2,233  32,011  48,675

Disposals (3) (238) (93) – (334)

Transfers – 41,355  57 (41,412) –

Impairment – (3,264) (442) – (3,706)

Reversals of impairment –  1 – –  1

Depreciation, current (2,692) (38,728) (2,052) – (43,472)

Netcarryingamount31March2009 51,651 276,910 5,708 15,584 349,853

At 31 March 2009

Gross carrying amount  61,261  591,115  21,607  15,584  689,567

Accumulated depreciation (9,610) (314,205) (15,899) – (339,714)

Netcarryingamount 51,651 276,910 5,708 15,584 349,853
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The value of the land included in land, plants and buildings 
amounts to TEUR 1,513 (TEUR 1,280 as at 31 March 2009).

Depreciation of the current financial year is recognised in cost of 
sales, selling costs, and general and administrative costs.

Transfers
The balance of transfers in the amount of TEUR 2,151 in the 
financial year 2009/10 relates to the reclassification of the non-
current asset held for sale as of 31 March 2009. Reference is made 
to Note 14 “Non-current assets held for sale”.

Impairment
For some property, plant and equipment, which fulfilled the cri-
teria for impairment, an impairment to their recoverable amount 
had to be recognised. The impairments in the financial year 
2009/10 in the amount of TEUR 16,833 and the impairment in 
the financial year 2008/09 in the amount of TEUR 3,706 relate al-
most exclusively to restructuring and cost saving measures. The 
determination of this amount was based on available estimates 
for the sale of these assets under market conditions and arm’s 
length transactions. Reference is made to Note 5 “Non-recurring 
items” and Note 4 “Other operating result”.

Collateralisation
In connection with the collateralisation of various financing 
agreements property, plant and equipment in the amount of 
TEUR 0 (TEUR 1,772 at 31 March 2009) was mortgaged.  
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9. Intangible assets

Amortisation of the current financial year is charged to cost of 
sales, selling costs and general and administrative costs.

(in EUR 1,000)

Industrial property and 
similar rights and assets, 

and licenses in such 
rights and assets Goodwill Other intangible assets Total

Net carrying amount 31 March 2009  2,136 –  102  2,238

Changes in consolidated group  4 – –  4

Exchange differences  5 – –  5

Additions  663 – –  663

Disposals – – – –

Transfers  102 – (102) –

Impairment (193) – – (193)

Amortisation, current (680) – – (680)

Netcarryingamount31March2010 2,037 – – 2,037

At 31 March 2010

Gross carrying amount  13,180  6,046 –  19,226
Accumulated amortisation (11,143) (6,046) – (17,189)

Netcarryingamount 2,037 – – 2,037

(in EUR 1,000)

Industrial property and 
similar rights and assets, 

and licenses in such 
rights and assets Goodwill Other intangible assets Total

Net carrying amount 31 March 2008  2,331  5,910  106  8,347

Exchange differences  29 (484) – (455)
Additions  617 – –  617

Disposals (11) – – (11)

Impairment (108) (5,426) – (5,534)
Amortisation, current (722) – (4) (726)

Netcarryingamount31March2009 2,136 – 102 2,238

At 31 March 2009

Gross carrying amount  12,786  5,052  131  17,969
Accumulated amortisation (10.650) (5.052) (29) (15.731)

Netcarryingamount 2.136 – 102 2.238
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Impairments
The impairments in the financial year 2009/10 in the amount of 
TEUR 193 exclusively relate to restructuring and cost cutting 
measures. The determination of intangible assets is based on 
available estimates for the sale of these assets under market 
and arm’s length conditions. Reference is made to Note 5 “Non-
recurring items”.

In the previous financial year 2008/09, the impairment test of 
AT&S Korea resulted in an impairment of total goodwill in the 
amount of TEUR 5,426. For the purpose of impairment testing, 
goodwill had been allocated to the cash generating unit AT&S 
Korea and to the Asia segment. The value in use was derived 
from future cash flows, which are based on a detailed budget-
ing adopted by the management. A detailed planning period of 
seven years was used for the determination of the value in use 
of AT&S Korea.

Other impairments in the financial year 2008/09 in the amount 
of TEUR 108 exclusively related to restructuring and cost sav-
ing measures.

10. Other non-current assets

The prepayments relate to long-term rent prepayments for the 
factory premises in China.

11. Inventories

The balance of write-downs of inventories recognised as expense 
amounts to TEUR 6,521 as of 31 March 2010 (TEUR 8,979 as of 
31 March 2009).

In connection with various financing agreements, inventories 
in the amount of TEUR 87 (TEUR 0 at 31 March 2009) serve as 
collateral. Reference is made to Note 17 “Financial liabilities”.

12. Trade and other receivables

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are as fol-
lows:

Other receivables mainly include prepaid expenses and deferred 
charges.

In connection with various financing agreements trade receiva-
bles amounting to TEUR 36,000 (TEUR 36,000 at 31 March 2009) 
serve as collateral. Reference is made to Note 17 “Financial li-
abilities”.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approxi-
mately correspond to their respective fair values.

Maturity�of�receivables
All receivables at 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009 have remain-
ing maturities of less than one year.

Factoring
At the balance sheet date 31 March 2010 receivables in the 
amount of TEUR 7,511 (TEUR 6,072 at 31 March 2009) had been 
transferred to a bank under a genuine factoring arrangement 
and derecognised.

31 March

(in EUR 1,000) 2010 2009

Prepayments  1,805  1,887

Deposits made  1,817  1,128

Other non-current 
receivables –  51

Carryingamount 3,622 3,066

31 March

(in EUR 1,000) 2010 2009

Trade receivables  70,703  86,001

VAT receivables  12,013  6,803

Energy tax refunds  4,407  3,511

Prepayments  2,398  2,327

Other receivables from authorities  1,277  138

Deposits  423  1,014

Insurance reimbursements  44  1,573

Other receivables  714  625

Impairments (1,003) (979)

90,976 101,013

31 March

(in EUR 1,000) 2010 2009
Raw materials and 
supplies  15,915  18,207

Work in progress  10,064  8,963

Finished goods  12,721  19,828

Carryingamount 38,700 46,998
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Development�of�periods�overdue�and�write-downs

There were no indications at the balance sheet date that trade 
and other receivables which are neither impaired nor overdue 
would not be paid.

Impairment of trade and other receivables changed as follows:

At 31 March 2010 Carrying 
amount

thereof: 
not impaired 

and not 
overdue or 

insured

thereof: not impaired and not insured and overdue for the 
following periods

(in EUR 1,000)
less than 
3 months

between 
3 and 6 
months

between 
6 and 12 
months

more than 
12 months

Trade and other receivables  90,976  86,353  4,300  169  32  122

At 31 March 2009 Carrying 
amount

thereof: 
not impaired 

and not 
overdue or 

insured

thereof: not impaired and not insured and overdue for the 
following periods

(in EUR 1,000)
less than 
3 months

between 
3 and 6 
months

between 
6 and 12 
months

more than
12 months

Trade and other receivables  101,013  92,555  7,868  263  240  87

13. Financial assets
The carrying amounts of financial assets are as follows:

Financial year

(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09
Impairment at the begin-
ning of the financial year  979  908

Utilisation (159) (81)
Reversal (10) (141)

Addition  101  358

Currency translation 
differences  92 (65)

Impairmentattheendof
thefinancialyear 1,003 979

(in EUR 1,000)
31 March 

2010
thereof 

non-current
thereof 
current

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit 
or loss 14,153 – 14,153
Available-for-sale 
financial assets 160  99  61

14,313 99 14,214

(in EUR 1,000)
31 March 

2009
thereof 

non-current
thereof 
current

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit 
or loss 13,987 – 13,987
Available-for-sale 
financial assets 148  122  26

14,135 122 14,013
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Financial�assets�at�fair�value�through�profit�or�loss
The fair values of the financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss correspond to their carrying amounts and are as follows:

All bonds held are denominated in euro. 

Securities�held�to�maturity

Securities held to maturity are convertible bonds issued by Ad-
con Telemetry AG, Klosterneuburg. Due to ongoing insolvency 
proceedings relating to Adcon Telemetry AG, these convertible 
bonds were fully written off. The securities held to maturity are 
denominated in euro.

Available-for-sale�financial�assets
 

Available-for-sale securities, at fair value developed as follows:

All available-for-sale securities are denominated in euro.

Other financial assets available for sale relate to investments 
and are measured at acquisition cost.

14. Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset is classified as held for sale if its carrying 
amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use. The sale has to be highly 
probable and expected to be effected within one year.

In the financial year 2008/09, non-current assets held for sale 
related to the property and corporate building of AT&S Verwal-
tungs GmbH & Co KG, Germany. Ultimately, the sale negotiations 
did not lead to a concrete result in the financial year 2009/10, and 
due to the general economic situation it cannot be assumed that 
the sale will be effected within one year. Therefore, a transfer to 
property, plant and equipment as non-current asset was made in 
the financial year 2009/10. Reference is made to Note 8 “Property, 
plant and equipment”.

*) Reference is made to Note 20 “Derivative financial instruments”.

31 March
(in EUR 1,000) 2010 2009

Bonds 13,986 13,448

Derivative financial 
instruments*) 167 539

14,153 13,987

Financial year
(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09

Carrying amount at the 
beginning of the financial year 123 171

Disposals (1) (19)

Unrealised gains/(losses) from the current
period, recognised in equity 29 (26)
Currency translation differences 6 (3)

Carryingamountatthe
endofthefinancialyear 157 123

Financial year

(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09
Carrying amount at the 
beginning of the financial year – 2,151

Impairment – –

Carryingamountatthe
endofthefinancialyear – 2,151

31 March

(in EUR 1,000) 2010 2009
Available-for-sale securities, 
at fair value 157 123

Other available-for-sale 
financial assets 3 25

Carryingamount 160 148

31 March

(in EUR 1,000) 2010 2009

Acquisition cost 1,000 1,000

Impairment (1,000) (1,000)

Carryingamount – –
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15. Cash and cash equivalents

At 31 March 2010 restricted cash relates to AT&S India (at 31 
March 2009 to AT&S India and AT&S China).

The reported carrying amounts correspond to the respective fair 
values.

16. Trade and other payables

31 March
(in EUR 1,000) 2010 2009

Bank balances and 
cash on hand 12,574 4,250

Time deposits 771 2,304

Restricted cash 9 477

Carryingamount 13,354 7,031

Remaining maturity

(in EUR 1,000) 31 March 2010
Less 

than 1 year
Between 

1 and 5 years
More 

than 5 years

Trade payables  41,896  41,896 – –

Government grants  787  146  641 –

Liabilities to fiscal authorities and 
otherpublic taxing bodies  1,862  1,862 – –

Social security payables  1,505  1,505 – –

Liabilities from unconsumed vacations  3,394  3,394 – –

Liabilities to employees  8,708  8,520  188 –

Other liabilities  3,902  3,113  789 –

Carryingamount 62,054 60,436 1,618 –

Remaining maturity

(in EUR 1,000) 31 March 2009
Less 

than 1 year
Between 

1 and 5 years
More 

than 5 years

Trade payables  32,826  32,826 – –

Government grants  1,582  197  1,239  146

Liabilities to fiscal authorities and 
otherpublic taxing bodies  2,610  2,610 – –

Social security payables  1,789  1,789 – –

Liabilities from unconsumed vacations  4,117  4,117 – –

Liabilities to employees  7,987  7,987 – –

Other liabilities  4,283  3,496  787 –

Carryingamount 55,194 53,022 2,026 146
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The carrying amounts of the reported liabilities approximate the 
respective fair values.

Government�grants
Government grants mainly relate to grants for property, plant 
and equipment and are released to income according to the use-
ful life of the related property, plant and equipment. The origi-
nal terms to be fulfilled had already expired at the last balance 
sheet date.

Furthermore, the Group has received grants for project costs for 
several research projects, which are recognised in income on a 
pro rata basis according to the costs incurred and the grant ratio, 
or the accrual amount is included in the liabilities, respectively.

Liabilities�from�stock�options
At the Supervisory Board Meeting held on 8 November 2004 a 
stock option plan (2005-2008) was approved, which allows the 
Company to grant stock options to the Management Board and 
executive employees, which can be settled in cash or by issuing 
equity instruments. 

Each of these options entitles the holder to the right to either:
 � purchase a share (equity-settled share-based payment trans-

actions) or
 � be settled in cash (cash-settled share-based payment transac-

tions) at the remaining amount between exercise price and the
closing rate of AT&S shares at the stock exchange with the main
quotation of AT&S shares respectively at the date the option is
exercised by the beneficiary.

The stock options may be granted between 1 April 2005 and 1 
April 2008.

The exercise price is determined at the respective date of grant, 
representing the average AT&S share price over a period of six 
months prior to the date of grant plus 10%. The exercise price cor-
responds at least to the nominal value of a share of the Company.

Granted options vest gradually with 20% of the op-
tions after two years, 30% of the options after three 
years and 50% of the options after four years. Options 
not exercised can be exercised after the expiration of 
the subsequent waiting period. Options not exercised 
within five years after grant date forfeit without com-
pensation.

In the 1st meeting of the nomination and compensa-
tion committee of the Supervisory Board on 17 March 
2009 an additional stock option plan was approved, 
after it had been submitted for examination in the 55th 
Supervisory Board Meeting on 16 December 2008. This 
stock option plan 2009-2012 for the grant of stock op-
tions to be settled either in cash or equity instruments 
to members of the Management Board, managing di-
rectors and executive employees is consistent with the 
stock option plan 2005-2008. Each of these options 
entitles to either acquire shares or a cash settlement 
can be demanded, a mark-up of 10% is added to the 
average price of six months and the granted stock op-
tions may be exercised at staggered intervals, with 
20% of the granted stock options exercisable after two 
years, 30% after three years and 50% after four years. 
Non-exercised stock options may be exercised after 
the subsequent waiting period has expired.

The stock options may be granted in the period be-
tween 1 April 2009 and 1 April 2012.

The stock options may be exercised in full or in part 
after completion of the vesting period, not however 
during a restricted period.
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The following table summarises information about all stock op-
tions granted until 31 March 2010.

Date of grant

1 April 2009 1 April 2008 1 April 2007 1 April 2006

Exercise price (in EUR) 3.86 15.67 22.57 17.99

31 March 2008 – –  129,000  128,000

Number of options granted – 137,000 – –

Number of options forfeited – – – –

Number of options exercised – – – –

Number of options expired – – – –

31 March 2009 – 137,000  129,000  128,000

Number of options granted  138,000 – – –

Number of options forfeited – – – –

Number of options exercised – – – –

Number of options expired  3,000  5,000  5,000  4,000

31March2010 135,000 132,000 124,000 124,000

Remaining contract period of stock options 4 years 3 years 2 years 1 year

Fair value of granted stock options at the balance sheet date 
(in EUR 1,000)

31 March 2009 – – – –

31 March 2010  638  61  8  4

In contrast to the stated contract terms, the stock options of Dr. 
Harald Sommerer vest at the retirement date on 31 January 2010 
and are exercisable until 31 January 2011 at the latest.

Reference is made to Note 29 “Related party transactions”.

These stock options are measured at fair value at the respective 
balance sheet date, using the Monte Carlo method and based 
on model assumptions and valuation parameters stated below. 
These may differ from the values realised on the market for all 
stock options granted as of 1 April 2006, 1 April 2007, 1 April 
2008 and 1 April 2009:

Volatility is calculated on the daily share prices from 1 October 
2006 and 1 April 2009, respectively until the balance sheet date.

The fair value of the stock options granted is recognised as ex-
pense over their term. The related accrual item is included in the 
liabilities to employees.

Other�liabilities
Other liabilities mainly include accrued legal, audit and consult-
ing fees, debtors with credit balances, pension obligations and 
other accruals, as well as retained deposits.

Risk-free interest rate 1.03-2.24%

Volatility 49.91-51.28%

Dividend per share 0.0

Weighted average terms of 
granted stock options 3.6 years
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17. Financial liabilities

The bonds with a total nominal value of EUR 80 million were 
placed by the Company on the Third Market of the Vienna Stock 
Exchange on 27 May 2008 with a maturity of five years. The 
bond is divided into amounts of EUR 50,000 and is exempt from 
the prospectus requirement pursuant to § 3 (1) 9 KMG (Austrian 
Capital Market Act). The annual fixed interest in the amount of 
5.50% of the nominal value is payable subsequently on 27 May 
of each year. The bondholders do no have an ordinary cancella-
tion right. An extraordinary cancellation right has been agreed 
in case of the following events occurring at the Company or one 
of its main subsidiaries:
 � Cessation of payments or announcement of insolvency or over-

indebtedness,
 � Bankruptcy or other insolvency proceedings (exception: court

settlement) or liquidation,
 � Significant deterioration of the financial position and perform-

ance due to the discontinuation of the major part of operations,
sale of major parts of assets or non-arm’s length transactions
with related parties

 � Change of control as stipulated in the Austrian Takeover Act,
if this significantly affects the ability to meet the bond obli-
gations.

Other bank borrowings mainly relate to the financing of the 
plants in China, South Korea and India, in addition to the cur-
rent liquidity needs. For the plant in South Korea and the expan-
sion in India, long-term financing was raised in the financial 
year 2009/10, which has to be repaid in semi-annual instalments 
until 31 March 2014. The variable interest was fully hedged by 
an interest rate swap. The main contract terms are as follows:
 � Maintaining the 98.76% investment in AT&S Korea and the 100%

investment in AT&S India,
 � No encumbrances on the investments.

In particular for the expansion of the plant in China once funds 
were raised (on the basis of a G4 guarantee of the Republic of 
Austria), which have to be repaid according to the repayment 
schedule in semi-annual instalments until 31 March 2011. Inter-
est for the residual term is mainly fixed and in part variable. The 
main contract terms are as follows:
 � maintain the 100% share in AT&S China,
 � existence of the G4 guarantee,
 � not assume encumbrances with regard to the investments.

*) Reference is made to Note 20 “Derivative financial instruments”.

Remaining maturity

(in EUR 1,000) 31 March 2010
Less 

than 1 year
Between 

1 and 5 years
More

than 5 years Interest rate in %

Bonds 83,418 3,713 79,705 – 5.5

Export loans 36,000 36,000 – – 1.3

Loans from state authorities: –

- Public authorities 430 177 253 – 2.0-2.5

Other bank borrowings 54,019 29,179 24,840 – 1.2-6.0

Derivative financial instruments*) 1,785 1,386 399 –

Carryingamount 175,652 70,455 105,197 –

Remaining maturity

(in EUR 1,000) 31 March 2009
Less 

than 1 year
Between 

1 and 5 years
More 

than 5 years Interest rate in %

Bonds 83,374 3,764 79,610 – 5.5

Export loans 36,000 36,000 – – 3.0

Loans from state authorities:

- European Recovery Program 128 128 – – 1.5

- Public authorities 340 29 311 – 2.0-2.5

Other bank borrowings 72,834 55,695 17,139 – 1.2-3.85

Derivative financial instruments*) 2,869 2,869 – –

Carryingamount 195,545 98,485 97,060 –
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The contractually agreed (undiscounted) interest and redemption payments of the financial liabilities at 31 March 2010 are as fol-
lows in the next financial years: 

No significant deviations from the agreed interest and capital payments are expected regarding term or amount.

At the prior-year balance sheet date 31 March 2009 the contractually agreed (undiscounted) interest and redemption payments of the 
financial liabilities were as follows for the next financial years: 

(in EUR 1,000) Bonds Export loans
Loans from state

authorities
Other bank
borrowings

Derivative
financial

instruments
2010/11

   Redemption – 36,000  177  29,179  1,386

   Fixed interest  4,461 –  9  564 –

   Variable interest – – –  849 –

2011/12
   Redemption – –  162  9,340 –

   Fixed interest  4,461 –  3  650 –

   Variable interest – – – – –

2012/13

   Redemption – –  91  6,200 –

   Fixed interest  4,461 –  2  423 –

   Variable interest – – – – –

2013/14

   Redemption  80,000 – –  9,300 –

   Fixed interest  697 – –  212 –

   Variable interest – – – – –

(in EUR 1,000) Bonds Export loans
Loans from state

authorities
Other bank
borrowings

Derivative
financial

instruments

2009/10

   Redemption – 36,000  157  55,695  2,869

   Fixed interest  4,461 –  8  1,065 –

   Variable interest – – –  157 –

2010/11

   Redemption – –  177  14,000 –

   Fixed interest  4,461 –  6  479 –

   Variable interest – – – – –

2011/12

   Redemption – –  94  3,139 –

   Fixed interest  4,461 –  2  13 –
   Variable interest – – – – –

2012/13

   Redemption – –  40 – –

   Fixed interest  4,461 –  1 – –

   Variable interest – – – – –

2013/14

   Redemption  80,000 – – – –

   Fixed interest  697 – – – –
   Variable interest – – – – –
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The determination of the fair values is based on the current ef-
fective interest rates on loans and bonds with similar maturities 
that would be available to the Group.

The carrying amounts of financial liabilities according to cur-
rencies are as follows:

Bank borrowings are secured as follows:
 � By property, plant and equipment amounting to TEUR 0 (at 31

March 2009: TEUR 1,772). Reference is made to Note 8 “Prop-
erty, plant and equipment”;

 � By inventories and trade receivables amounting to TEUR 36,087
(at 31 March 2009: TEUR 36,000). Reference is made to Note
11 “Inventories” and Note 12 “Trade and other receivables”;

 � By assignment of rights from the hedge against political risk
for the location in China amounting to TEUR 14,000 at 31 March
2010 (at 31 March 2009: TEUR 35,500), as well as for the site
in South Korea amounting to TEUR 3,139 (at 31 March 2009:
TEUR 3,139).

Lines of credit of financing liabilities at 31 March 2010 are as 
follows:

Leases
Total future minimum lease payments from non-cancellable op-
erating leases and rental expenses are as follows: 

The Group entered into various operating lease agreements for 
the rental of office space, properties and production facilities, as 
well as factory and office equipment and technical equipment.

The obligations from operating leases are affected by a sale and 

The bonds, export loans, loans from state authorities and bank 
borrowings in part carry interest rates that differ from market 
interest rates. For this reason differences between their fair val-
ues and carrying amounts can arise. 

Carrying amounts 31 March Estimated fair values 31 March
(in EUR 1,000) 2010 2009 2010 2009

Bonds  83,418  83,374  89,029  77,932
Export loans  36,000  36,000  36,000  36,000
Loans from state authorities  430  468  433  469

Other bank borrowings  54,019  72,834  55,789  71,138

Derivative financial instruments  1,785  2,869  1,785  2,869

175,652 195,545 183,036 188,408

31 March

(in EUR 1,000) 2010 2009
Euro  174,473  193,712

Korean won – 1,474
US dollar  399  27

Japanese yen –  271

Chinese renminbi yuan  366 –
Indian rupee  414  61

175,652 195,545 31 March

(in EUR 1,000) 2010 2009
Not later than 1 year  3,078  3,541

Between 1 and 5 years  7,796  10,090
Later than 5 years  11,236  16,510

Totalminimumleasepayments 22,110 30,141

(in EUR 1,000) Credit lines Used 

Export credit lines - 
committed  36,000  36,000
Other credit lines - 
committed  167,693  130,366

Credit lines - 
uncommitted  30,000  7,500

233,693 173,866
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lease back transaction concluded in the financial year 2006/07 for 
the properties and buildings in Leoben-Hinterberg and Fehring, 
Austria, with non-cancellable lease period until December 2021.
The stated amounts also include TEUR 10,016 attributable to 
minimum lease payments from the operating lease for no longer 
used building spaces in Leoben-Hinterberg, which has already 
been included in the balance sheet as other provisions. Reference 
is made to Note 19 “Other provisions”.

The payments recognised as expense for non-cancellable lease 
and rental expenses are as follows:

18. Provisions for employee benefits
The provisions for employee benefits relate to pension, termina-
tion and other employee benefits.

Defined�Contribution�Plans
The majority of the Group’s employees in Austria and part of its 
employees in India are covered by defined contribution plans 
that have been transferred to a pension fund. For employees 
in Austria, the pension plans were supplemented by death and 
endowment insurance in the financial year 2009/10. Employer 
contributions are determined on the basis of a certain percentage 
of current salary and the Company’s profit for the year. Contribu-
tions under these plans amounted to TEUR 147 in the financial 
year 2009/10 and to TEUR 450 in the financial year 2008/09.

Defined�Benefit�Plans
The Group operates non-contributory defined benefit plans for 
the board members and other executive employees. The board 
members’ and other executive employees’ plans are funded and 
unfunded. 

Retirement benefits of board members and executive employees 
are based on their salaries and years of service.

Funded�termination�benefits
The employees in India are entitled to termination benefits upon 
retirement or, under certain circumstances, upon leaving the 
company, the amount of which depends on years of service and 
compensation level. The termination benefits range between half 
of a monthly salary per year of service and a fixed maximum. 
The obligations are covered by a life insurance.

Unfunded�termination�benefits
Employees in Austria, Korea and China are entitled to receive 
termination benefits, which are based upon years of service and 
compensation levels and are generally payable upon retirement 
and, under certain circumstances, upon leaving the company. In 
Austria the termination benefits range from 2 to 12 months of 
final monthly salary depending on years of service, in Korea and 
China a fixed amount is paid depending also on years of service.

For employees who joined on or after 1 January 2003, regular 
contributions are paid to a staff provision fund (“Mitarbeiter-
vorsorgekasse”) without any further obligations on part of the 
Group. The contributions for the financial year 2009/10 amount-
ed to TEUR 239 and for the financial year 2008/09 to TEUR 358.

Other�benefit�obligations
The employees of the companies in Austria and in China are 
entitled to anniversary bonuses for long-term service, the eli-
gibility to and amount of which are stipulated in the Collective 
Agreement.

These benefits are calculated similarly to the method used for 
termination benefits, based on the same parameters, however, 
without taking the corridor method into consideration.

Financial year

(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09
Leasing and rental expenses  3,359  4,023
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Expenses� for (defined benefit) retirement, termination and other 
employee benefits consist of the following: 

Expenses for retirement, termination and other employee ben-
efits are recognised in cost of sales, selling costs and general 
and administrative costs. The settlements in the financial year 
2009/10 are included in the non-recurring items.

Amounts accrued in the balance�sheet are:

Retirement benefits and termination benefits in the balance 
sheet are as follows: 

Retirement benefits Termination benefits Other employee benefits
Financial year Financial year Financial year

(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09 2009/10 2008/09 2009/10 2008/09
Current service cost  191  188  1,115  1,267  706  259
Interest expense  466  433  555  626  113  96

Past service cost – 195 – – – –

Settlements – –  3,069 – – –
Expected return on plan assets (291) (395) (13) (13) – –

Actuarial losses/(gains) 101  32 182  159 (23) (129)

Totalexpenses 467 453 4,908 2,039 796 226

31 March

(in EUR 1,000) 2010 2009

(Overfunded)retirementbenefits (620) (46)

Underfunded retirement benefits  1,021  953

Underfunded termination benefits  8,233  6,554

Other employee benefits  2,115  2,244

Provisionsforemployeebenefits 11,369 9,751

Accrued retirement, termination and other employee benefits, net  10,749  9,705

Retirement benefits Termination benefits

31 March 31 March
(in EUR 1,000) 2010 2009 2010 2009

Present value of funded obligations  8,662  8,381  437  392
Fair value of plan assets (8,480) (6,769) (194) (184)

Funded status funded obligations  182  1,612  243  208

Present value of unfunded obligations  968  900  9,085  10,653
Unrealised actuarial gains/(losses) (749) (1,605) (1,095) (4,307)

Provisions/(receivables) in the balance sheet, net  401  907  8,233  6,554

thereof receivables (overfunded benefits) (620) (46) – –

thereof provisions (underfunded benefits) 1,021  953  8,233  6,554



90

ConsolidatedFinancialStatementsasof31March2010

The present value of projected retirement benefit obligations, 
the movement in plan assets and funded status are as follows: 

Plan assets held to cover the pension obligations have been trans-
ferred to pension funds. The diversification of the portfolio is 
as follows:

Funded retirement benefits Unfunded retirement benefits

Financial year Financial year

(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09 2009/10 2008/09
Present value of retirement benefit obligation

Present value at beginning of year  8,381  7,811  900  825

Current service cost  191  188 – –

Interest expense  419  390  47  43

Actuarial losses/(gains) (174) 142  21  32

Benefits paid (155) (150) – –

Presentvalueatendofyear 8,662 8,381 968 900

Fair value of plan assets

Fair value at beginning of year  6,769  8,042

Contributions to plan assets  973 –

Expected return on plan assets  291  395

Actuarial gains/(losses)  602 (1,518)

Benefits paid (155) (150)

Fairvalueatendofyear 8,480 6,769

Fundedstatusfundedretirementbenefits 182 1,612

31 March

(in %) 2010 2009

Debt securities 31% 47%

Equity securities 38% 24%

Real estate 7% 4%

Cash and cash equivalents 24% 25%

100% 100%
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The aggregate movement in funded and unfunded termination 
benefits is as follows:

The aggregate movement in other employee benefits (anniversary 
bonuses) is as follows:

Funded termination benefits Unfunded termination benefits

Financial year Financial year

(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09 2009/10 2008/09

Present value of termination benefit obligation

Present value at beginning of year  392  383  10,653  11,948

Changes in consolidated group (22) – – –

Exchange differences  41 (25)  81 (64)

Current service cost  30  37  1,085  1,230

Interest cost  29  29  526  598

Actuarial losses/(gains) (11) (18) (3,019)  298

Settlements – –  3,069 –

Benefits paid (22) (14) (3,310) (3,357)

Presentvalueatendofyear 437 392 9,085 10,653

Fair value of plan assets

Fair value at beginning of year  184  160

Changes in consolidated group (15) –

Exchange differences  18 (11)

Contributions to plan assets  16  34

Expected return on plan assets  13  13

Actuarial gains/(losses) – 2

Benefits paid (22) (14)

Fairvalueatendofyear 194 184

Fundedstatusfundedterminationbenefits 243 208

Financial year

(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09

Present value at beginning of year  2,244  1,969

Exchange differences (24)  174

Service cost  706  259

Interest expense  113  96

Actuarial losses/(gains) (23) (129)

Benefits paid (901) (125)

Presentvalueatendofyear 2,115 2,244
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The following actuarial parameters were used for the measure-
ment at the balance sheet date:

Warranty�provision
The provision for warranties relates to the costs for expected 
complaints about products still under warranty. The accrued 
amount is the best estimate of these costs based on past experi-
ence and actual facts, which due to the uncertainty as to amount 
and timing are not yet recognised as liabilities.

Provision�for�the�restructuring�Leoben-Hinterberg
This provision for costs from contractual obligations relates to 
future vacancy costs for no longer used building space based on 
the non-cancellable property lease obligations. The provision 
was recognised in the amount of the present value of the expenses 
expected to be incurred largely in the long term. For an overall 
presentation of the restructurings of the Leoben-Hinterberg loca-
tion, reference is made to Note 5 “Non-recurring items”.

19. Other provisions

Sundry�other�provisions
Sundry other provisions relate to provisions for other short-term 
onerous contracts.

20. Derivative financial instruments
The derivative financial instruments mainly relate to forward
currency contracts, currency swaps and interest rate swaps.
Hedged items are primarily trade receivables and payables, as
well as payments in connection with loans.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s derivative financial instru-
ments correspond to their fair values. The fair value corresponds 
to the amount that would be incurred or earned, if the trans-
action was settled at the balance sheet date. 

Retirement benefits Termination benefits
Other employee benefits 
(anniversary bonuses)

31 March 31 March 31 March

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

Discount rate 5% 5.25% 5-8.25% 5.25-8% 2-5% 4-5.25%

Expected return on plan assets 5.55% 4.44% 8% 8% – –

Expected rate of 
compensation increase 2.25% 2.50% 3-7% 3.25-10% 3-10% 3.25-10%
Expected rate of pension increase 2% 2.25% – – – –

Retirement age (women/men) 58-65 58-65 Individual 
according to 2003 

pension reform

Individual 
according to 2003 

pension reform

– –

(in EUR 1,000) Total Warranty
Closure Augsburg 

plant
Restructuring 

Leoben Sundry

Carrying amount 31 March 2009  10,297  1,265  39  8,533  460

Utilisation (2,048) (535) (39) (1,015) (459)

Reversal (79) (78) – – (1)

Addition  9,762  248 –  6,072  3,442

Interest effect  67 – –  67 –

Exchange differences  248  1 – –  247

Carryingamount31March2010 18,247 901 – 13,657 3,689

31 March

(in EUR 1,000) 2010 2009

thereof non-current 12,769 7,322

thereof current 5,478 2,975

Carryingamount 18,247 10,297
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The fair values of the derivative financial instruments are as 
follows:

The nominal amounts and the fair values of derivative financial 
instruments relating to hedges against exchange rate fluctua-
tions are as follows at balance sheet date, presented by currency:

The remaining terms of derivative financial instruments are as 
follows at balance sheet date: 

At 31 March 2010, the fixed interest rate for interest rate swaps 
is 2.34%, the variable interest rate is based on the 6-month  
EURIBOR.

The nominal amounts and the fair values of derivative financial 
instruments relating to hedges against interest rate fluctuations 
are as follows at balance sheet date, presented by currency:

31 March 2010 31 March 2009

(in EUR 1,000) Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Forward contracts at fair value –  254  131 –

Currency swaps at fair value  167  1,132  372  2,869

Currency options at fair value – –  3 –

Interest rate swaps at fair value –  399  33 –

Totalfairvalues 167 1,785 539 2,869

Net of current portion:

   Forward contracts at fair value –  254  131 –

   Currency swaps at fair value  167  1,132  372  2,869

   Currency options at fair value – –  3 –

   Interest rate swaps at fair value – –  33 –

Currentportion 167 1,386 539 2,869

Non-currentportion – 399 – –

31 March 2010 31 March 2009

Currency

Nominal amount Fair value Nominal amount Fair value 

(in 1,000 local currency) (in EUR 1,000) (in 1,000 local currency) (in EUR 1,000)

US-Dollar  35,301 (1,219)  67,158 (2,363)

31 March 2010 31 March 2009

Currency

Nominal amount Fair value Nominal amount Fair value 

(in 1,000 local currency) (in EUR 1,000) (in 1,000 local currency) (in EUR 1,000)

Euro  23,600 (399)  10,000  33

31 March

(in months) 2010 2009

Forward contracts 4 10

Currency swaps 7 10

Currency options – 3

Interest rate swaps 48 15
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21. Additional disclosures on financial instruments

Carrying�amounts�and�amounts�stated�by�measurement�category
The carrying amounts and amounts stated of financial instru-
ments included in several balance sheet items by measurement 
category are as follows at the balance sheet date:

(in EUR 1,000)
31 March 2010

Fair values through 
profit or loss

Fair values 
in equity Amortised cost Carrying amounts

Assets

Non-current assets

   Financial assets –  97  2  99

Current assets

   Trade and other receivables – –  70,845  70,845

   Financial assets  14,153  61 –  14,214

   Cash and cash equivalents – –  13,354  13,354

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

   Financial liabilities – –  105,197  105,197

Current liabilities
   Trade and other payables – –  50,235  50,235

   Financial liabilities  1,785 –  68,670  70,455

(in EUR 1,000)
31 March 2009

Fair values through 
profit or loss

Fair values 
in equity Amortised cost Carrying amounts

Assets

Non-current assets

   Financial assets –  97  25  122

Current assets

   Trade and other receivables – –  87,358  87,358

   Financial assets  13,987  26 –  14,013

   Cash and cash equivalents – –  7,031  7,031

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

   Financial liabilities – –  97,060  97,060

Current liabilities

   Trade and other payables – –  40,813  40,813

   Financial liabilities  2,869 –  95,616  98,485
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Valuation�hierarchies�of�financial�instruments�measured�
at�fair�value
Three valuation hierarchies have to be distinguished in the valu-
ation of financial instruments measured at fair value.
 � Level 1: The fair values are determined based on quoted market

prices in an active market for identical financial instruments.
 � Level 2: If there are no quoted market prices in an active market,

fair value is established by using a valuation technique that
makes maximum use of market inputs.

 � Level 3: In this case, valuation methods to establish the fair
value are also based on non-market data.

The allocation of financial instruments measured at fair value 
to the three measurement hierarchies are as follows at the bal-
ance sheet date:

The net results relating to financial instruments include dividend 
income, interest income and expenses, foreign exchange gains 
and losses, realised income and losses on the disposal and sale, 
as well as income and expenses recognised in the income state-
ment from the measurement of financial instruments.

TEUR -7,766 net expense (2008/09: TEUR 1,682 net income) of 
the total net result from financial instruments is included in the 
financial result, and TEUR -669 (2008/09: TEUR 601 net income) 
in the operating result.

22. Contingent liabilities and other financial commitments
Regarding non-cancellable leasing and rental agreements, refer-
ence is made to Note 17 “Financial liabilities”. At 31 March 2010
the Group has other financial commitments amounting to TEUR
25,774 (TEUR 6,264 at 31 March 2009) in connection with con-
tractually binding investment projects. Furthermore, at the bal-
ance sheet date the Group has contingent liabilities to customs
authorities and from bank guarantees in the amount of TEUR 9
(TEUR 2 at 31 March 2009). Other guarantees or contingencies
relating to the ordinary business operations do not exist at the
balance sheet date.

Net�results�relating�to�financial�instruments�by�
measurement�category
Net gains and net losses relating to financial assets and liabilities 
by measurement category are as follows:

(in EUR 1,000)
31 March 2010 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss
    Bonds  13,986 – – 13,986

  Derivative financial 
    instruments – 167 – 167

Financial assets available 
for sale  157 – 3  160

Financial liabilities

Derivative financial 
instruments – 1,785 – 1,785

Financial year
(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09

Loans and receivables (538) 869

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss  3,305 (4,515)

Financial assets available for sale  1  4

Financial liabilities 
at amortised cost (11,203)  5,925

(8,435) 2,283
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23. Share capital

Ordinary�Shares
At 31 March 2010 the share capital in the amount of TEUR 28,490 
is made up of 25,900,000 no-par value shares with a notional 
value of EUR 1.1 per share. 

Outstanding�shares
The number of shares issued amounts to 25,900,000. At the bal-
ance sheet date 31 March 2010 2,577,412 treasury shares were 
held by the Group, 23,322,588 shares were outstanding.

Authorised�share�capital
By a resolution passed at the 11th Annual General Meeting on 5 
July 2005 the Management Board was authorised to increase the 
share capital by a nominal amount of up to TEUR 12,430 until 
4 July 2010, if required, in several tranches upon approval by 
the Supervisory Board by issuing up to 11,300,000 no-par value 
bearer shares paid for in cash or contribution in kind, partially or 
entirely excluding the existing shareholders’ subscription rights, 
and to set the detailed issue conditions in agreement with the 
Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board is authorised to adopt 
changes to the articles of association that are due to the issuance 
of shares from the authorised capital.

Convertible�bonds
A resolution passed at the 11th Annual General Meeting on 5 July 
2005 authorised the Management Board upon approval by the 
Supervisory Board to issue convertible bonds in accordance with 
§ 174 (2) AktG (Austrian Stock Corporation Act) at a maximum
nominal value of TEUR 100,000 (in several tranches) until 4 July
2010, to set the issue conditions and the conversion method and
to exclude the existing shareholders’ subscription rights.

Conditional�capital�increase
A resolution was passed at the 11th Annual General Meeting on 
5 July 2005 to perform a conditional capital increase in accord-
ance with § 160 (2) AktG (Austrian Stock Corporation Act) and to 
grant stock options and conversion rights to creditors of con-
vertible bonds by a nominal amount of TEUR 12,430 by issuing 
up to 11,300,000 new common bearer shares. Furthermore, the 
Management Board was authorised to set the further details of 
the conditional capital increase. The Supervisory Board is au-
thorised to adopt changes (due to the issuance of shares from 
the conditional capital increase) to the articles of association. 
The new issued shares resulting from the conditional capital 
increase are fully entitled to dividends for the financial year in 
which they were issued.

Treasury�shares
Most recently, at the 14th Annual General Meeting on 3 July 2008, 
the Management Board in accordance with § 65 (1) 8 AktG (Aus-
trian Stock Corporation Act) was authorised to acquire treasury 
shares of up to 10% of the share capital within 30 months as of 
the date the resolution was passed (the purchase price per no-
par value share to be acquired shall not be below EUR 1.10 and 
shall not exceed EUR 110) and to retract the treasury shares ac-
quired without an additional shareholders’ resolution, or to use 
them for the Group’s stock option plan. The Supervisory Board 
is authorised to pass amendments to the articles of association, 
which result from the issue of shares from authorised capital. 

Since 15 May 2006, the Group has purchased a total of 2,632,432 
treasury shares at the prevailing market price amounting to a 
total of TEUR 47,484. In the financial year 2009/10 shares were 
neither sold nor used for servicing the Company’s stock option 
plan. At 31 March 2010 the Group still holds 2,577,412 treasury 

Outstanding
shares

(in1,000shares)

Ordinary 
shares

(in EUR 1,000)

Share 
premium

(in EUR 1,000)

Stock
options

(in EUR 1,000)

Treasury shares,
net of tax

(in EUR 1,000)

Share
capital

(inEUR1,000)
31March2008 23,323 28,490 63,294 226 (46,352) 45,658

Stock option plans:

   Value of services rendered – – –  22 – 22

   Change in stock options – –  248 (248) – –

31March2009 23,323 28,490 63,542 – (46,352) 45,680
Stock option plans:

   Value of services rendered – – – – – –

   Change in stock options – – – – – –
31March2010 23,323 28,490 63,542 – (46,352) 45,680
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shares (unchanged to prior year) (9.95% of the share capital) with 
a total purchase price of TEUR 46,577.

At the 14th Annual General Meeting on 3 July 2008 the Manage-
ment Board in accordance with § 65 (1b) AktG was authorised, for 
a period of five years as of the date the resolution was passed, i.e. 
up to and including 3 July 2013, upon approval by the Superviso-
ry Board, to sell the purchased treasury shares also in a different 
way than via the stock exchange or by public offer, in particular to 
service convertible bonds as consideration for the acquisition of 
subsidiaries, investments, companies or businesses and in doing 
so – if required – exclude the existing shareholders’ subscription 
rights in accordance with §§ 169 to 179 AktG; this authorisation 
can be exercised in its entirety or in several parts.

Dividend�per�share
In the financial year 2009/10 a dividend of EUR 0.18 was paid 
per share (in the financial year 2008/09 EUR 0.34).

Stock�option�plans�settled�by�equity�instruments
At the Supervisory Board Meeting held on 15 June 2000 a stock 
option plan 2000-2004 was approved, which allows the Company 
to grant stock options settled by equity instruments to the Man-
agement Board and executive employees. The stock options were 
granted over the period between 1 August 2000 and 1 April 2004. 
Granted options vested gradually, with 20% of the options after 
two years, 30% after three years, and 50% after four years. Options 
could only be exercised within a period of three months, begin-
ning 1 July of the respective financial year. Thus, the deadline 
for exercising the options under the stock option plan 2000-2004 
already ended in the past financial year 2008/09. 

24. Other reserves
The transfer amounts of the other comprehensive income real-
ised in the profit for the year and the movement in other reserves
are as follows:

With regard to the presentation of income taxes attributable to 
the individual components of the other comprehensive income, 
including transfer amounts, reference is made to Note 7 “ Income 
taxes”.

(in EUR 1,000)
Currency translation 

differences
Financial assets 
available for sale 

Hedging instruments 
for cash flow hedges Other reserves

Carryingamountasof31March2008 (39,755) 41 – (39,714)
Balance of unrealised changes before transfer, 
after taxes 40,292 (17) – 40,275

Carryingamountasof31March2009 537 24 – 561

Balance of unrealised changes before transfer, 
after taxes (2,060) 19 (299) (2,340)

Transfer of realised changes recognised in the 
profit for the year, after taxes 219 – – 219

Carryingamountasof31March2010 (1,304) 43 (299) (1,560)
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25. Earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated in accordance with IAS 33 “Earn-
ings Per Share”.

Weighted�average�of�outstanding�shares
The number of shares issued is 25,900,000, At 31 March 2010 
2,577,412 treasury shares were held, which were deducted in the 
calculation of earnings per share. 

The weighted average number of outstanding shares for the basic 
earnings per share calculation amounted to 23.3 million in the 
financial year 2009/10 and to 23.3 million in the financial year 
2008/09.

The weighted average number of outstanding shares for the di-
luted earnings per share calculation amounted to 23.4 million 
in the financial year 2009/10 and to 23.3 million in the financial 
year 2008/09.

The following table shows the composition of the diluted weight-
ed average number of outstanding shares in the respective pe-
riods:

Basic�earnings�per�share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit 
for the period attributed to the equity holders of the Company 
by the weighted average number of outstanding ordinary shares 
of the same period.

Diluted�earnings�per�share
Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit 
for the period attributed to the equity holders of the Company 
by the weighted average number of outstanding shares includ-
ing the number of potentially outstanding ordinary shares of 
the respective period. Potentially outstanding ordinary shares 
comprise the additional shares to be issued for exercisable op-
tions and are included in diluted earnings per share under the 
assumption that these shares are diluted.

According to IAS 33 the treasury shares which are held to fulfil 
the stock option plan do not dilute the outstanding shares.

26. Proposal on profit distribution
According to the provisions of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act
(“Aktiengesetz”) the local financial statements of AT & S Austria
Technologie & Systemtechnik Aktiengesellschaft as of 31 March
2010 prepared under Austrian GAAP serve as the basis for the
distribution of dividends. These financial statements reported
retained earnings amounting to TEUR 14,144 at 31 March 2010
(TEUR 45,615 at 31 March 2009).

The distribution is subject to the approval of the General Meet-
ing. The Management Board proposes to the General Meeting to 
distribute a dividend of EUR 0.10 per outstanding share from 
the retained earnings of TEUR 14,144, and to carry forward the 
remaining balance.

27. Disposals
Disposal�of�AT&S�ECAD
AT&S ECAD Technologies Private Limited, India, and its subsidi-
ary AT&S ECAD Technologies Inc., USA, were sold by contract
of 20 April 2009 and deconsolidated as of the beginning of June
2009, when control passed to the purchaser. The sale and decon-
solidation have had no material effects on the Group.

VI. Other Disclosures

Financial year 

(in 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09

Weighted average number of 
shares outstanding - basic 23,323 23,323

Diluting effect of options 71 –

Weightedaveragenumberof
sharesoutstanding-diluted 23,394 23,323

Financial year 

2009/10 2008/09

Profit for the year (in EUR 1,000) (37,271) (5,376)

Weighted average number of 
outstanding shares - basic (in 1,000) 23,323 23,323

Basicearningspershare(inEUR) (1.60) (0.23)

Financial year 

2009/10 2008/09

Profit for the year (in EUR 1,000) (37,271) (5,376)

Weighted average number of 
outstanding shares - diluted (in 1,000) 23,394 23,323

Dilutedearningspershare(inEUR) (1.59) (0.23)
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28. Material events after the balance sheet date
At the beginning of May 2010, the Management Board decided to
make further adjustments in the administrative structure, after
already having implemented group-wide cost cutting programs
and the related reduction of staff. It is planned to partly combine
international and regional structures and thus gain synergies.
To that end, the decision was made to close down the Vienna
location, where until now key group functions are performed in
terms of headquarters, by the end of the calendar year 2010 and to
transfer individual functions to other locations of the Company.
As of this management decision, the function of headquarters is
assigned to the domicile of the Company and production location
Leoben-Hinterberg.

29. Related party transactions
In connection with various projects the Group received services
from consulting companies, which are held by the chairman of
the Supervisory Board (AIC Androsch International Management
Consulting GmbH, Vienna) as well as by Supervisory Board mem-
ber (Dörflinger Management und Beteiligungs GmbH, Vienna)
respectively. The fees charged are as follows:

Furthermore, certain manufacturing processes of AT&S Korea 
have been outsourced. Parts of these external manufacturing 
services were carried out by persons affiliated with minority 
shareholders, totalling TEUR 7 in the financial year 2009/10 
(TEUR 432 in the financial year 2008/09). The outstanding li-
abilities as of 31 March 2010 amounted to TEUR 0 (31 March 
2009: TEUR 25).

Members�of�the�Management�Board�and�the�Supervisory�Board
In the financial year 2009/10 and until the date of issuance of 
these consolidated financial statements the following persons 
served on the Management�Board:
 � Andreas Gerstenmayer (Chairman, since 1 February 2010)
 � Harald Sommerer (Chairman, until 31 January 2010)
 � Steen Ejlskov Hansen
 � Heinz Moitzi

In the financial year 2009/10 the following persons were elected 
members of the Supervisory�Board:
 � Hannes Androsch (Chairman)
 � Willibald Dörflinger (Deputy Chairman)
 � Erich Schwarzbichler  (until 2 July 2009)
 � Gerhard Pichler (since 2 July 2009)
 � Georg Riedl
 � Albert Hochleitner
 � Karl Fink

Delegated by the Works Council:
 � Johann Fuchs
 � Wolfgang Fleck
 � Günther Wölfler (since 3 June 2009)
 � Markus Schumy (until 31 March 2009)

Financial year 

(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09

AIC Androsch International Management 
Consulting GmbH 365 366

Dörflinger Management & Beteiligungs 
GmbH 10 9

375 375
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The number of granted stock options and personnel expenses 
from stock options granted are as follows:

Reference is made to Note 16 “Trade and other payables”.

The stock options of Mr. Harald Sommerer vested at the retire-
ment date on 31 January 2010 and are exercisable until 31 Janu-
ary 2011 at the latest.

Total remuneration paid to the members of the Management 
Board and to executive employees:

Expenses for termination benefits and retirement benefits for 
members of the Management Board and executive employees are 
as follows: 

* ) The variable remuneration of the Management Board relate to the contractual termi-
nation benefits and settlements of other entitlements in connection with the premature 
termination of the management contract.

Number of granted stock options
31 March

Personnel expenses
Financial year 
(in EUR 1,000)

2010 2009 2009/10 2008/09

Harald Sommerer 160,000 160,000 178 10

Steen Ejlskov Hansen 120,000 120,000 61 8

Heinz Moitzi 120,000 120,000 61 16

Total Management Board 400,000 400,000 300 34
Total other executive employees 115,000 112,500 69 7

515,000 512,500 369 41

Termination benefits
Financial year 

Retirement benefits
Financial year 

(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10 2008/09 2009/10 2008/09

Management Board and executive employees 423 109 473 476

Financial year 2009/10 Financial year 2008/09

(in EUR 1,000) fixed variable*) total fixed variable total

Andreas Gerstenmayer 58 – 58 – – –

Steen Ejlskov Hansen 365 – 365 366 – 366

Heinz Moitzi 314 – 314 316 – 316

Harald Sommerer 457 423 880 457 – 457
Executive employees 2,917 – 2,917 2,907 – 2,907

4,534 4,046
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Total remuneration and services rendered personally by mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board:

Shareholdings of members of the Management Board and the 
Supervisory Board as of 31 March 2010:  

Financial year 2009/10 Financial year 2008/09

(in EUR 1,000) fixed variable total fixed variable total

Hannes Androsch 16 – 16 18 – 18

Willibald Dörflinger 9 – 9 9 – 9

Erich Schwarzbichler 2 – 2 11 – 11

Georg Riedl 11 – 11 11 – 11
Albert Hochleitner 11 – 11 10 – 10

Karl Fink 10 – 10 11 – 11

Gerhard Pichler 9 – 9 – – –

68 – 68 70 – 70

Shares Options
Total shares
and options % capital

Management Board members 3,672 240,000 243,672 0.95

Supervisory Board members:

     Hannes Androsch 445,853 – 445,853 1.72

     Other members of the
     Supervisory Board 28,912 – 28,912 0.11

Total Supervisory Board members 474,765 – 474,765 1.83

Private foundations:
     Dörflinger Privatstiftung 4,574,688 – 4,574,688 17.66

     Androsch Privatstiftung 5,570,666 – 5,570,666 21.51

Total private foundations 10,145,354 – 10,145,354 39.17

10,623,791 240,000 10,863,791 41.95
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30. Expenses for the group auditor
The expenses of the financial year for the group auditor are as
follows:

This item does not include expenses for other network mem-
bers of the group auditor for the audit of financial statements 
of subsidiaries.

31. Number of staff
Average number of staff in the financial year:

The calculation of the number of staff includes an average of 
2,486 temporary workers for the financial year 2009/10 and an 
average of 2,734 for the financial year 2008/09.

Leoben-Hinterberg, 10 May 2010

The Management Board

Financial year   

(in EUR 1,000) 2009/10

Audit of consolidated and separate finan-
cial statements 133
Other assurance services 13

Tax consulting services 12

Other services 14

172

Financial year   

2009/10 2008/09

Waged workers 4,345 4,931

Salaried employees 1,271 1,388

5,616 6,319

Andreas Gerstenmayer m.p. Steen Ejlskov Hansen m.p. Heinz Moitzi m.p.
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Group Management Report 
2009/10
1. Company profile
AT&S is one of the market leaders in the industry worldwide and
the largest manufacturers of printed circuit boards in Europe
and India. In addition to simple printed circuit boards, AT&S in
particular offers highly complex electronic connecting elements,
which as a result of the growing need for miniaturization on
part of the customers account for a great portion of the product
portfolio of AT&S. In this context, the HDI-Microvia technology
is of particular importance, which is used mainly in mobile end
devices such as mobile phones or PDAs.

Over time, mobile phones developed into multimedia devices with 
GPS, camera, TV and other supplementary functions. Thus, the 
mobile devices industry, apart from mobile phones, also includes 
digital cameras, music and video players, etc. Increasing demand 
for technologically complex components is also observed in the 
industrial segment, which in particular comprises industrial 
electronics, measurement and control technology, medical tech-
nology and aviation. Usually, in this area many small orders 
involving different technologies and specifications have to be 
processed. The complexity of printed circuit boards also rises in 
the automotive segment due to the ever more efficient electronics 
used in automobiles, driven by the component manufacturers 
and the increased number of input/output channels required. 
Therefore, in addition to standard printed circuit boards, the 
HDI technology is used increasingly.

From manufacturing plants in Europe and Asia as well as a distri-
bution network spanning four continents, AT&S supplies inter-
nationally operating corporations. At the same time, AT&S also 
serves the demand from smaller companies and produces pro-
totypes and small series. With its current production capacities, 
AT&S is able to service the volume production existing mainly 
in Asia, as well as the European niche business. 

AT&S is also technologically one of the leading printed circuit 
board manufacturers. The excellent performance in the area of 
research and development is an important prerequisite for that. 
AT&S is working in networks of customers, suppliers and re-
search institutions on the latest innovative techniques. In addi-
tion, the Company has profound long-term experience in the area 
of industrial large series production. The ongoing optimization 
of the business processes is one of the major core elements of 
the corporate strategy.

AT&S manufactures a broad range of printed circuit boards: sin-
gle-sided, double-sided, multi-layer, HDI (High Density Intercon-
nection, a multi-layer printed circuit board with extremely fine 
structures), flexible, rigid-flexible and semi-flexible. The serv-
ice spectrum includes various technologies for the treatment of 
printed circuit boards using various base materials. 

In addition to the development and manufacture of printed cir-
cuit boards for large and small series as well as prototypes, AT&S 
as comprehensive solution provider offers its customers in par-
ticular design services. Until the past financial year the offer 
had been complemented by the area of assembling services, and 
until the previous financial year 2008/09 by the area of trading 
(trade in printed circuit board of third-party manufacturers), 
with the respective activities being terminated due to too low 
profit prospects in relation to the related risks.

2. Business development and climate
The financial year 2009/10 of the AT&S Group was significantly
affected by the effects of the economic crisis. The global printed
circuit board production has declined by 15.8% to USD 40.6 billion
year-on-year. Due to the high share of sales of the mobile devices
segment, the overall business of the AT&S Group is subject to
seasonality, as a result of which the first and fourth quarter are
usually characterized by a low utilization, and the second and
third quarter of the financial year by a very good utilization.

The first quarter of the past financial year 2009/10 initially saw 
a sales decline of EUR 32.0 million or 27.7% over the comparison 
period of the previous financial year, and even compared to the 
already very weak fourth quarter of the previous financial year 
of EUR 15.3 million or 15.5%. At the beginning of June, the ag-
gravated economic situation and the renewed intensified price 
pressure led to the decision to shift the volume production of 
the Leoben-Hinterberg location completely to Asia in order to 
sustain revenue. In the future, the Leoben-Hinterberg plant – as 
is already the case with the two other Austrian locations, Fehring 
and Klagenfurt – will exclusively manufacture small series and 
special short-term orders. Despite the difficult market environ-
ment, the quarterly revenue could be raised by 6% in the second 
quarter, and by an additional 15% in the third quarter. Revenue 
in the fourth quarter was down only less than 2% on the strong 
third quarter and already above the comparison period of the 
previous financial year. In this respect, the development of rev-
enue during the year shows a clear upward trend. 

For the entire financial year 2009/10, due to the overall econom-
ic situation and the global developments on the printed circuit 
board market over the previous year, revenue of the AT&S Group 
declined significantly year-on-year. The decline in revenue from 
EUR 449.9 million by EUR 77.7 million to EUR 372.2 million cor-
responds to a change of -17.3%.

From a geographical or segment perspective, the decline in pro-
duction over the previous year was particularly significant in 
Europe. As a result of the general price pressure and the indus-
try trend, the production capacities of AT&S were expanded in 
the past years and volume orders in the area of mobile devices 
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were increasingly shifted to China. This development is neces-
sary in order to be able to continue to produce competitively at 
the highest quality on the international markets. Thus, in the 
financial year 2009/10, 67% (in the previous year 61%) of revenue 
was already produced in Asia. 

Mobile devices with revenues of EUR 221.3 million and a share 
in sales of 59 % (previous year 64%) is still by far the largest 
business segment of the AT&S Group. As expected, according to 
the strategy of AT&S to focus on the more profitable high-end 
segment, declines in revenue resulted particularly from custom-
ers focusing on the low-cost segment. Despite already noticeable 
gains in market shares in the high-technology area, the share in 
sales of mobile devices declined over the previous year.

The industrial segment, with a share in sales of almost 30%, is 
gaining ever more importance. With EUR 105.2 million, the prior-
year sales figure could almost be reached. In the third largest 
business segment, automotive, the global automobile crisis was 
already felt in the previous year, and thus in the financial year 
2009/10 prior-year sales could even be exceeded. The project-
related sales in the service business declined sharply due to the 
termination of various activities in this area.

With regard to the breakdown of revenue by country, the long-
term trend of shifting the industry to Asia is noticeable. Due to 
changes in the customer structure in the course of the financial 
year, however, revenue generated from manufacturers in Canada 
and the USA in particular gained further importance. Through 
the distribution company AT&S Americas, which was set up two 
years ago, the market can now be serviced close to the customer. 
Within Europe, shifts were also noticeable, with the share in 
sales to customers in Central Europe rising again.

After the measures taken in the previous financial year, the focus 
of the Austrian production plants on the European niche busi-
ness of small series and special short-term orders made another 
restructuring program necessary at the Leoben-Hinterberg loca-
tion. The entire volume production of HDI printed circuit boards 
was shifted to China. Apart from the related non-recurring ex-
penses, the restructuring measures also had a negative impact 
on the current production result.

The gross profit margin declined particularly due to the lower 
utilization of the production capacities in the AT&S Group and 
the related high prorated fixed costs year-on-year from 14.7% 
to 12.1%, and the gross profit declined from EUR 66.4 million to 
EUR 44.9 million. The decline in the gross profit margin is mainly 
due to the lower utilization in the first quarter of the plants in 

Austria and in Asia. As a result of the restructuring measures, 
the capacity utilization could be improved, and thus the gross 
profit margin in both the third and fourth quarter is above the 
respective prior-year figure.

Based on the lower gross result, the operating result is also af-
fected by non-recurring expenses in the amount of EUR 36.5 mil-
lion from the restructuring of the Leoben-Hinterberg location as 
well as group-wide measures to increase efficiency and cut costs, 
and shows a clearly negative value. The operating result adjusted 
for the non-recurring items is positive at EUR 11.0 million in 
the financial year 2009/10, compared to the adjusted prior-year 
figure of EUR 26.6 million. Consequently, the adjusted EBIT mar-
gin is 2.9% and thus 3 percentage points down on the prior-year 
figure calculated in the same way.

Looking at the segment results, a significant decline can be no-
ticed year-on-year in Europe and, most notably, in Asia, with 
the Europe segment in particular having been affected in both 
years by restructuring expenses and the Asia segment in the 
previous year by a write-down of goodwill. The adjusted segment 
EBIT (operating result before non-recurring expenses) relevant 
for measuring the performance, decreased for Asia by EUR 26.1 
million to EUR 22.4 million and increased slightly for Europe by 
EUR 0.8 million to EUR -5.9 million.

At the balance sheet date 31 March 2010, consolidated equity 
amounts to EUR 208.8 million and was down on the previous 
year by EUR 43.9 million due to the negative result for the year 
and the dividend payments. During the year, at mid-year, con-
solidated equity amounted to EUR 173.5 million, since up to then 
a significantly negative adjusted operating result was reported 
and the equity was reduced by EUR 25.1 million due to currency 
revaluations recognized directly in equity. The equity ratio at the 
balance sheet date of 43.2% represents a decline of around 3.8 
percentage points year-on-year and continues to show a strong 
equity position.

In the financial year 2009/10, the net gearing of the AT&S Group 
declined by EUR 26.4 million to EUR 148.0 million. In particular, 
a clearly positive operating cash flow could be generated, and the 
free cash flow also shows a clearly positive value due to the high 
operating cash flow and the comparably low investments. Thus, 
despite the low equity, the gearing ratio is 70.9% and roughly 
corresponds to the prior-year figure of 69.1%. Regarding the fi-
nancing structure, long-term debt increased in the financial year 
2009/10. For details on the calculation method of the ratios and 
additional explanations, reference is made to the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, Note “II. Risk report”.
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Under the investing activities of AT&S, additions to property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets totalled EUR 20.7 
million in the financial year 2009/10. The investments primarily 
relate to the expansion in China and the construction of a second 
plant in India, but also equipment for new technologies and in-
novation projects in the Austrian plants.

On an annual average, AT&S had 5,616 employees in the financial 
year 2009/10 and thus 703 persons less than on the prior-year 
average (2008/09: 6,319). As a result of the economic crisis, the 
entire Group, and thus each plant, had to make corresponding 
capacity adjustments also in the area of personnel in the past 
financial year. Whereas in China and India the fluctuation of 
employees was mainly sufficient to adjust the headcount to the 
reduced utilization level, and in China primarily leased workers 
are employed in the production, a social plan was agreed for 
the Leoben-Hinterberg location, and that of the previous year 
extended, which, apart from termination benefits and hardship 
payments, also included the establishment of a work founda-
tion to finance the further training of laid-off staff. The Leoben-
Hinterberg location was particularly affected by the relocation 
of the volume production to Asia.

Well trained and motivated staff is a key factor in keeping up 
with international competition. Therefore, AT&S pays special 
attention to training and education programs which are designed 
to promote intercultural skills in addition to professional com-
petencies. Even in the crisis, the systematic training of selected 
groups of employees was a key success factor. In order to promote 
young talent, apprentices are trained in six different fields of 
specialization in Austria, and in India AT&S is heavily involved 
in a training program for industrial workers.

A transparent and performance-oriented compensation system 
promotes the entrepreneurial thinking and acting of staff. Up to 
and including the financial year 2009/10, the bonus system has 
been based on the key ratios “economic value added” and ROCE. 
Currently, the bonus system is being adapted to changed criteria.

Sustained management and economical use of available re-
sources are of the highest priority for AT&S. AT&S combines 
the three factors quality – environment – human being in an in-
tegrated management system. This uniform body of regulations 
is based on the international quality standard ISO 9001, ISO/
TS 16949 (quality management of the automotive industry), the 
environmental standard ISO 14001, as well as on the standard 
OHSAS 18001 for the area of safety and health. Regular internal 
audits and inspections by independent third parties confirm the 
compliance with the management system for the financial year 
2009/10. The plant in Korea has also been included and audited 

in accordance with OHSAS 18001 and ISO/TS 16949, so that now 
all AT&S locations worldwide are certified.

Of particular concern are the safety, health and performance of 
AT&S staff. Related activities conducted worldwide are in line 
with the safety and health management system OHSAS 18001. 
The success of the numerous programs shows in the reduction 
of sick days by 66% over the previous year.

With regard to environmental protection, it has to be noted 
that AT&S as one of the first printed circuit board manufactur-
ers implemented the environmental management according to  
ISO 14001 already in the financial year 1996/97. Since AT&S 
takes environmental protection measures far beyond the statu-
tory minimum requirements, AT&S is even regarded as a pio-
neer in environmental matters by certification authorities. So, 
for instance, AT&S China received the “Long-term Partnership 
Enterprise in Promoting Environmental Protection”  award from 
the Shanghai Environmental Protection Bureau, and AT&S India 
received the Elcina-Dun&Bradstreet award in the category “En-
vironment Management Systems”.

The reduction or optimization of the resources and materials 
used is part of the AT&S management policy. Current projects 
involve the reduction of the energy demand for etching plants, 
improvements in the wastewater treatment and recycling of etch-
ing solutions and of printed circuit board scrap. The main raw 
materials used in the financial year 2009/10 included approx. 
880 kg of gold, 1,600 tons of copper and 23 million pieces of 
laminates. The total energy demand, including oil and gas con-
sumption, amounted to around 332 million kWh in the financial 
year 2009/10.

Regarding material events after the balance sheet date, refer-
ence is made to the disclosures in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, Note VI.28 “Material events after the bal-
ance sheet date”.

3. Subsidiaries and representative offices
 � In order to meet the growing capacity demands and the shift

of mass production in the highest technology segment, addi-
tional capacities were created at the wholly owned subsidiary
AT&S (China) Company Limited already in the previous year
and the third expansion stage was put into operation. Thus,
in the entire financial year 2009/10 increased capacities were
available in Shanghai and, furthermore, additional machines
were installed to optimize the overall utilization and eliminate
shortages. At the end of the financial year, it was decided to
invest in an additional production line.

 � Despite the overall situation and the special challenges in the
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past financial year, a stabilization is noticeable at the AT&S 
Korea location. After the successfully implemented measures 
of the previous years to improve the performance, the focus 
was shifted to optimizing the customer and cost structure in 
the financial year 2009/10. Due to the improved cost basis and 
financing structure, the plant result could be improved signifi-
cantly over the previous year. The ongoing improvement of 
the customer structure shall ultimately result in the desired 
sustained revenue.

 � At AT&S India, the second production plant is being estab-
lished. At the beginning of the financial year 2009/10, at first
the building with infrastructure and individual production
units were completed to improve the performance of the ex-
isting plant. Due to the increased demand, the complete expan-
sion of the second plant has been implemented since the end
of the financial year, with the production planned to start in
the autumn of 2010 and full operations expected to commence
by the end of the financial year 2010/11.

4. Capital share structure and disclosures on
shareholder rights

As of 31 March 2010, the share capital of AT&S amounts to EUR 
28,490,000 and is made up of 25,900,000 no-par value shares 
with a notional value of EUR 1.10 per share. The voting right 
at the annual general meeting is exercised according to no-par 
value shares, with one par-value share entitling to one vote. All 
shares are bearer shares.

Significant shareholdings in the group parent AT&S AG are as 
follows at the balance sheet date:

At the balance sheet date, 2,577,412 treasury shares are held. The 
authorization last granted on 3 July 2008 to the Management 
Board to repurchase up to 10% of the share capital of AT&S AG on 
the market within 30 months is thus valid until 2 January 2011. 
The treasury shares may be used to service the stock option plan 
of the Company or they may also be sold.

Shares    % Capital % Voting rights

Dörflinger Privatstiftung: 
Franz-Josefs-Kai 5 
A-1010 Vienna

4,574,688 17.66% 19.61%

Androsch Privatstiftung:
Franz-Josefs-Kai 5 
A-1010 Vienna

5,570,666 21.51% 23.89%

Until 4 July 2010, the Management Board is authorized, with the 
approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital 
by up to EUR 12,430,000 through the issue of up to 11,300,000 
no-par value bearer shares, partially or entirely excluding the 
subscription rights of existing shareholders.

Until 4 July 2010, the Management Board is authorized, with the 
approval of the Supervisory Board, to issue convertible bonds 
of up to EUR 100,000,000, excluding the subscription rights of 
existing shareholders, if required. To grant subscription or ex-
change rights to the creditors of the convertible bond, the Man-
agement Board is authorized to increase the share capital by 
up to EUR 12,430,000 through the issue of up to 11,300,000 new 
bearer shares.

For further details, reference is made to the disclosures in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, Note V.23. “Share 
capital”.

5. Research and development
Within AT&S, the research and development (R&D) area is the
driving force in the identification of new technological connec-
tion solutions. On the one hand, this includes the optimization
of current processes and materials up to their implementation
in production and, on the other hand, innovative technologies to
revolutionize the manufacture of printed circuit boards are also
identified and developed internally.

AT&S has a two-step innovation process. In the research facili-
ties of the also technological headquarters Leoben-Hinterberg, 
the developments in the areas of materials, processes and ap-
plications are conducted to the point where the basic feasibility 
of the technology is reached. This area of activity thus includes 
applied research and technology evaluation. Subsequently, it is 
up to the local department for technology development and im-
plementation in the plants to advance the processes and prod-
ucts through experimental development and to integrate new 
processes in the existing production process, so that quantities 
suitable for mass production can be produced.

In order to maintain its position among the global technology 
leaders also in the future, AT&S is cooperating with numerous 
external partners. On the one hand, requirements and ideas for 
future products are communicated by customers, and on the 
other hand, AT&S derives new technologies from future appli-
cations, such as for instance the embedded component packaging 
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technology (ECP® technology). In addition to the own resources, 
cooperations are also entered into with research institutions or 
suppliers, if required.

The research activities in the financial year 2009/10 can be 
grouped into four project packages:

In the area “high-end HDI”, AT&S pursues a number of advance-
ment projects, such as finer conductor track geometries for fur-
ther miniaturization or the development of new production pro-
cesses to manufacture new products, as well as to replace exist-
ing processes by more cost-effective alternatives.

“Made in Austria” relates to a variety of projects to make the 
printed circuit board manufacture more flexible and effective, 
and thus also be able to competitively produce smaller volumes 
and more complex products in the Austrian plants. For instance, 
massive process simplifications can be achieved through the 
2.5DTM technology. The thermal management research project 
has the objective to discharge thermal energies from the printed 
circuit board also through the printed circuit board, in order to 
increase the performance and life span of the printed circuit 
board itself and of the components. Furthermore, potential ap-
plications of ink-jet printing as opposed to the current standard 
screen printing are researched.

The “embedded component packaging technology” is designed 
to embed the active and passive electronic components into the 
interior of the printed circuit board. Among other things, under 
the Hermes research project, headed by AT&S and funded by the 
EU, an industry standard for the embedding of chips into the 
interior of the printed circuit board that is suitable for series 
production is worked upon in cooperation with ten other promi-
nent companies from various stages of the value added chain.

In the project package “photovoltaics”, synergies of processes 
to manufacture printed circuit boards and the manufacture of 
photovoltaic panels are used to produce a technologically new 
product. In doing so, AT&S focuses on the development and pro-
duction of energy-efficient, back-contacted photovoltaic panels.

Total expenses for research & development amounted to EUR 
20.7 million in the financial year 2009/10.

6. Material risks, uncertainties and opportunities
The risks, uncertainties and opportunities of AT&S are basically
characterized by the global developments on the printed circuit
board market. The material risks and uncertainties the AT&S

Group specifically is faced with are explained in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements under “II. Risk report”.

Regarding market and technology, it can be noted that the mo-
bile phone market which is of great importance for AT&S, has 
to be divided increasingly into a low-cost segment and a high-
technology high-end segment (e.g. for smart phones). In the entire 
mobile devices business, AT&S intends to consistently focus on 
the high-end segment and position itself as universal supplier 
of printed circuit boards for these customers. The market seg-
ment for smart phones itself was able to grow in the past crisis 
year. In addition to mobile phones, the mobile devices segment 
also includes a growing market for additional applications, such 
as game consoles, digital cameras and portable music players. 
In the entire mobile devices segment, after the crisis year 2009, 
analysts expect a growth of more than 7% for the following year.

After the slowdown in the past year, a strong growth of around 
11% is expected also in the industrial market for the next financial 
year. The decline in sales of AT&S in this area in the past financial 
year turned out to be relatively small, due in part to the strong 
positioning in Europe. As a result of the market adjustment of 
printed circuit board manufacturers, AT&S is by far the largest 
supplier of printed circuit boards in Europe. Moreover, addi-
tional opportunities are seen in the industrial computer business 
and the medical segment.

In the automotive business, it is intended to generate additional 
growth in Europe through increased distribution activities. Fur-
thermore, the challenge and opportunity exists to raise the now 
primarily European business to a global level.

The strong capitalization, the technological top position and the 
positioning of AT&S through the combination of locations in Aus-
tria and Asia are considered an advantage over competitors. The 
European market can be serviced by swift production and short 
delivery terms of the Austrian plants as well as low-cost pro-
duction capacities in Asia. For the global market, the Group has 
long years of experience in the HDI technology, and the plant in 
Shanghai is not only the largest plant of the AT&S Group, but ac-
tually the largest plant in China specializing in HDI technology.

Regarding the use of financial instruments and the explanation 
of the financial risk management, reference is also made to the 
risk report in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
With regard to currency risks, the impact on the operating re-
sult of AT&S was reduced by the fact that, in addition to the 
dependence of sales on the US dollar, the production capacities 
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now have also been established largely in the extended US dol-
lar area. Apart from the effects on the financial result, currency 
fluctuations of the functional currencies in the Group against the 
reporting currency euro are recognized mainly in equity. Due to 
planned investments, the net gearing is expected to temporarily 
exceed the designated maximum value of 80% in the financial 
year 2010/11, with the target value of 80% expected to be reached 
again by the end of the financial year due to expected higher net 
cash inflows from operating activities.

7. Internal control system and risk management relating to
accounting

AT&S has adopted a code of ethics and conduct which sets out 
how AT&S conducts its businesses in an ethical and socially re-
sponsible manner. These guidelines apply to all activities world-
wide, with each employee being responsible to comply with this 
code without exception in the performance of his profession and 
the daily work. For certain regions, countries and functions, even 
stricter and more detailed regulations may apply.

The accounting-related internal control and risk management 
system is an integral part of the group-wide risk management 
system. According to the framework concept of COSO (The Com-
mittee of Sponsoring Organization of the Treadway Commission), 
under the concept of company-wide risk management, the risk 
management proper as well as the internal control system (ICS) 
are subsumed. The main criteria of the risk management, the 
internal control system and the internal audit in the AT&S Group 
are specified in a company-wide risk management and audit 
manual. Reference is also made to the disclosures in the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements under “II. Risk report”.

 In terms of organizational structure, a staff unit has been estab-
lished directly with the Management Board, which coordinates or 
directs the risk management and internal control system across 
the Group, as well as the activities of the internal audit. Accord-
ing to the rules of procedure for the Management Board, the staff 
unit reports to the Chief Financial Officer (CFO). Special areas of 
responsibilities of the Supervisory Board’s audit committee also 
include monitoring the effectiveness of the internal control sys-
tem, the internal audit and the risk management system, as well 
as monitoring the accounting process. In addition to including 
the audit committee in the accounting process in the quarterly 
reporting, regular reporting is made to the audit committee on 
risk management and activities of the internal audit (risk and 
audit report). The audit committee in turn reports to the other 
members of the Supervisory Board.

The executives of AT&S as risk responsibles are responsible for 
identifying, analyzing, controlling and monitoring risks in their 
respective area. In addition, the local management of the plants 
is responsible for the implementation of the risk management 
process in their areas of responsibility. Risk management co-
ordinators in the group companies assist the group function in 
the collection and transmission of risk information. In terms of 
an efficient organization according to the company size, the or-
ganizational servicing of the internal control system is designed 
accordingly.

Based on business processes documented in the management 
manual, the related risks are described and assessed by the 
process responsibles for each main and sub-process. In the risk 
assessment, basically all potentially negative factors that jeop-
ardize the achievement of the objectives of an organization or a 
process have to be documented by the process owner. The control 
objectives for the financial reporting are derived from existing 
risks and allocated to the categories existence (only actually ex-
isting and approved business transactions are processed), occur-
rence/period accrual (representation of business transactions in 
the correct period or timely processing), completeness (business 
transactions, assets and liabilities are recognized completely), 
valuation (business transactions were calculated using appro-
priate measurement methods or correctly), rights & obligations 
(The company has economic ownership of assets and liabilities 
are actual obligations of the company), presentation & disclo-
sure (disclosure in the financial statements and other reports), 
correctness of business transactions/data and access restriction 
(access to IT systems is restricted to process responsibles).

The documentation of the internal controls (business processes, 
risks, control measures and responsibles) is made principally 
in the form of control matrices, which are archived in a central 
management database. The accounting-related internal control 
system includes principles, procedures and measures to ensure 
the compliance of group accounting in terms of the control objec-
tives described with financial reporting.

 The processes of accounting and group accounting are document-
ed in separate process instructions. Basis for the group reporting 
are the respective local accounts, which are transformed into a 
group-wide uniform reporting. The individual pre-accounting 
processes are as far as possible uniformly designed across the 
Group and are presented in a standardized documentation for-
mat. In addition to the group reporting, various local regula-
tions have to be considered accordingly, resulting in additional 
requirements on the accounting processes.
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The principles of group accounting and reporting are set out in 
the group-wide “Group Accounting Manual”. This manual regu-
lates the significant accounting and reporting requirements 
across the Group in a uniform manner. In addition to the basic 
presentations on the accounting of individual business transac-
tions and measurement guidelines based on IFRS, options ap-
plied uniformly across the Group are dealt with in particular. 
As for scheduling, a timetable is set up for the entire internal 
and external reporting which, apart from report deadlines, also 
includes the planned dates for the meetings of the Supervisory 
Board and audit committee, as well as press conferences.

At AT&S, the processes for group accounting and the preparation 
of the group management report are controlled by the Group Ac-
counting/Group Finance department, which reports to the CFO. 
Laws, accounting standards and other announcements are con-
tinuously analyzed regarding the relevance and impact on the 
consolidated financial statements and other reporting require-
ments.

The collection, current entry and accounting of the business 
transactions is performed in the manufacturing group compa-
nies mainly through a uniform and central software solution of 
SAP. The individual business transactions and measurements 
can be entered in accordance with the group-uniform IFRS, as 
well as in accordance with local accounting regulations, in or-
der to comply with these different requirements. At individual 
subsidiaries, in particular due to the size, other software solu-
tions are applied, which also comply with the group reporting 
requirements and local regulations. The central reporting soft-
ware Oracle Enterprise Performance Management System is used 
for consolidation and group reporting. Automatic interfaces have 
been established for the transition of accounting data from the 
primary system to the group reporting software.

The internal financial reporting is made on a monthly basis, with 
the financial information of the subsidiaries being reviewed and 
analyzed at the group level by the Group Accounting department. 
The monthly budget/actual variance with corresponding com-
ments on the plant results as well as the group result is reported 
internally to the executives of the Group and to the members of 
the Supervisory Board. At the end of the quarter, detailed report-
ing packages with all relevant accounting data on income state-
ment, balance sheet, cash flow statement and the disclosures 
in the notes are submitted. These reporting packages form the 
basis for the external quarterly interim reporting and the annual 
reporting of the AT&S Group in accordance with IFRS.

The annual preparation of the budget is made by the Group Con-
trolling department, which also reports to the Chief Financial 
Officer. Based on the quarterly results and current planning in-
formation, quarterly forecasts are drawn up during the year for 
the remaining financial year. The forecasts with comments on 
the budget comparison and presentations on the impact of op-
portunities and risks up to the end of the financial year are re-
ported to the Supervisory Board. In addition to regular reporting, 
multiple-year planning, project-related financial information or 
calculations on investment projects are prepared and submitted 
to the Supervisory Board.

Monitoring the entire internal control system, and thus also 
with regard to the accounting system and financial reporting, is 
performed by the process-independent staff unit internal audit, 
which reports to the Chief Financial Officer. The scope of activi-
ties of the internal audit includes all functions and companies of 
the AT&S Group. Awarding audit contracts and dealing with the 
audit results are the responsibilities of the Management Board 
as a whole. The audit contracts are awarded by approval of the 
at least annually prepared audit plan or as a special assignment 
awarded by the Management Board. The audit plan and the re-
sults of the internal audits are reported to the audit committee 
of the Company.
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8. Outlook
Analyses assume that in the financial year 2010 global sales
of the printed circuit board industry will rise by around 9%,
measured in US dollar, in the course of which the market in Asia
will probably grow the most in terms of production as well as
demand, and business in Europe is expected to remain stable.
According to analysts’ forecasts, sales figures of telephones in
the high-end segment are even expected to grow by an average of
20%. A strong increase is also expected for the demand for highly
complex printed circuit boards for other products in the mobile
devices segment and in the industrial and automotive segments.

In order to be able to meet the expected growth in the business 
segments of AT&S, the production capabilities in the AT&S Group 
are expanded and so investments of around EUR 80 million are 
planned for the financial year 2010/11. In China, around EUR 
55 million is invested in the expansion of capabilities for vol-

ume production of HDI printed circuit boards. In India, planned 
investments required for the completion of the second plant 
amount to around EUR 10 million until the autumn of 2010. In 
order to strengthen the Leoben-Hinterberg location as technol-
ogy centre of AT&S and for innovations at the Austrian locations, 
another EUR 10 million has been earmarked.

With the additional capacities, management expects revenues of 
around EUR 435 million for the financial year 2010/11, and thus 
an increase of around 17% over the past year. The profitability in 
the first half-year will still be affected by the capacity expansion. 
Furthermore, due to the great demand, some orders designated 
for the plant in India will temporarily, until the completion of 
the plant, still be manufactured in Leoben-Hinterberg. For the 
entire financial year 2010/11, an EBIT margin of more than 7% 
is expected.

Leoben-Hinterberg, 10 May 2010

The Management Board

Andreas Gerstenmayer m.p.      Steen Ejlskov Hansen m.p. Heinz Moitzi m.p. 
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Statement of 
all Legal Representatives
We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the consolidated 
financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, li-
abilities, financial position and profit or loss of the group as 
required by the applicable accounting standards and that the 

group management report gives a true and fair view of the de-
velopment and performance of the business and the position of 
the group, together with a description of the principal risks and 
uncertainties the group faces.

Leoben-Hinterberg, 10 May 2010

The Management Board

Andreas Gerstenmayer 
Chairman

Steen Ejlskov Hansen
Chief Financial Officer

Heinz Moitzi
Chief Technical Officer
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Auditor’s Report
Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial state-
ments of AT&S Austria Technologie & Systemtechnik Aktienges-
ellschaft, Leoben-Hinterberg, for the financial year from 1 April 
2009 to 31 March 2010. These consolidated financial statements 
comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2010, 
the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, the consolidated cash flow statement 
and the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the finan-
cial year ending 31 March 2010, and the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.  

Management’s�Responsibility�for�the�Consolidated�Financial��
Statements�and�for�the�Accounting�System�
The Company’s management is responsible for the group ac-
counting and for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the 
EU, and with the legal provisions applicable in Austria. This re-
sponsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining 
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and ap-
plying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting 
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s�Responsibility�and�Description�of�Type�and�Scope�of�the�
Statutory�Audit��
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated 
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with laws and regulations applicable in Austria 
and Austrian Standards on Auditing, as well as in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) issued by the 
International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) 
of the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC). Those 
standards require that we comply with professional guidelines 
and that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable as-
surance whether the consolidated financial statements are free 
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evi-
dence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated fi-
nancial statements. The procedures selected depend on the audi-
tor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the audi-
tor considers internal control relevant to the Group’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion
Our audit did not give rise to any objections. In our opinion, which 
is based on the results of our audit, the consolidated financial 
statements comply with legal requirements and give a true and 
fair view of the financial position of the Group as of 31 March 
2010 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
financial year from 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010 in accord-
ance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
as adopted by the EU. 

Comments on the Management Report for the Group
Pursuant to statutory provisions, the management report for the 
Group is to be audited as to whether it is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements and whether the other dis-
closures in the management report for the Group do not give rise 
to a misstatement of the Group’s financial position. The auditor’s 
report also has to contain a statement as to whether the manage-
ment report for the Group is consistent with the consolidated 
financial statements and whether the disclosures pursuant to 
Section 243a UGB are appropriate.

In our opinion, the management report for the Group is consist-
ent with the consolidated financial statements. The disclosures 
pursuant to Section 243a UGB are appropriate.

Vienna, 10 May 2010

PwC Wirtschaftsprüfung GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

signed:
Aslan Milla

Austrian Certified Public Accountant

We draw attention to the fact that the English translation of this auditor’s report is presented for the convenience of the reader only and that the German wording is the only legally 
binding version.
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2.5DTM technology New technology developed by AT&S that incorporates structural cavities into and onto printed 

circuit boards. It can also be used to produce rigid-flex printed circuit boards for flex-to-install 
applications

ATX Prime A Vienna Stock Exchange capital-weighted index comprising all securities traded in the Prime 
Market segment. It is a broadly-based index for all stocks that meet the minimum capitalisation 
requirements and satisfy the stricter disclosure and reporting obligations

CAPEX Capital expenditure 
Cash earnings Shareholders’ interest in net income, plus depreciation, amortisation and impairment, less reversal 

of impairment of non-current assets and assets held for sale
Corporate Governance Code A set of rules for the responsible management and control of business enterprises. Companies 

voluntarily undertake to comply with the principles of the Code.
Corporate social responsibility 
(CSR)

The contribution of a business enterprise to sustainable development, over and above the statu-
tory requirements. CSR should promote responsible corporate behaviour in business activities – 
with respect to the environment, relationships with staff (the workplace), and with other stakehol-
ders and interest groups.

Customer service rate  Number of deliveries shipped on time and meeting customer quantity requirements, as a percent-
age of total deliveries 

EBIT Earnings before interest and tax, operating profit 
EBIT margin EBIT as a percentage of total revenues 
EBITDA Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation 
EBITDA margin EBITDA as a percentage of total revenues
ECP® technology Embedded component packaging technology developed by AT&S in order to embed active and/or 

passive components inside PCBs 
® registered trade mark AT 255868

Embedding Integrating active and passive electronic components inside printed circuit boards
EPS Earnings per share 
EVA Economic value added 
Financial covenants With financing (loans and advances), the undertaking not to exceed certain financial ratios
Flex-to-install Printed circuit boards that can be bent for the purposes of installation (e.g. in a housing)
Foundry Services Trading in the printed circuit boards of partner companies. These activities were discontinued at 

the end of the 2008/09 financial year due to the inadequate earnings potential relative to the risks 
involved.

Global player Globally active business enterprise 
GPS Global positioning system (global navigation satellite system)
HDI printed circuit boards Printed circuit boards with structures smaller than 100 micrometers (0.1 mm) – high density inter-

connection 
Hedging Financial transactions providing protection against risks such as exchange rate fluctuations 
High-end segment Technologically demanding market segment: attractive to AT&S, as a technology leader 
IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards
ISIN Alpha-numerical securities identification number (international securities identification number)
ISO International Organization for Standardization
ISO 14001 Environmental management standard
ISO 9001 Quality management standard
ISO/TS 16949 Technical interpretation of ISO 2000 reflecting the requirements of international automotive ma-

nufacturers
Just-in-time production Production synchronised with demand
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Mobile Devices AT&S business segment that includes mobile telephones, PDAs, portable music players and digital 
cameras

Multilayer Multilayer printed circuit boards
Net CAPEX Capital expenditure net of receipts from the disposal of property, plant and equipment and intan-

gible assets
Net debt Financial liabilities less cash and cash equivalents and financial assets 
Net gearing Net debt / equity 
NucleuS® Technology for series production of individual printed circuit boards that makes optimal use of 

the production format. The printed circuit boards are only connected to their frames immediately 
before being shipped to subcontract assemblers for population.
® registered trade mark AT 255767

OHSAS 18001 Occupational Health and Safety Assessment Series 
One-stop shopping Enabling customers to source multiple solutions from one location 
ÖCGK Austrian Corporate Governance Code (Österreichischer Corporate Governance Kodex)
PCB Printed circuit board
PDA Small, portable computer (personal digital assistant)
Prime Market Stocks admitted to trading on the Vienna Stock Exchange on the Official Market or the Semi-Of-

ficial Market and subject to additional, more stringent requirements
R&D Research and development
Return on equity (ROE) Shareholders’ interest in net income + (shareholders’ equity at the begin of the financial year + 

shareholders’ equity at the end of the financial year) / 2
ROCE Return on capital employed: a measure of how effectively and profitably a company uses its capi-

tal 
(EBIT – taxes on income) / (net debt + shareholders interests in equity of parent company) 

Sale and lease back Special form of leasing: an enterprise sells property or a movable asset to a leasing company and 
leases it back for use in the business 

SAP One of the world’s largest software producers (systems analysis and program development) 
Smartphone Combines the advantages of a mobile telephone with those of a PDA 
Stock options Options to purchase shares
TecDAX Specialised Frankfurt Stock Exchange stock index of medium-sized companies in technology sec-

tors: 30 stocks from the Prime Standard segment of the Regulated Market
Trading see “Foundry Services” 
VDA German Association of the Automotive Industry (Deutscher Verband der Automobilindustrie)
VdL German Printed Circuit Board Association (Deutscher Verband der Leiterplattenindustrie)
Vendor managed ventory AT&S assumes responsibility for the logistics and storage for products and ensures that agreed 

maximum and minimum inventory levels are maintained 
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